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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 13, 2008
(13)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met at 4:10 p.m., this day, in room 9, Victoria
Building, the chair, the Honourable W. David Angus, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Eyton, Goldstein, Harb, Jaffer, Massicotte, Meighen,
Moore and Tkachuk (9).

In attendance: June Dewetering and Philippe Bergevin,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Services,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, November 20, 2007, the committee continued its study
of the present state of the domestic and international financial
system. (For complete text of the order of reference, see proceedings
of the committee, Issue No. 3.)

WITNESSES:
Canadian Federation of Students:

Ian Boyko, Government Relations Coordinator.
International Insolvency Institute:

Bruce Leonard, Chair;

David Ward, Counsel.

Canadian Association of Insolvency and Restructuring
Professionals:

Alan H. Spergel, Chair;

Guylaine Houle, Bankruptcy Trustee, Pierre Roy and
Associates Inc..

Mr. Boyko made a statement and answered questions.
At 5:01 p.m., the committee suspended.
At 5:04 p.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Leonard and Mr. Ward each made a statement and
answered questions.

At 5:40 p.m., the committee suspended.
At 5:41 p.m., the committee resumed.

The Honourable Senator Goldstein noted for the record that
he is a member of the International Insolvency Institute,
which was god-fathered and fathered by Bruce Leonard, who
was also the god-father and father of the international model
law on which he is going to speak.

Mr. Spergel and Mrs. Houle each made a statement and
answered questions.

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le mercredi 13 février 2008
(13)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui, a 16 h 10, dans la salle 9 de I’édifice
Victoria, sous la présidence de I’honorable W. David Angus
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs Angus,
Eyton, Goldstein, Harb, Jaffer, Massicotte, Meighen, Moore et
Tkachuk (9).

Egalement présents : June Dewetering et Philippe Bergevin,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mardi 20 novembre 2007, le comité poursuit son étude de la
situation actuelle du régime financier canadien et international.
(Le texte complet de 'ordre de renvoi figure au fascicule n® 3 des
délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
Fédeération canadienne des étudiantes et étudiants :

Ian Boyko, coordonnateur des relations gouvernementales.
Institut international d’insolvabilité :

Bruce Leonard, président;

David Ward, avocat.

Association canadienne des professionnels de l'insolvabilité et de la
réorganisation :

Alan H. Spergel, président;

Guylaine Houle, syndic en matiere de faillites, Pierre Roy et
associés inc.

M. Boyko fait une déclaration puis répond aux questions.
A 17 h 1, la séance est interrompue.
A 17 h 4, la séance reprend.

MM. Leonard et Ward font chacun une déclaration puis
répondent aux questions.

A 17 h 40, la séance est interrompue.
A 17 h 41, la séance reprend.

L’honorable sénateur Goldstein précise qu’il est membre de
I'Institut international d’insolvabilité, qui a été créé et parrainé
par Bruce Leonard, qui est aussi le parrain de la loi-type
internationale dont il va parler.

M. Spergel et Mme Houle font chacun une déclaration puis
répondent aux questions.
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At 6:15 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of

the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 14, 2008
(14)
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met at 10:50 a.m., this day, in room 9, Victoria
Building, the chair, the Honourable W. David Angus, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Eyton, Goldstein, Harb, Jaffer, Massicotte, Meighen,
Moore and Tkachuk (9).

In attendance: June Dewetering and Philippe Bergevin,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Services,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, November 20, 2007, the committee continued its study
of the present state of the domestic and international financial
system. (For complete text of the order of reference, see proceedings
of the committee, Issue No. 3.)

WITNESSES:
Conference for Advanced Life Underwriting:
Paul Bourbonniere, Chair;
Brian Henley, Vice-Chair, Government Relations.
Koskie Minsky LLP:
Andrew J. Hatnay, Counsel.
As individuals:
Jacob S. Ziegel, Professor Emeritus, University of Toronto;
Anthony Duggan, Professor, University of Toronto.

Mr. Bourbonniere made a statement and, together with the
other witness, answered questions.

At 11:22 a.m., the committee suspended.

At 11:25 a.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Hatnay made a statement and answered questions.
At 12:12 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 12:16 p.m., the committee resumed.

Professor Ziegel and Professor Duggan each made a statement
and answered questions.

A 18 h 15, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le jeudi 14 février 2008
(14)
[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui, a 10 h 50, dans la salle 9 de I’édifice
Victoria, sous la présidence de I’honorable W. David Angus
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs Angus,
Eyton, Goldstein, Harb, Jaffer, Massicotte, Meighen, Moore et
Tkachuk (9).

Egalement présents : June Dewetering et Philippe Bergevin,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a 'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mardi 20 novembre 2007, le comité poursuit son étude de la
situation actuelle du régime financier canadien et international.
(Le texte complet de 'ordre de renvoi figure au fascicule n® 3 des
délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
Conference for Advance Life Underwriting :
Paul Bourbonniere, président;
Brian Henley, vice-président, Relations gouvernementales.
Koskie Minsky LLP :
Andrew J. Hatnay, avocat.
A titre personnel :
Jacob S. Ziegel, professeur émérite, Université de Toronto;
Anthony Duggan, professeur, Université de Toronto.

M. Bourbonniere fait une déclaration puis, aidé des autres
témoins, répond aux questions.

A 11 h 22, la séance est interrompue.

A 11 h 25, la séance reprend.

M. Hatnay fait une déclaration puis répond aux questions.
A 12 h 12, la séance est interrompue.

A 12 h 16, 1a séance reprend.

Les professeurs Ziegel et Duggan font chacun une déclaration
puis répondent aux questions.
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At 1:10 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of A 13 h 10, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
the chair. convocation de la présidence.
ATTEST: ATTESTE :

La greffiere du comité,
Line Gravel

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 13, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met this day at 4:10 p.m. to examine and report
upon the present state of the domestic and international financial
system. Subject: Bankruptcy and Insolvency

Senator W. David Angus (Chair) in the chair.

[English]

The Chair: Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. I am David
Angus, from Quebec. Senators present this afternoon are deputy
chair, Senator Goldstein, also from Quebec; Senator Meighen
from Ontario; Senator Tkachuk from Saskatoon, Saskatchewan;
Senator Jaffer, our newest member, from British Columbia; and
Senator Harb from Ontario.

We continue our study today on the new regime of bankruptcy
and insolvency law. The bills have passed through the Senate and
are awaiting implementation. We are conducting an ongoing
review on framework legislation. The purpose of this study is to
hear commentary from the stakeholders on the laws I referred to,
and any other elements of our bankruptcy legislation.

We have already heard witnesses on this study, and today
we have three sets of witnesses. | welcome everyone in the room.
In addition to our witnesses, I see representatives of government
and other organizations.

Our hearing is televised nationally on CPAC and is webcast on
the Internet. Welcome to all viewers.

Our first witness is Ian Boyko, from the Canadian Federation
of Students. Following Mr. Boyko, we will hear from The
International Insolvency Institute and the Canadian Association
of Insolvency and Restructuring Professionals.

Before Mr. Boyko makes his presentation, I ask Christiane
Leclerc of Human Resources and Social Development Canada
to note what I am about to say. Confusion exists among
stakeholders, members of this committee and many other
people as to when this complex legislation will come into
force, what is currently in force, et cetera.

I asked the Library of Parliament and Industry Canada for an
explanation of what legislation is currently in force and what is
not. I will read into the record the information I received. At the
same time, I do not think it answers clearly enough what the
stakeholders need to know.

I recognize how complex the wording is in Chapter 47 and
Bill C-12. We are advised that some of Bill C-12’s transitional
provisions came into force at Royal Assent, which occurred on

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA le mercredi 13 février 2008

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui a 16 h 10 afin d’examiner la situation
actuelle du régime financier canadien et international et d’en faire
rapport. Sujet : faillite et insolvabilité.

Le sénateur W. David Angus (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président : La séance est ouverte. Mesdames et messieurs,
bonjour. Je suis le sénateur David Angus, du Québec. Nous avons
aussi cet aprés-midi le sénateur Goldstein, également du Québec,
qui est vice-président du comité; le sénateur Meighen, de
I’Ontario; le sénateur Tkachuk, de Saskatoon, en Saskatchewan;
Mme le sénateur Jaffer, de la Colombie-Britannique, la plus
récente membre du comité; et le sénateur Harb, de ’Ontario.

Nous poursuivons aujourd’hui notre étude du nouveau régime
juridique sur la faillite et Iinsolvabilité. Les projets de loi
pertinents ont été adoptés par le Sénat et attendent d’étre mis
en ceuvre. Cette étude vise a entendre les avis des intervenants sur
les lois auxquelles j’ai fait allusion, et sur tout autre élément
pertinent de notre législation en matiére de faillites.

Nous avons déja entendu un certain nombre de témoins
dans le cadre de notre étude, et aujourd’hui, nous accueillons
trois groupes de témoins. Je souhaite la bienvenue a tous ceux ici
présents. Outre nos témoins, je vois dans la salle des représentants
du gouvernement et de divers organismes.

Notre audience est télévisée dans tout le pays a la chaine
parlementaire CPAC et est aussi diffusée sur Internet. Bienvenue
a tous les téléspectateurs et auditeurs.

Notre premier témoin est Ian Boyko, de la Fédération
canadienne des étudiantes et étudiants; il sera suivi des
représentants du International Insolvency Institute et de
I’Association canadienne des professionnels de I'insolvabilité et
de la réorganisation.

Avant que M. Boyko ne fasse sa déclaration préliminaire, je
demanderais a Christiane Leclerc, de Ressources humaines et
Développement social Canada, de prendre note de ce que je vais
maintenant dire. Une certaine confusion régne parmi les
intervenants, les membres du comité et de nombreuses autres
personnes a I’égard de la date d’entrée en vigueur de cette
législation complexe ainsi qu’a I’égard des parties de celle-ci qui
sont déja en vigueur.

Jai demandé a la Bibliothéque du Parlement ainsi qu’a
Industrie Canada de nous expliquer exactement ce qu’il en est.
Je ferai lecture de l'information qui m’a été transmise pour
le compte rendu. A mon avis, elle n’est cependant pas assez
claire.

Je reconnais la complexité du libellé des dispositions du
Chapitre 47 et du projet de loi C-12. On nous informe que
certaines des dispositions transitoires du projet de loi C-12 sont
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December 14, 2007. We want to know which provisions came
into force, and why only some provisions came into force then
and not others.

Most of Chapter 47, which was the former Bill C-55, which
the Senate amended and passed two years ago, will come
into force on days to be fixed by the Governor-in-Council,
which is fine, and which will likely occur within 6 to 12 months
of the date of Royal Assent. That is 6 to 12 months from
December 14, 2007, and I do not think that timeline is good
enough. I am sure honourable senators agree. People are
wondering whether the new bankruptcy law is in force. Are we
under the old Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, BIA, or the old
Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, CCAA? 1 know that
lawyers would understand, but it is not clear.

I am told that the government will use these months to set
up the wage earner protection program, WEPP, with a focus on
such activities as program design, infrastructure development,
staff training and preparation of the WEPP Act regulations.

I am curious as to why this work was not done before the bill
came to us. The Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy,
which is responsible for regulations under the BIA and the
CCAA, will also use these months to complete consultations on
regulations and to prepare forms and update computer systems to
undertake the new role with respect to supervising the CCAA
proceedings.

I want this information on the record. People consult our
website, look at our transcripts and watch the proceedings on the
webcast and on TV. The stakeholders deserve to know what parts
of the act are in effect and what are not.

We need more clarity on this, Ms. Leclerc. You will be
inundated with phone calls and emails in any event.

The deputy chair said he believes there is an internal
governmental list of what is and is not in force. We need to
know that information; we need clarity.

That list or something better will be supplied. I do not want
anything cryptic.

Senator Harb: In fairness, Ms. Leclerc is not sitting here.

The Chair: That is why I am hesitant.

Senator Harb: If we want information, and I agree we should
have it, [ suggest that you write to the department on behalf of the
committee and ask all those questions so we can have proper
answers.

entrées en vigueur lors de la sanction royale, soit le 14 décembre
2007. Nous voudrions savoir quelles dispositions exactes sont
entrées en vigueur, et ce qui explique l’entrée en vigueur de
quelques dispositions seulement au moment de la sanction royale.

La majeure partie du Chapitre 47, I’ancien projet de
loi C-55, que le Sénat a amendé et adopté il y a deux ans,
entrera en vigueur a la date que fixera le gouverneur en conseil —
ce qui est trés bien —, c’est-a-dire dans les six a 12 mois suivant
la date de la sanction royale, survenue, elle, le 14 décembre 2007,
ce que je trouve inacceptable. Je suis convaincu que mes
collegues partagent mon avis. Les gens se demandent si la
nouvelle législation sur la faillite est en vigueur. Les anciennes
Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité et Loi sur les arrangements
avec les créanciers des compagnies s’appliquent-elles toujours?
Je sais que les avocats eux le savent, mais ce n’est pas clair pour
le reste d’entre nous.

On me dit que le gouvernement emploiera ces mois a
mettre sur pied le Programme de protection des salariés (PPS).
Il s’agira notamment de concevoir le programme, de créer une
infrastructure, de former le personnel et de préparer le réglement
découlant de la loi.

Je me demande pourquoi tout cela n’a pas été fait avant que le
projet de loi nous soit renvoyé. Le Bureau du surintendant des
faillites, qui est chargé de I'application des réglements pris en
vertu de la LFI et de la LACC, emploiera également ce temps a
achever les consultations sur le nouveau réglement, a préparer les
formulaires et a mettre a niveau les systémes informatiques, ce qui
lui permettra ensuite de jouer son nouveau role de surveillance des
procédures prévues dans la LACC.

Je veux que cette information figure au compte rendu. Les
gens consultent notre site Web, lisent la transcription de nos
délibérations et suivent nos séances sur Internet et a la télévision.
Les intervenants méritent de connaitre les parties de la loi qui sont
en vigueur et celles qui ne le sont toujours pas.

Il faut que la situation soit plus claire, madame Leclerc. Nous
serons de toute fagon inondés d’appels téléphoniques et de
courriels.

Le vice-président dit croire que le gouvernement a établi une
liste interne précisant les parties de la loi qui sont en vigueur et
celles qui ne le sont pas. Il nous faut cette information. La
situation doit étre clarifiée.

Je demande que cette liste, ou qu’une meilleure liste, nous soit
fournie. Je veux que tout soit parfaitement clair.

Le sénateur Harb : Je vous signale que Mme Leclerc n’est pas
ici en ce moment.

Le président : Voila pourquoi j’hésite a faire cette demande.

Le sénateur Harb : Si nous voulons cette information — et je
conviens que nous devrions ’avoir —, je pense que vous devriez
écrire au ministére au nom du comité et poser toutes les questions
auxquelles vous voulez obtenir réponse.
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The Chair: The fact that it is on the record and in the transcript
is probably sufficient. We have asked for the information already.
I am not being critical of the department, but I am stating what
I think is obvious. Because of the complexity of the legislation,
we need more clarity.

Senator Goldstein: By way of clarification for members of
the committee, the documentation that I distributed last week
indicates beside each amendment whether the amendment is in
force or not. At least, the members of the committee have that
information available to them and can follow the discussions
accordingly.

It would be useful if the information were tabled publicly.
Senator Harb’s suggestion is a good one.

The Chair: Senator Goldstein, I do not want to prolong this
discussion, but you refer to a document that I understand you or
someone on your behalf prepared.

Senator Goldstein: Yes, it was someone on my behalf.
The Chair: Therefore the document is unofficial.
Senator Goldstein: Yes, it is unofficial.

The Chair: However, the document is a useful consolidation of
these new laws. Senators have this document, but I reiterate my
request for something along those lines from official sources.

Mr. Boyko, please proceed with your presentation.

Ian Boyko, Government Relations Coordinator, Canadian
Federation of Students: Good afternoon. Our federation unites
more than 80 student unions from coast to coast. In addition
to our current members, who will one day be graduates and
repaying their loan, by virtue of our profile we take dozens of
calls a month from student debtors who have nowhere to turn
and have no idea what they should do in terms of bringing
their loans back into good standing. We, de facto, are often a call
centre for those people experiencing difficulty in repaying their
loans.

I know this committee is familiar with the act. By way
of background, senators probably recall that the current ten-
and now seven-year bankruptcy prohibition was increased
from 2 years to 10 years in 1998, with no consultation leading
up to Budget 1998. While it is unfair to say there was no
consultation in the change to seven years, we probably all agree
that the process was a bit rushed.

The Chair: What specific time are you talking about?

Mr. Boyko: Prior to 1997, there was no explicit prohibition on
student loan holders declaring bankruptcy on Canada student
loans. In 1997, we participated in widespread consultations that
were held, and in Budget 1997, a two-year prohibition on
clarifying student loan bankruptcy was introduced.

Le président : Comme j’ai fait cette demande en séance
publique, je crois que la transcription de nos délibérations
suffira. Nous avons d’ailleurs déja réclamé cette information. Je
n’adresse aucun reproche au ministére, mais je ne fais qu’énoncer
ce qui me semble évident. Vu la complexité de la 1égislation, il
nous faut une information plus claire.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Je signale pour la gouverne des
membres du comité que le document que j'ai distribué la
semaine derniére indique, en regard de chaque amendement, si
I’amendement est en vigueur ou non. Les membres du comité a
tout le moins possédent cette information qui leur permettra de
suivre les discussions.

Il serait utile que cette information soit déposée devant le
comité. La suggestion que vient de faire le sénateur Harb est
bonne.

Le président : Sénateur Goldstein, je ne veux pas prolonger
cette discussion, mais vous faites allusion a un document qui, si je
ne m’abuse, a été préparé par vous-méme ou qu’on a préparé en
votre nom.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Oui, on I’a préparé en mon nom.
Le président : Il s’agit donc d’un document non officiel.
Le sénateur Goldstein : C’est juste.

Le président : Le document est cependant une consolidation
utile des nouvelles lois. Les sénateurs ont déja ce document, mais
je réitére ma demande, qui est que nous obtenions un document
semblable de sources officielles.

Monsieur Boyko, veillez faire votre déclaration préliminaire.

Ian Boyko, coordonnateur des relations gouvernementales,
Fédération canadienne des étudiantes et étudiants : Bonjour.
Notre fédération est un regroupement de plus de 80 syndicats
étudiants répartis dans tout le pays. En raison de notre mandat,
outre les demandes de renseignements que nous recevons de nos
membres, qui un jour seront des diplomés qui rembourseront
leurs préts, nous répondons aussi chaque mois a des dizaines
d’appels provenant de débiteurs étudiants qui ne savent vers qui
se tourner pour obtenir de I’aide, ni que faire pour que leurs préts
redeviennent en régle. C’est a nous que s’adressent souvent ceux
qui ont de la difficulté a rembourser leurs préts.

Je sais que le comité connait bien la loi. Permettez-moi
cependant de replacer les choses dans leur contexte. Les sénateurs
se souviendront sans doute du fait que I'interdiction de faillite,
actuellement de 10 ans, interdiction qu’on propose maintenant de
ramener a sept ans, a été portée, sans aucune consultation, de
deux a 10 ans dans le budget de 1998. Nous conviendrions sans
doute tous a cet égard que le processus a été pour ainsi dire baclé.

Le président : De quelle période parlez-vous exactement?

M. Boyko : Avant 1997, il n’existait aucune interdiction de
faillite expresse a I’égard des préts d’études. En 1997, nous avons
participé aux consultations étendues qui ont été tenues. Le budget
de 1997 a introduit une interdiction de faillite de deux ans a
I’égard des préts d’études.
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A year later, with no notice and no consultations, that
prohibition was increased five-fold from 2 years to 10 years. In
the following months and years when we met with MPs and
senators, few of even the government MPs knew that increased
prohibition was contained within the enabling legislation for
Budget 1998.

Speculation exists that this legislation from the mid- and late
1990s was enacted at least in part at the behest of the big banks
that were the lenders in the Canada Student Loans Program
between 1995 and 2000. A couple of other pieces of arguably
regressive legislation were introduced also during that time,
supposedly to protect the banks’ investment in our social
program. The five-fold increase to the already controversial
two-year prohibition was hidden in the 1998 budget. Since that
time, the ten-year prohibition has been widely criticized by
committees of both the House of Commons and the Senate,
and widely panned by most insolvency experts. Even the most
recent reduction to seven years was given a grade of D by
a witness that the committee heard from earlier this month
from Hoyes, Michalos & Associates Inc. In terms of the current
landscape for student loans and post-secondary education, the
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, or the big bank appeasement
act of 1998, came during the 1990s when tuition increase in
most provinces by double-digit percentages. That increase was
mostly as a result of the federal funding cuts to the Canada
Health and Social Transfer in the 1990s. Student debt has more
than doubled in real dollars since 1990, and there is little reason
to suspect that it will plateau any time soon because it is still on
the increase. Further to that situation, the staggering interest
rates that the Government of Canada charges on student loans
exacerbated the sky-rocketing student debt.

For example, a student loan of $25,000 over an amortization
of 10 years, will lead to interest payments of approximately
$12,000 by the time the loan is paid back. The interest equates
to about 49 per cent of the value of the original loan after
graduation. If someone struggling with that loan negotiates an
extension to their amortization period from 10 years to 15 years,
that extension will result, at current interest rates, in interest
payments of about $19,000, or about 77 per cent of the value of
the initial loan.

Despite the staggering costs associated with financing
post-secondary education, student loan bankruptcy has never
been an epidemic in this country. In fact, the opposite is
probably more accurate. Many students and their families have
undergone significant misery to avoid default or bankruptcy.
Leading up to the 1998 amendments to the law, only 2 per cent
of all the value of consumer bankruptcies were attributed to
student loans. Furthermore, student loan repayment rates are
vastly superior to those given out to corporations on behalf
of the federal government — in the area of 93 per cent on
student loans versus a repayment rate of about 15 per cent
on corporate loans from the federal government.

Un an plus tard, sans avis ni consultation, cette période a été
portée de deux a 10 ans. Dans les mois et les années qui ont suivi,
nous avons constaté chaque fois que nous rencontrions des
députés et des sénateurs que peu d’entre eux, pas méme les
députés ministériels, étaient au courant du fait que le budget de
1998 avait relevé la durée de l'interdiction de faillite.

Certains alléguent que cette loi, datant du milieu et de la fin des
années 90, a été adoptée, du moins en partie, a la demande des
grandes banques qui, de 1995 a 2000, étaient les bailleurs de fonds
du Programme canadien de préts aux étudiants. Quelques autres
projets de loi qu’on peut qualifier de rétrogrades ont aussi été
présentés pendant cette période, supposément pour protéger
les investissements des banques dans ce programme social. La
mesure quintuplant l'interdiction de faillite, alors de deux ans,
a été enfouie dans le budget de 1998. Depuis lors, la mesure a été
largement décriée par des comités de la Chambre des communes
et du Sénat ainsi que par la plupart des spécialistes en
insolvabilité. La durée de I'interdiction de faillite a été ramenée
derniérement a sept ans, ce qui n’a pas empéché un témoin
appartenant au cabinet Hoyes, Michalos et Associés que le
comité a entendu plus tot ce mois-ci, d’accorder la note D a ce
changement. Vu le contexte actuel de I'endettement étudiant
et du débat sur 1’éducation publique, il ne faudrait pas oublier
que la Loi sur la faillite ou I'insolvabilit¢t — ou la Grande
mesure de 1998 en vue d’apaiser les grandes banques — a été
adoptée dans les années 90, au moment méme ou le pourcentage
d’augmentation des frais de scolarité franchissait le cap des
deux chiffres dans la plupart des provinces. Cette augmentation a
surtout été attribuable a la réduction par le gouvernement fédéral
dans les années 90 du Transfert canadien en matiére de santé
et de programmes sociaux. Depuis 1990, le niveau d’endettement
des étudiants a doublé en dollars réels, et rien n’indique qu’il
plafonnera sous peu. Par ailleurs, les taux d’intérét trés élevés
que le gouvernement du Canada impose sur les préts d’études
exacerbent le probléme de I’endettement étudiant.

Prenons I’exemple d’un prét d’études de 25000 $ dont la
période d’amortissement est de 10 ans. A la fin de cette période,
le détenteur du prét aura remboursé environ 12 000 $, ce qui
représente 49 p. 100 de la valeur du prét initial. Si le détenteur
du prét a du mal a rembourser cette somme et demande a ce que
la période d’amortissement soit portée de 10 a 15 ans, il paiera
19 000 $ en intéréts, ce qui représente environ 77 p. 100 de la
valeur du prét initial.

Malgré le coflit exorbitant des études postsecondaires,
il n’y a jamais eu d’épidémie de faillites chez les détenteurs
de préts d’études. En fait, c’est plutot le contraire. Nombre
d’étudiants et leurs familles n’ont ménagé aucun effort pour
éviter d’avoir a suspendre leurs paiements de remboursement ou
de déclarer faillite. Avant que la loi ne soit modifiée en 1998,
seulement 2 p. 100 de la valeur des faillites de consommateurs
étaient attribuables a des préts d’études. Qui plus est, les taux
de remboursement des préts d’études sont largement supérieurs
a ceux des sociétés qui bénéficient de préts du gouvernement
fédéral, soit 93 p. 100 contre 15 p. 100.
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Government officials who testified before this committee in
November referred the committee to programs called, Interest
Relief and Debt Reduction in Repayment. Interest Relief is a
federal program applied only to the federal portion of the
federal-provincial student loan that relieves loan payments for
six-month intervals renewable up to 54 months. Interest Relief
is not automatic and is only dispersed to eligible borrowers
who apply successfully. Interest Relief, perhaps not dissimilar
from other programs, is attractive on paper but is not
properly applied or promoted to populations in need. A study
conducted by Gerry Situ at Statistics Canada in August 2006
revealed a 16 per cent utilization rate of Interest Relief, less
than 45 per cent of eligible student debtors. Since 2000, over
86,000 applications for Interest Relief were rejected by the
federal government.

The other program referenced by government officials
at the November 29 meeting — Debt Reduction in Repayment,
DRR — has an even worse uptake rate than Interest Relief.
DRR forgives a portion of the Canada Student Loan after
54 months of Interest Relief has been exhausted but, like
Interest Relief, Debt Reduction in Repayment is not
automatic. It is dispersed only to eligible borrowers who apply
successfully.

When DRR was first introduced in 1998, the government
promised that 12,000 students would benefit from the program
each year. The latest available data from annual reports
of the Canada Student Loans Program shows that fewer than
2,000 students per year benefitted from Debt Reduction in
Repayment in 2003.

Most experts in the bankruptcy and insolvency field peg a
reasonable debt-to-earnings ratio in terms of repayment at
about 12 per cent. To qualify for Interest Relief and Debt
Reduction in Repayment, we estimate that the ratio must be
closer to 30 per cent of net earnings that are dedicated to debt
repayment.

This committee also heard in previous testimony that
people who declare bankruptcy involving student loans tend
to be younger, disproportionately female and have lower
incomes than the average consumer bankruptcy applicant.
If that picture is the landscape, I want to review with the
committee what our organization views as the flaws in the
current government’s approach to student loan repayment
and bankruptcy legislation.

The debt management programs — Interest Relief and Debt
Reduction in Repayment — are for those people experiencing
difficulty in making their monthly payments. Some of the data
suggests that the program does not even do that. The
fundamental misunderstanding is that those debt management
measures are one thing but the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act is
supposed to be targeted at a much smaller and more desperate

Les représentants du gouvernement qui ont témoigné
devant le comité en novembre ont fait mention de programmes
fédéraux : I'exemption d’intéréts et la réduction de la dette
en cours de remboursement. L’exemption d’intéréts est un
programme qui ne s’applique qu’a la portion fédérale du prét
d’études fédéral-provincial. Dans le cadre de ce programme, les
paiements de remboursement sont suspendus pendant des
intervalles de six mois renouvelables jusqu’a concurrence de 54
mois. L’exemption d’intéréts n’est pas automatique. Elle n’est
accordée qu’aux emprunteurs admissibles dont la demande est
acceptée. L’exemption d’intéréts, qui ne différe peut-étre pas de
certains autres programmes, n’est intéressante qu’en théorie,
car elle n’est ni appliquée convenablement, ni promue aupres des
populations qui en ont besoin. Une étude réalisée par Gerry Situ a
Statistique Canada en aott 2006 fait état d’un taux d’utilisation
de 16 p. 100, ce qui signifie que moins de 45 p. 100 des étudiants
emprunteurs y sont admissibles. Depuis 2000, 86 000 demandes
d’exemption d’intéréts ont été rejetées.

L’autre programme, la réduction de la dette en cours de
remboursement, dont ont fait mention les représentants du
gouvernement le 29 novembre, est encore moins utilis¢é que
I’exemption d’intéréts. Ce programme prévoit la remise d’une
partie du prét d’études canadien a l’expiration des 54 mois
d’exemption d’intéréts. La réduction de la dette en cours
de remboursement n’est pas automatique; elle est accordée
uniquement aux emprunteurs admissibles dont la demande est
acceptée.

En 1998, quand la réduction de la dette en cours de
remboursement a été instaurée, le gouvernement avait promis
que 12 000 étudiants en bénéficieraient chaque année. Les
données les plus récentes provenant des rapports annuels du
Programme canadien de préts aux étudiants montrent que la
réduction a été accordée a moins de 2 000 étudiants emprunteurs
en 2003.

La plupart des spécialistes du domaine des faillites et
de l'insolvabilité estiment que 12 p. 100 est un rapport de
dette-revenu raisonnable. Pour étre admissible a la réduction
de la dette en cours de remboursement, nous estimons qu’un
emprunteur doit plutot affecter 30 p. 100 de son revenu au
remboursement de son prét d’études.

D’autres témoins ont aussi appris au comité que par rapport au
consommateur moyen présentant une demande de faillite, les
débiteurs étudiants ont tendance a étre jeunes, a étre des femmes
et a avoir un revenu faible. Dans ce contexte, j’aimerais faire part
au comité des réserves que notre organisme entretient a I’égard de
I’approche actuelle du gouvernement quant au remboursement
des préts d’études et a I’égard également de la législation en
matiére de faillites.

Les programmes de gestion de la dette — I’exemption d’intéréts
et la réduction de la dette en cours de remboursement —
s’adressent aux personnes qui ont de la difficulté a faire leurs
remboursements chaque mois. Une partie des données dont nous
disposons montrent que ces programmes n’atteignent méme pas
cet objectif. Le malentendu fondamental qui existe, c’est que
ces mesures de gestion de la dette ont un but précis, mais la
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minority of students than simply those who are having difficulty
making their monthly payment. This tiny and desperate minority
of student debtors are those who have no reasonable expectation
that they will ever be able to take control of their debt. Frankly,
few people will be happy with the option of ruining their credit
rating for several years to escape their student loan. This option is
strictly a last resort.

At previous committee meetings, Senator Goldstein stated
that, based on his extensive experience in the field, the court
system is well-equipped to prevent student loan bankruptcy fraud.
There is no utility in having the federal government trying to
eliminate student loan bankruptcy fraud by implementing a
prohibition that affects all students, not only those who
intend to commit fraud. A clear alternative exists for the
federal government, and that is our recommendation: Lift any
ban on student loan bankruptcy. Senators will recall that we
went 33 years in the Canada Student Loans Program without
a student loan bankruptcy prohibition, from 1964 to 1977.
Nothing is tangibly different about today’s students except
the debt they carry as a result of federal and provincial
decision-making. They carry substantially more loans than
their predecessors carried. The federal government must take
more responsibility for creating thousands more honest and
unfortunate debtors. Federal divestment from post-secondary
education has made the current generation the most indebted
young Canadians in our country’s history.

As a compromise to the current legislation, we also support
Senator Goldstein’s private member’s bill, which would reduce
the prohibition to two years, with a hardship hearing available
at any time before that. In addition to the witnesses you have
already heard, there is widespread support for changes to the
Canada Student Loan Bankruptcy prohibition. Senators may
recall, in 2005 more than 100 members in Parliament voted in
favour at second reading of a private member’s bill that proposed
to reduce the prohibition. Douglas Welbanks, former Director of
Debtor Assistance and Debt Collection for the Government of
British Columbia, has written on the issue. I have a couple of
copies with me that can be circulated later. He supports the
elimination of a prohibition, based on his experience. A coalition
has crept up called the Coalition for Student Loan Fairness,
which stands for eliminating the prohibition. Both those
organizations and individuals would make great witnesses for
this committee.

In closing, I draw an analogy made in earlier correspondence
with the committee. Responding to unmanageable student debt
with a bankruptcy prohibition is akin to dealing with a health
epidemic by closing emergency rooms. It penalizes the victims and
ignores the real causes of how we arrived here. We can do better.
Great work has been done by all parties in terms of examining
the student loan bankruptcy prohibition. The time is now when

Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité, pour sa part, est censée cibler
les étudiants beaucoup moins nombreux se trouvant dans une
situation beaucoup plus désespérée. Cette minorité minuscule
et désespérée de débiteurs étudiants se compose de personnes
n’ayant aucun espoir raisonnable de pouvoir rembourser leur
dette. Etant donné les conséquences de longue durée d’une faillite
sur le plan du crédit, on peut comprendre que pour la plupart des
débiteurs étudiants, la faillite demeure une option de dernier
recours.

Lors de réunions précédentes du comité, le sénateur Goldstein
signalait en se fondant sur sa grande expérience dans le domaine,
que l'appareil judiciaire est bien équipé pour empécher les
fraudes en maticre de faillites de la part de détenteurs de préts
d’études, et point n’est besoin que le gouvernement fédéral tente
de se suppléer a l'appareil judiciaire avec linterdiction de
faillite imposée sur les préts d’études de tous les étudiants, et
pas seulement des étudiants qui comptent commettre une fraude.
Un autre choix trés clair s’offre au gouvernement fédéral, un
choix que nous recommandons, a savoir mettre fin a I'interdiction
de faillite visant les préts d’études. Les sénateurs se souviendront
que de 1964 a 1977, soit pendant 33 ans, aucune interdiction de ce
genre ne frappait le Programme canadien de préts aux étudiants.
La situation des étudiants d’aujourd’hui n’a pas sensiblement
changé, sauf que leur niveau d’endettement a augmenté a I’issue
de décisions prises par les gouvernements fédéral et provinciaux.
Les étudiants d’aujourd’hui sont en effet considérablement plus
endettés que leurs prédécesseurs. Le gouvernement fédéral doit
accepter une plus large part de responsabilité dans la mesure ou il
a créé plusieurs milliers de débiteurs honnétes malchanceux de
plus. En raison du retrait du gouvernement fédéral du domaine de
I’enseignement postsecondaire, la génération actuelle d’étudiants
est la plus endettée de toute I’histoire de notre pays.

A titre de compromis, nous appuyons également le projet de loi
d’initiative parlementaire du sénateur Goldstein visant 4 ramener
a deux ans la période d’interdiction de faillite, la tenue d’une
audience pour établir ’existence éventuelle de graves difficultés
étant possible n'importe quand avant. Les changements qui sont
proposés a I’égard de l'interdiction de faillite touchant les préts
d’études fait ’'objet d’un large appui, et pas seulement aupres des
témoins que vous avez déja entendus. Je rappelle aux sénateurs
qu’en 2005, a I’étape de la deuxieme lecture, plus de 100 députés
ont voté en faveur d’un projet de loi d’initiative parlementaire
visant a réduire la durée de cette interdiction. Douglas
Wellbanks, ancien directeur des Services d’aide aux débiteurs
et de recouvrement des créances au gouvernement de la
Colombie-Britannique, est ’auteur d’un article sur le sujet dont
j’ai des exemplaires a I'intention des membres du comité. Tant le
témoignage de la Coalition que celui de M. Wellbanks seraient
utiles au comité.

En terminant, j’aimerais faire une comparaison que je tire d’un
document que j’ai déja fait parvenir au comité. Opposer une
interdiction de faillite & une dette étudiante impossible a gérer
équivaut a fermer des salles d’urgence pour enrayer une épidémie;
on pénalise les victimes et on ferme les yeux sur les causes. Nous
pouvons faire mieux. Tous les partis ont déja beaucoup fait
progresser I'examen de 'interdiction de faillite a I’égard des préts
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ample evidence shows that this law causes misery among the most
desperate and vulnerable members of the student loan debtor
population. I look forward to questions.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Boyko, for the clear and concise
presentation. You represent the Canadian Federation of
Students. As I understand, the federation is an organization
of students. Are you a student?

Mr. Boyko: Not anymore; I am a staff person in our national
office.

The Chair: The federation has a permanent office here in
Ottawa?

Mr. Boyko: That is right. It is not far from here. Our office is
staffed by full-time people like me, and also a large representation
of elected students who leave their studies for a temporary period
of time to serve their members here in Ottawa.

The Chair: How are you financed?

Mr. Boyko: We are financed through membership fees akin to
labour unions.

Senator Massicotte: Thank you for joining us, Mr. Boyko.
We appreciate your coming because we are looking to be
enlightened on this issue.

You referred to the extremely high interest amounts. You also
mentioned quantums. Quantums are better expressed in my
language — about an inch off straight — because if you
take 50 years to pay off the loan, I am sure the quantum will
be higher. What interest rate do they charge for student loans?

Mr. Boyko: At graduation, when students consolidate their
loans, they are presented with two options. They can repay
their student loan at a fixed rate of prime plus 5 per cent and
maintain that same percentage for the entire length of their
repayment. The other option is to choose a floating rate, which
is prime plus 2 and a half per cent. That rate fluctuates with
the market.

Senator Massicotte: [s that the prime rate for the Bank of
Canada or the prime rate of a Canadian chartered bank?

Mr. Boyko: I am not sure, but I believe it is the prime rate
of the Bank of Canada.

Senator Massicotte: That rate is probably close to a typical
prime loan in Canada for a Canadian chartered bank. It is
likely the cheapest rate any corporation could find anywhere
in Canada.

Mr. Boyko: I apologize because I do not know the distinction
between the two. I think the floating repayment rate right now is
8.25 per cent. That is the total. Prime plus 2 and a half per cent is
8.25 per cent or 8.5 per cent.

Senator Massicotte: You gave statistics that student loans
are low risk and, therefore, there is no reason for a special
bankruptcy clause. In other words, student loans should not be

d’études. Des preuves de plus en plus abondantes montrent que
cette loi cause beaucoup de tort aux débiteurs étudiants les plus
désespérés et les plus vulnérables. Je suis maintenant prét a
répondre a vos questions.

Le président : Je vous remercie, monsieur Boyko, de cet exposé
trés clair et concis. Vous représentez la Fédération canadienne
des étudiantes et étudiants. Si je ne m’abuse, la fédération est un
organisme étudiant. Etes-vous étudiant vous-méme?

M. Boyko : Je ne le suis plus. Je suis un employé de notre
bureau national.

Le président : La fédération a-t-elle un bureau permanent ici a
Ottawa?

M. Boyko : Oui. Il est pres d’ici. Le personnel de notre bureau
se compose d’employés a temps plein comme moi et de nombreux
étudiants qui arrétent leurs études temporairement pour servir les
membres de la fédération a Ottawa.

Le président : Comment la fédération est-elle financée?

M. Boyko : Nous sommes financés par les cotisations de nos
membres un peu comme le sont les syndicats ouvriers.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Je vous remercie de vous joindre a
nous, monsieur Boyko. Nous vous sommes reconnaissants d’étre
ici et d’essayer de nous aider a mieux comprendre cette question.

Vous avez parlé d’intéréts extrémement élevés. Vous avez aussi
cité des chiffres. Si 'on met 50 ans a rembourser un prét, il est
évident que le montant total remboursé sera plus élevé que le
montant du prét initial. Quel taux d’intérét portent les préts
d’études?

M. Boyko : Deux choix s’offrent aux étudiants lorsqu’ils
consolident leurs préts a la fin de leurs études. Ils peuvent opter
pour un taux fixe, qui est le taux préférentiel plus 5 p. 100, et
conserver ce taux pendant toute la durée de leur période de
remboursement. Ils peuvent aussi opter pour un taux flottant, qui
est le taux préférentiel plus 2,5 p. 100. Le taux flottant suit le
marché.

Le sénateur Massicotte : S’agit-il du taux préférentiel de la
Banque du Canada ou du taux préférentiel des banques a charte
canadiennes?

M. Boyko : Je n’en suis pas siir, mais je crois que c’est le taux
préférentiel de la Banque du Canada.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Ce taux se rapproche sans doute du
taux préférentiel exigé par les banques a charte canadiennes.
C’est sans doute le taux d’intérét le moins élevé offert aux
entreprises canadiennes.

M. Boyko : Je regrette, mais je ne connais pas la distinction
entre ces deux taux. Je crois que le taux flottant atteint en ce
moment 8,25 p. 100. C’est le taux total. Le taux préférentiel plus
2,5 p. 100 donne un taux de 8,25 p. 100 ou de 8,5 p. 100.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Les statistiques que vous avez données
montrent que les préts d’études présentent peu de risques, et que
par conséquent, il n’est pas nécessaire de prévoir une interdiction
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targeted or pointed at, and should not be deemed any different
than other loans.

Therefore, do you agree that if the risk is low, perhaps
we should go back to the way student loans were many years
ago? In other words, perhaps the Government of Canada
should not have any programs for student loans and students
should go to Canadian chartered banks to seek a normal loan.
Is there a role for government, given the risk is so low?

Mr. Boyko: I think the risk is high, comparatively speaking.
That is the reason the federal government went into the loan
business in the first place: Many students do not have any
collateral or borrowing history to use to assign a private loan.
I think that was the idea behind the federal government entering
the business.

I agree with you: Students should not need to seek loans to
finance their education. It might be financed best by a national
system of needs-based grants.

Senator Massicotte: How to finance education best is obviously
another large debate. Every province has much discretion in
their approach to education. If you presume the existing
system, whereby significant costs in education are borne by
the individual, what action is fair? The government thinks its
public policy role is to assist students by collateralizing their
debt, so to speak, and if you accept that society essentially
subsidizes that student’s future, future income will benefit largely
that individual, as well as the Canadian economy. You gave
us stats, as did witnesses here many years ago, whereby the
banks incurred significant losses in student loans before the
legislation changed.

If you accept that the old system did not work and, for
public policy reasons, the government thought it did not need
to do more and absorb those costs, what action is fair? If a
two-year bankruptcy prohibition did not work and 10 years is
too high, what measure does work? 1 agree that we could
change the entire public policy to subsidize student educations
completely, but if remain with the current system, I ask again:
What action is fair?

Two years and significant losses beyond what the government
wanted to pay does not work. We acknowledge education is a
good economic benefit for the student. What is fair? How do you
manage that issue to ensure people are motivated and interests
are aligned?

de faillite spéciale pour ce genre de dettes. Autrement dit, les préts
d’études devraient étre traités comme n’importe quel autre type
de prét.

Si les préts d’études présentent peu de risques, ne
convenez-vous pas que nous devrions revenir au régime qui
était en vigueur il y a de nombreuses années? Autrement dit,
le gouvernement du Canada devrait peut-étre se retirer du
domaine des préts d’études et les étudiants devraient peut-étre
plutdt obtenir des préts ordinaires auprés des banques a
charte canadiennes. Si ces préts présentent peu de risques, le
gouvernement a-t-il vraiment un réle a jouer dans ce domaine?

M. Boyko : Je crois que les risques sont relativement élevés.
C’est la raison pour laquelle le gouvernement fédéral a créé ce
programme au départ. Nombre d’étudiants n’ont pas de biens
a donner en garantie ou n’ont pas les antécédents de crédit
nécessaires non plus pour obtenir un prét d’études auprés de
sources privées. Je crois que c’est ce qui explique que le
gouvernement fédéral ait commencé au départ a accorder ce
genre de préts.

Je crois comme vous que les étudiants ne devraient pas devoir
emprunter pour financer leurs études. La meilleure fagon de
financer les études serait de créer un systéme national de
subventions fondées sur les besoins.

Le sénateur Massicotte : La meilleure facon de financer
I’éducation pourrait évidemment faire 1’objet d’un autre
important débat. Chaque province jouit d’une grande marge de
manoeuvre a cet égard. Qu’est-ce qui serait juste dans le systéeme
actuel dans le cadre duquel I’étudiant lui-méme assume la majeure
partie du cott de ses études? Le gouvernement pense que son role
est d’aider les étudiants en garantissant leur dette puisque les
étudiants qui poursuivent leurs études gagneront un meilleur
revenu a lavenir, ce qui ne peut qu’étre bon pour 1’économie
canadienne. Comme les témoins que nous avons entendus il y a
plusieurs années, vous nous avez donné des statistiques indiquant
qu’avant la modification de la loi, les banques accusaient
d’importantes pertes a 1’égard des préts d’études.

Si vous reconnaissez que 1’ancien systéme ne fonctionnait pas
et si, pour des raisons de politique publique, le gouvernement a
cru qu’il ne devait pas assumer une part plus importante des frais
d’études, qu’est-ce qui serait juste? Si une période d’interdiction
de faillite de deux ans n’a pas donné le résultat escompté, et
que dix ans c’est trop long, qu’est-ce qui constituerait un bon
compromis? Je conviens que le gouvernement pourrait décider de
complétement subventionner les études au Canada, mais dans le
cadre du systéme actuel, qu’est-ce qui serait juste?

Si nous excluons une période d’interdiction de deux ans et des
pertes au-dela de ce que le gouvernement est prét a accepter,
qu’est-ce qui serait juste? Nous reconnaissons que le fait pour un
étudiant de faire des études présente un avantage économique
pour lui. Comment s’y prendre pour promouvoir les études et
pour protéger les intéréts de chacun?
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Mr. Boyko: The question is somewhat hypothetical. I think
it is fundamentally unfair to ask someone to borrow $25,000 to
$35,000 to finance a public education. The symptom is that
students are pushed into massive loans.

This bankruptcy legislation is about a tiny group of desperate,
honest and unfortunate debtors. They should receive the same
right that other people receive who have a failing business, for
whatever reason, and want to declare bankruptcy on larger
amounts. I think students deserve to have that option available,
as well.

I do not think we should forget that students benefit
individually from their post-secondary education. If there is an
earnings premium — if they earn more in the work force — they
also pay higher income tax. I do not think we should inflate the
investment made in the individual student when the student
probably will be a great contributor to the tax base.

Senator Massicotte: Is your argument that they should not pay
any costs for education at all, although they are the primary
beneficiary? That cost should be a public function. You conclude
there should be no special treatment for student loans. Is that
correct?

Mr. Boyko: I apologize. I am not sure what the question is.
I think public education is a right and we should not erect
financial barriers to public education. A vast majority of students
who pursue post-secondary education will contribute more to
the tax base.

The number of student debtors that this legislation should
be available to is small. There are debt management functions
that, if working, can help students who need that extra bit of
help. We are not talking about students who graduate from
dentistry, walk away with $8,000 in debt and then try to claim
bankruptcy. We are not looking at that target population.
We are looking at those who have incurred a disability, gone
through a divorce or, for whatever reason, have come upon
rough times, and their $20,000, $30,000 or $40,000 student
debt is too much to expect them to pay. They should be able
to go before a judge and make their case.

Bankruptcy is never automatic. Those who appear before a
judge and seek bankruptcy still need to make their case. They
can be denied access to bankruptcy. However, currently, this
legislation prohibits them from going before a judge and making
their case.

Senator Harb: It strikes me from your presentation that, in
essence, you say students should be treated like everyone else
in society. Someone borrows from a bank and their economic
situation changes. As a result, they apply for bankruptcy.
Students should be treated the same way. If that is the case,
have you considered appealing to the Human Rights Commission
based on the fact that you have been discriminated against as a
citizen because of your age?

M. Boyko : Cette question est plutdt hypothétique. Je crois
qu’il est fondamentalement injuste de demander a quelqu’un
d’emprunter entre 25 000 § et 35 000 $§ pour financer ses études.
C’est ce qui améne les étudiants a se retrouver avec des niveaux
d’endettement trés élevés.

La Ilégislation en matiére de faillites vise un groupe de
débiteurs désespérés, honnétes et malchanceux. On devrait
traiter ces débiteurs comme on traite les autres débiteurs qui
connaissent des difficultés et qui demandent qu’on les libére
de leurs dettes. Ce choix devrait aussi étre offert aux étudiants.

Je pense qu’il ne faudrait pas oublier que le fait de poursuivre
des études postsecondaires est avantageux pour les étudiants. S’ils
gagnent un revenu plus élevé une fois qu’ils font partie de la
population active, ils paieront aussi des impo6ts plus élevés. Je ne
pense pas qu’il faille exagérer l'investissement qui est consenti
dans chaque étudiant puisque les étudiants dans leur ensemble
vont ensuite payer des impots plus élevés.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Soutenez-vous que les étudiants ne
devraient pas contribuer au financement de leurs études bien que
ce soient eux qui en profitent le plus? Soutenez-vous que ce
devrait étre le role du secteur public? Vous dites que les préts
d’études devraient étre traités comme tous les autres préts. Vous
ai-je bien compris?

M. Boyko : Je m’excuse, mais je ne saisis pas bien la question.
Je crois que I’éducation publique est un droit et que nous ne
devrions pas opposer des obstacles financiers a 1’exercice de ce
droit. La vaste majorité des étudiants qui poursuivent des études
postsecondaires vont contribuer a élargir I’assiette fiscale.

Le nombre de débiteurs étudiants qui devraient se prévaloir de
cette loi est peu élevé. Il existe des programmes d’allégement de la
dette qui, s’ils sont bien mis en oeuvre, peuvent aider les étudiants
qui connaissent des difficultés temporaires. Il ne s’agit pas ici
d’étudiants en dentisterie qui déclarent faillite aprés avoir
obtenu leur diplome parce qu’ils veulent se débarrasser d’une
dette de 8 000 $. Il ne s’agit pas de cette population-la. Il s’agit
d’étudiants qui sont devenus handicapés, qui ont divorcé ou
qui, pour diverses raisons, ont des difficultés financiéres et ne
peuvent plus rembourser leur dette de 20 000, 30 000 ou 40 000 §.
Ces étudiants-la devraient pouvoir défendre leur cause devant
un juge.

La faillite n’est jamais automatique. C’est le juge qui décide
d’accorder ou non le droit de déclarer faillite. Il peut refuser
ce droit. A I’heure actuelle, les étudiants n’ont pas le droit de
défendre leur cause devant un tribunal.

Le sénateur Harb : Je crois que vous nous avez dit
essentiellement que les étudiants devraient étre traités de la
méme fagon que tous les autres débiteurs. La situation d’une
personne ayant contracté un prét auprés d’une banque peut
changer. Cette personne demandera alors le droit de déclarer
faillite, le cas échéant. Les étudiants devraient étre traités de la
méme fagon. Dans ces circonstances, avez-vous songé a présenter
une plainte a la Commission canadienne des droits de la personne
pour discrimination fondée sur 1’age?
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Mr. Boyko: It is funny you ask that. My organization
launched a Charter challenge to the act on similar grounds
and we were unsuccessful in suggesting that age or status as a
student was analogous to discrimination on age.

The Superior Court of Ontario disagrees with us, but I think
there are probably other grounds under which we would amend
this law.

Senator Harb: To make your case, have you conducted any
studies in terms of the percentage of students who have availed
themselves of bankruptcy at some point? If so, how many
students have used the bankruptcy provision?

Second, has a cost analysis been performed, in terms of the
cost of the bureaucracy to administer student loans, such as the
cost of lawyers that go to the court to defend the government’s
position or represent banks or financial institutions? In the
end, you may find surprisingly positive outcomes that might
bolster your case to push for free post-secondary education,
as is provided in many advanced and developed countries around
the world.

Have any studies of that kind been undertaken?

Mr. Boyko: That sort of information warrants study.
Most of the information we have comes from a time before
the prohibition was introduced. Essentially, when the prohibition
was introduced, most student loan bankruptcies stopped all
together. It is worrisome that we are now, this calendar year,
10 years from 1998. Students incurred that massive debt in the
1990s when tuition fees were doubling. Only now are most
students coming up to the end of the prohibition. I think that
data might come to light.

I know some of your earlier witnesses who deal more directly
with bankruptcy applications have more data. Unfortunately,
most of our data predates this legislation.

Senator Harb: If I were allowed to read your mind —

The Chair: Did you feel you received an answer as to whether
they completed studies?

Senator Harb: He answered “no.”

If T could read your mind, what you want to say is: Your
preference is to repeal this clause altogether; it should not be
part of the legislation at all. Education should be free for
everyone since, as you told Senator Massicotte, students will
be taxed in the end. In other words, there will be net benefit in
any event. Is it your preference for this clause not to be in this
bill at all and that we go back to the whole idea that education
is free?

M. Boyko : C’est étrange que vous me posiez la question.
L’organisme que je représente a entrepris une contestation fondée
sur la Charte pour des motifs analogues et nous ne sommes pas
parvenus a établir que I’dge ou le statut d’étudiant pouvait étre un
motif de discrimination fondée sur I’age.

La Cour supérieure de 1’Ontario ne nous a donc pas donné
raison, mais je pense qu’on pourrait modifier la loi en se fondant
sur d’autres motifs.

Le sénateur Harb : Pour étayer votre cas, avez-vous mené des
études pour établir le pourcentage d’étudiants qui ont jusqu’ici
déclaré faillite? Dans laffirmative, combien d’étudiants ont
invoqué les dispositions relatives a la faillite?

J’aimerais aussi savoir si une analyse de rentabilité¢ a été faite
pour établir le colit de mise en oeuvre du programme de préts aux
étudiants ainsi que les frais de représentation juridique devant
les tribunaux du gouvernement, des banques et des institutions
financi¢res? Ces statistiques pourraient étre surprenantes et
pourraient peut-étre étayer votre raisonnement en faveur de la
gratuité de 1’éducation postsecondaire. L’éducation est d’ailleurs
gratuite dans de nombreux pays industrialisés du monde.

A-t-on entrepris des études de ce genre?

M. Boyko : Il faudrait effectivement faire des études de ce
genre. La majeure partie de I'information dont nous disposons
date de la période précédant I'interdiction de faillite a 1’égard
des préts d’études. A partir de ce moment-la, il est devenu
impossible d’obtenir la libération des dettes d’études. Nous
sommes maintenant en 2008, soit 10 ans plus tard. C’est lorsque
les frais de scolarité ont doublé dans les années 90 que le niveau
d’endettement des étudiants a atteint des sommets inégalés. Ce
n’est que maintenant que prend fin la période d’interdiction de
faillite pour la plupart des étudiants. Je crois que nous devrions
pouvoir commencer a recueillir ces données.

Je sais que certains des témoins précédents que vous avez
entendus et qui s’occupaient plus directement des demandes
de faillite disposent de plus de données sur cette question.
Malheureusement, la majeure partiec de nos données datent
d’avant cette période.

Le sénateur Harb : Si je lis bien dans vos pensées...

Le président : Pensez-vous que le témoin a répondu a la
question de savoir si des études avaient été entreprises?

Le sénateur Harb : 11 a répondu que non.

Si je lis bien dans vos pensées, ce que vous voulez dire, c’est que
vous préféreriez que cet article soit abrogé et qu’il ne figure plus
dans la loi. D’aprés vous, I’éducation devrait étre gratuite pour
tous puisque, comme vous l’avez dit au sénateur Massicotte, les
étudiants vont un jour payer des impots. Autrement dit, la société
y trouve son compte. Préférez-vous que cet article soit supprimé
du projet de loi et que I’on reconnaisse le principe de la gratuité de
I’éducation?
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Mr. Boyko: Our position is there should be no student
loan bankruptcy prohibition. Also, the federal and provincial
governments should take every step necessary to reduce financial
barriers for students. If that includes eliminating fees, I think
that step is probably a good one.

The Chair: Can the federal government do that?

Mr. Boyko: The federal government can support the provinces
in doing that.

Senator Meighen: Following from Senator Harb’s line of
questioning, suppose the worst occurs and the situation of
bankruptcy prohibition you are faced with now continues —
whether it continues two years or more — can you comment
on the Interest Relief and Debt Reduction in Repayment
programs?

In your presentation, you indicated the take-up is low.
Assuming that there is a bankruptcy prohibition period, is there
anything, in your view, that can be done to alter the criteria so
the take-up is higher, if you believe those programs would be
useful in relieving hardship in those circumstances?

Mr. Boyko: I do not want to give the impression that our
organization thinks that programs like Interest Relief and Debt
Reduction in Repayment are not valuable or serve no purpose. If
you talk to some of the people who call our office, and do the
math on what they earn and pay, and still do not qualify, the
thresholds are clearly still too high. I do not think it would be
difficult to undertake a study and investigate the implications of
reducing the threshold, making the threshold more generous and
then, subsequently, reducing thresholds so students can avail
themselves of interest relief.

There is talk that we can make the system more responsive to
the size of a student loan versus the income of a student debtor so
the program is more graduated. Right now, the program is all or
nothing. You either qualify for Interest Relief and you escape
your payment for a six-month period or you do not and you are
still saddled with $350 or $450 a month in a loan payment.

A step in the right direction currently under discussion is
something that is more graduated. Again, that change still does
not go to the heart of the problem that students are graduating
with $25,000 in a Canada Student Loan, not to mention credit
card and other debts.

In answer to your question, I think we can do to a lot to make
the existing programs more generous. Hopefully, we will reach
a point where nobody will ever need to avail themselves of
bankruptcy legislation. For those who, for one reason or another,
do not qualify for the debt management program that the
federal government representatives were so proud to tout at

M. Boyko : Nous sommes d’avis qu’il faut éliminer
I'interdiction de faillite visant les préts d’études. En outre, les
gouvernements fédéral et provinciaux devraient prendre toutes les
mesures nécessaires pour réduire les obstacles financiers auxquels
sont confrontés les étudiants, ce qui pourrait comprendre/
I’élimination des frais de scolarité. A mon avis, ce serait une
bonne mesure.

Le président : Est-ce une mesure que le gouvernement fédéral
peut prendre?

M. Boyko : Le gouvernement fédéral peut inciter les provinces
a la prendre.

Le sénateur Meighen : Pour poursuivre dans la méme veine que
le sénateur Harb, supposons le pire, et que I'interdiction de faillite
soit maintenue — qu’il s’agisse de deux ans ou d’une période
plus longue —, pourriez-vous nous dire ce que vous pensez des
programmes d’exemption d’intéréts et de réduction de la dette en
cours de remboursement?

Vous avez dit dans votre déclaration préliminaire que peu
d’étudiants sont admissibles a ces programmes. A supposer que la
période d’interdiction de faillite a I’égard des préts d’études soit
maintenue et a supposer aussi que vous jugiez utiles ces
programmes, que pourrait-on faire pour que plus d’étudiants en
profitent?

M. Boyko : Je ne voudrais pas donner 'impression que notre
organisme pense que les programmes tels I’exemption d’intéréts et
la réduction de la dette en cours de remboursement ne sont pas
utiles. Les personnes qui téléphonent a notre bureau, et qui
découvrent qu’elles ne sont pas admissibles aux programmes
apres avoir fait les calculs nécessaires, vous diront que les seuils
prévus sont clairement trop élevés. Je crois que 1'on pourrait
facilement étudier les conséquences d’une réduction du seuil
d’admissibilité pour que davantage d’étudiants puissent se
prévaloir des mesures d’allégement des intéréts.

Il est question d’adapter le systéme pour favoriser une
meilleure correspondance entre le montant que doit rembourser
le débiteur étudiant et son revenu. A I'heure actuelle, c’est tout
ou rien. Soit une personne est admissible au programme
d’exemption, et elle peut cesser de faire ses paiements pendant
six mois, soit elle n’y est pas admissible, et elle doit continuer de
rembourser 350 ou 450 $ par mois.

On discute a I’heure actuelle d’une mesure, que nous
considérons étre une amélioration, en vue de rendre le systéme
plus progressif. Or, ce changement ne réglera pas le fond du
probléme qui est que les étudiants se retrouvent a la fin de leurs
études avec des dettes en préts d’études de 25 000 $, sans parler de
leur carte de crédit et leurs autres dettes.

En réponse a votre question, je pense que nous pouvons faire
beaucoup pour rendre les programmes plus généreux. Il est a
espérer qu'un jour personne n’ait a recourir a la législation en
matiére de faillites. Les personnes qui, pour une raison ou une
autre, ne sont pas admissibles au programme de gestion de la
dette que les représentants du gouvernement fédéral ont présenté
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the committee — people simply slip through the cracks — these
people should be able to avail themselves of a hearing before a
judge.

Senator Meighen: You mentioned the point that Senator
Goldstein raised: You must be in good standing in to apply for
those programs. It seems to me it would not be too difficult to
miss a payment if a person’s situation becomes much worse than
anticipated. They miss a payment or two and they are not eligible
to apply. They must apply before they run into trouble, which is a
challenge. If T were the king of the world, I would eliminate that
issue first and foremost. Do you agree?

Mr. Boyko: I agree that once they are in default they are no
longer eligible for the programs to ameliorate their payments.

The definition of default is 270 days without a payment,
which is nine months. That amount of time sounds reasonable
to many of us. As I say, people slip through the cracks.
People apply and, due to the threshold, simply do not make
it. Therefore, I agree that bankruptcy legislation might be for
those who, for one reason or another, are in default and are
no longer eligible for the programs we talked about.

Senator Jaffer: I wanted to ask the question Senator Meighen
asked, but I have another one with respect to understanding the
finances. Do you have “first step” programs to manage money for
students coming to the campus for the first time?

Mr. Boyko: We do not, as an organization, but most
universities and colleges have financial aid departments that
attempt to run those programs.

Senator Jaffer: My follow-up question is: I hear from students
that banks give them credit easily, a minimum of $5,000 to
$6,000, when they go to university. Do you think we, as a
committee, should encourage banks to have some kind of loan
management program or something regarding responsible
borrowing?

Mr. Boyko: I think the federal and provincial governments
can play a role in reducing the need for students and their
families to turn to private lines of credit. For example, they can
make the system more responsive to demonstrated financial
need, replacing as much loan as possible with grants on the
front end. At the same time, a lot of the problem is a cold
calculation regarding what your paycheques and loan statements
say. No amount of literacy on the subject will get them over
the hump if they cannot pay their rent and student loan at the
same time.

avec tant de fierté — et il y a des gens qui passent a travail les
mailles du filet —, devraient pouvoir défendre leur cause devant
un juge.

Le sénateur Meighen : Vous avez mentionné le point qu’a
soulevé le sénateur Goldstein, a savoir I'exigence du prét en
régle qui est un critéere d’admissibilité a ces programmes. Jai
I'impression qu'une personne peut facilement rater un paiement si
sa situation financiére se détériore. Si elle rate un paiement ou
deux, elle n’est plus admissible a ces programmes. Il faut donc
présenter une demande avant de se trouver dans cette situation.
Si jétais tout-puissant, j’éliminerais d’abord et surtout cette
exigence. Etes-vous d’accord avec moi?

M. Boyko : Je suis d’accord avec vous pour dire qu’une fois
qu'une personne est en situation de défaut de paiement, elle n’est
plus admissible aux programmes qui sont censés ’aider.

Une personne est en situation de défaut de paiement si elle n’a
pas fait de paiement depuis 270 jours, ce qui équivaut a neuf mois.
Ce délai semblera raisonnable a la plupart d’entre nous. Comme
je le disais, certaines personnes tombent cependant entre les
mailles du filet. Puisque le seuil d’admissibilité aux programmes
est trop élevé, certaines personnes y sont jugées inadmissibles.
Je conviens que la législation sur les faillites devrait viser les
personnes qui, pour une raison ou une autre, sont en situation
de défaut de paiement, mais ne sont plus admissibles aux
programmes dont nous avons parlé.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Je voulais poser la question que le sénateur
Meighen a posée, mais j’en ai une autre portant sur 'initiation a la
gestion financiére. Offrez-vous des programmes d’initiation a la
gestion financiére s’adressant aux nouveaux étudiants?

M. Boyko : Notre organisme n’offre pas ce genre de
programmes, mais la plupart des universités et des colleges
comptent des services d’aide financiére qui en offrent.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Ma question complémentaire est la
suivante : des étudiants m’ont dit que les banques leur prétent
facilement, au moins 50008 a 6000 $, lorsqu’ils vont a
I'université. Pensez-vous que le comité devrait encourager les
banques a offrir des programmes de gestion des préts ou des
programmes visant a apprendre aux étudiants comment étre des
emprunteurs responsables?

M. Boyko : Je crois que les gouvernements fédéral et
provinciaux peuvent prendre des mesures pour faire en sorte
que les étudiants et leurs familles aient moins besoin de recourir a
des lignes de crédit privées. A titre d’exemple, les gouvernements
peuvent faire en sorte que le systéme tienne davantage compte
des besoins financiers des étudiants et ils peuvent aussi
remplacer le plus possible les préts par des subventions. Il est
vrai qu'une grande part du probléme consiste a calculer de
fagon trés rigoureuse ’argent qu’on gagne et ’argent qu’on doit
rembourser. Toute I'information au monde n’aidera pas ceux
qui ne peuvent a la fois payer leur loyer et rembourser leur
prét d’études.
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I agree there is a role early on to ensure students understand
exactly what they are getting themselves into. A system of
needs-based grants would also help reduce the amount of loans
students are forced to take on.

Senator Moore: I apologize for arriving late. The chair asked
you about your organization. I apologize if you covered this at
the outset, but how many universities and students do you
represent?

Mr. Boyko: We represent about 87 student unions, and
those unions include colleges, universities, graduates and
undergraduates. The total number adds up to approximately
half a million students.

Senator Moore: How big is the staff at your organization?

Mr. Boyko: I think there are four people in my office today.

Senator Moore: Does that include you?
Mr. Boyko: Yes, it includes me.

Senator Moore: The chair asked you how you are funded and
you said membership fees akin to labour unions. I do not know
what that means. Does each school pay X amount? Is it based on
their enrolment? What is the average fee?

Mr. Boyko: At the beginning of the year, students are
required to pay their tuition fees. At the same time, they pay a
membership fee to the local student union and a fee to our
provincial and national union. The individual fee is levied on
our members.

Senator Moore: It is levied on the student members and not on
the universities.

Mr. Boyko: Yes.

Senator Moore: What is the average fee?

Mr. Boyko: Our membership fee is $3.82 per term.
The Chair: Does that include GST?

Senator Goldstein: It is $3.78 because of the 2 per cent
reduction in the GST.

Mr. Boyko: It was pegged in 1992 or 1993 at $3 and it has
increased by Consumer Price Index, CPI, since then.

Senator Moore: The fee is per term. Either Senator Massicotte
or Senator Harb asked you about the debt load, and
you mentioned student loans and credit cards. Has your
organization undertaken an analysis of what composes the
average student debt load in terms of tuition, living costs,
social costs, et cetera?

Je conviens que les gouvernements devraient aussi veiller
d’entrée de jeu a ce que les étudiants comprennent exactement
quels sont leurs engagements. Un systéme de subventions fondées
sur les besoins contribuerait cependant a réduire les sommes
d’argent que les étudiants sont contraints d’emprunter.

Le sénateur Moore : Je m’excuse de mon retard. Le président
vous a posé des questions sur l’organisme auquel vous
appartenez. Je m’excuse si je vous pose des questions auxquelles
vous avez peut-étre déja répondu, mais combien d’universités
et d’étudiants votre organisme représente-t-il?

M. Boyko : Nous représentons quelque 87 syndicats étudiants
auxquels appartiennent des colléges, des universités, des étudiants
de premier cycle et des étudiants de cycles supérieurs. Au total,
nous représentons environ un demi-million d’étudiants.

Le sénateur Moore : Combien d’employés votre organisme
compte-t-il?

M. Boyko : Je crois que quatre personnes travaillent
actuellement a notre bureau.

Le sénateur Moore : En vous comptant?
M. Boyko : Oui.

Le sénateur Moore : Quand le président vous a demandé
comment vous étiez financé, vous avez dit que vous perceviez des
cotisations auprés de vos membres un peu comme les syndicats
ouvriers. Qu’est-ce que vous voulez dire par 1a? Chaque école
paie-t-elle un montant X? Ce montant est-il fonction du nombre
d’inscriptions? Quelle est la cotisation moyenne?

M. Boyko : Les étudiants doivent payer leurs frais de scolarité
au début de I'année. Ils paient alors au méme moment une
cotisation a leur syndicat étudiant local et une cotisation a notre
syndicat provincial et national. Chacun de nos membres paie une
cotisation.

Le sénateur Moore : Ce sont donc les étudiants eux-mémes, et
non pas les universités, qui paient la cotisation.

M. Boyko : Oui.

Le sénateur Moore : Quelle est la cotisation moyenne?
M. Boyko : La cotisation est de 3,82 $ par semestre.
Le président : Cela comprend-il la TPS?

Le sénateur Goldstein : La cotisation est maintenant
de 3,78 § vu la réduction de 2 p. 100 de la TPS.

M. Boyko : La cotisation a été fixée en 1992 ou 1993 a 3 § et
elle a ensuite augmenté en fonction de I'Indice des prix a la
consommation.

Le sénateur Moore : La cotisation est versée chaque semestre.
Le sénateur Massicotte ou le sénateur Harb vous a posé une
question sur le niveau d’endettement des étudiants et vous avez
fait mention des préts d’études et des cartes de crédit. Votre
organisme a-t-il établi une ventilation de la dette moyenne des
étudiants pour savoir quelle est la part respective dans cette
dette des frais de scolarité, des frais de subsistance et des
activités sociales?
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Mr. Boyko: We have not undertaken that task and it might
be impossible. When one applies for a Canada Student Loan,
which includes application to provincial student financial
assistance, one provides information on what one expects to
pay in fees and accommodations, minus what one expects to
earn over the summer. Tuition fees and living expenses are
included within the student loan calculation, which differs from
province to province.

Senator Moore: I meant that during the year, a student might
borrow another $4,000 or $5,000 for whatever purposes, over and
above the tuition fees and books. You have not looked at that
analysis. Students graduate with an average debt. What is the
amount?

Mr. Boyko: It is between $22,000 and $28,000.

Senator Moore: Do you have a schedule of those figures for the
committee?

Mr. Boyko: No.

Senator Massicotte: The figure is average debt per student that
graduates or average debt per student that has debts?

Mr. Boyko: We only count those who have debts. It indicates
the average student loan for university students after the
completion of a four-year program.

Senator Massicotte: It is only for those students who have a
debt?

Mr. Boyko: Yes.
Senator Massicotte: How many students have a debt?
Mr. Boyko: Roughly half.

Senator Massicotte: The average is half of that, one could
argue.

Mr. Boyko: Yes, but I would argue that we should not include
those students who do not take on debt.

The Chair: Senator Moore has the floor.

Senator Massicotte: This question is a supplementary one. Do
you have information on the socio-economic background of the
students who have debt?

Mr. Boyko: We do not have that information, although it
would be valuable. At the end of the day, those who apply for
loans on the front end do so presumably because they do not have
the resources at the time. I do not think I have ever seen anything
definitive in terms of the composition of student-loan holders.
However, a reasonable assertion is that they are from those
families who have the fewest resources.

Senator Moore: Are these graduate and undergraduate
students?

M. Boyko : Nous n’avons pas entrepris de faire cette
ventilation, et il est peut-étre impossible de le faire. Lorsqu’un
étudiant présente une demande dans le cadre du Programme
canadien de préts aux étudiants — et il doit du méme coup
présenter une demande dans le cadre du programme provincial
d’aide aux étudiants —, il doit indiquer ce qu’il compte payer
en frais de scolarité et en frais de logement et aussi ce qu’il
compte gagner pendant 1’été. Les frais de scolarité et les frais de
subsistance sont pris en compte dans le calcul du prét d’études, et
cette proportion varie d’une province a 'autre.

Le sénateur Moore : Au cours de I’année, I’étudiant peut aussi
emprunter 4 000 $ ou 5 000 $ de plus pour d’autres fins que les
frais de scolarité et I’achat de manuels. Vous n’avez pas fait cette
analyse. Quelle est la dette moyenne des étudiants a la fin de leurs
études?

M. Boyko : Elle se situe entre 22 000 $ et 28 000 $.

Le sénateur Moore : Pouvez-vous fournir au comité un tableau
comportant ces chiffres?

M. Boyko : Non.

Le sénateur Massicotte : S’agit-il de la dette moyenne des
étudiants qui obtiennent leur diplome ou de la dette moyenne des
étudiants qui ont une dette?

M. Boyko : Nous ne tenons compte que des étudiants qui ont
une dette. C’est le montant moyen des préts d’études des étudiants
universitaires ayant terminé un programme de quatre ans.

Le sénateur Massicotte : 11 s’agit donc seulement de la dette
moyenne des étudiants qui ont une dette, n’est-ce pas?

M. Boyko : Oui.
Le sénateur Massicotte : Combien d’étudiants ont une dette?
M. Boyko : Environ la moitié.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Je suppose que la dette moyenne est
sans doute la dette de la moitié de ces étudiants.

M. Boyko : Oui, mais je crois qu’on ne doit pas inclure les
étudiants qui n’ont pas de dette.

Le président : Le sénateur Moore a la parole.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Il s’agit d’une question
complémentaire. Connaissez-vous les antécédents socio-
économiques des étudiants qui ont une dette?

M. Boyko : Nous ne possédons pas cette information qui
serait cependant précieuse. On peut présumer que les étudiants
qui présentent une demande de prét sont ceux qui n’ont pas
les ressources financiéres au départ pour financer leurs études.
Je ne pense pas jamais avoir vu d’étude analysant les antécédents
socio-économiques des détenteurs de préts d’études. Je crois qu’il
est raisonnable de présumer qu’ils proviennent de familles dont le
revenu est peu élevé.

Le sénateur Moore : S’agit-il d’étudiants de premier cycle ou de
cycles supérieurs?
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Mr. Boyko: No, they are graduates after the completion of a
four-year program. The figure does not include graduate students.

Senator Moore: Do you know whether any of your members
upon graduation with debt have incurred debt at payday loan
institutions?

Mr. Boyko: I do not know but I would be happy to do my best
to find the information for the committee. I know the committee
has studied criminal rates of interest, which may be useful to some
indebted students.

Senator Moore: What makes up the $22,000 to $28,000?
How are those amounts broken down? How much is for
books?

Your fee is almost $4 per head so your budget is about
$4 million. What part of your budget do you spend on this kind
of research?

Mr. Boyko: We spend about half.

Senator Moore: | am interested because you could contribute
important work not only to this committee but to the nation as a
whole.

Mr. Boyko: I would say that one half is spent on advocacy
work.

Senator Moore: The debt elimination is one of your core
missions.

Mr. Boyko: Yes.

Senator Moore: However, you have not looked at what that
debt is comprised of. Let me suggest that you should do that.
That is all I have for now.

The Chair: We have exactly five minutes left with this witness.
Senator Goldstein, you have a particular interest in this subject
because of your private bill.

Senator Goldstein: I have a number of disparate remarks and
questions. I have statistics on collection costs, which I will make
available to the committee. They come from the Department
of Finance budget and statements, which are public, and the
committee should be aware of that. The figures rank in the
millions per year.

In terms of which students are prone to borrow, there is
anecdotal evidence. There is a learned article on the subject by
Professor Saul Schwartz of Carleton University. I will make the
article available to you, Senator Moore.

There are three kinds of student loans: first is for colleges;
second is for schools of a more general nature, such as trade
schools and the like; and the third is for university studies.
Is it fair to say that the loans granted for university studies,
as opposed to the loans granted for the other studies, are
much more prone to be reimbursed without problem than the
other loans?

M. Boyko : Il s’agit d’étudiants ayant terminé un programme
de quatre ans. Ce chiffre ne comprend pas les étudiants des cycles
supérieurs.

Le sénateur Moore : Parmi les étudiants membres de votre
organisme qui terminent leurs études avec des dettes, y en a-t-il
qui ont contracté des préts aupres d’établissements de préts sur
salaire?

M. Boyko : Je lignore, mais je ferai de mon mieux pour
trouver ce renseignement pour le comité. Je sais que le comité a
étudié la question des taux d’intérét criminels, ce qui peut aider
certains étudiants endettés.

Le sénateur Moore : Qu’est-ce qui entre dans ces 22 000 $ a
28 000 § de dette? A-t-on fait cette ventilation? Combien cotitent
les manuels, par exemple?

Comme votre cotisation est de 4 $ par étudiant, votre budget
s’éléve a quelque quatre millions de dollars. Quelle partie de votre
budget consacrez-vous a ce genre de recherche?

M. Boyko : Environ la moitié.

Le sénateur Moore : Je voulais le savoir parce que vous pouvez
ainsi faire des travaux utiles non seulement pour ce comité, mais
pour tout le pays.

M. Boyko : Je dirais que nous affectons la moitié de notre
budget a la défense des intéréts.

Le sénateur Moore : L’élimination de I’endettement étudiant
est 'une de vos missions fondamentales.

M. Boyko : Oui.

Le sénateur Moore : Vous ne savez cependant pas de quoi se
compose cette dette. Je pense que vous devriez faire ce genre de
recherche. Je n’ai pas d’autres questions a poser pour I'instant.

Le président : 11 ne nous reste plus que cinq minutes exactement
avec ce témoin. Sénateur Goldstein, vous vous intéressez de fagon
particuliére a ce sujet en raison de votre projet de loi d’initiative
parlementaire.

Le sénateur Goldstein : J’ai différentes observations a faire
et questions a poser. Je posséde des statistiques sur le cotit de
recouvrement des créances que je transmettrai au comité. Elles
proviennent du budget et des énoncés financiers du ministére des
Finances, lesquels sont publics. Le comité devrait avoir cette
information. Les coits de recouvrement s’élévent a plusieurs
millions de dollars par année.

Nous avons des données empiriques sur les étudiants qui
ont tendance a emprunter. Le professeur Saul Schwartz de
I’Université Carleton a publié un article savant sur le sujet.
Je vous le transmettrai, sénateur Moore.

Il existe trois types de préts d’études : selon que I'on fréquente
un collége, une école de nature plus générale comme une école
professionnelle ou 'université. Peut-on dire que les étudiants qui
obtiennent un prét pour poursuivre des études universitaires
éprouvent moins de difficulté a rembourser leurs préts que les
étudiants qui fréquentent d’autres types d’établissements
d’enseignement?
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Mr. Boyko: Can you repeat that?

Senator Goldstein: I am trying to compare the students and
their loans but I asked the question in a complicated way,
and I apologize.

University students have student loans and trade school
students have student loans. The statistics we have indicate a
general default rate and general recovery rates. I understand
you have statistics, or others in your organization have statistics,
as to what the losses are with respect to university loans, as
opposed to the other kinds of loans. It is important that the
information be made available to the committee. Will you
undertake to do so?

Mr. Boyko: 1 believe that data on rates of repayment are
available in the annual report of the Canada Student Loans
Program.

Senator Goldstein: You can subdivide it as well. I have seen it
so you have it. Can you make it available to us, please?

Mr. Boyko: I will do so.

Senator Goldstein: A more general question is in response
to observations made by some of my colleagues in the Senate
in connection with the private members bill I am sponsoring.
I wonder whether the loan period — the non-discharge period —
whether it be two years, five years, seven years or ten years,
is as important as another alternative, which is to permit a
judge on the application of a student where there is severe
hardship in reimbursement. I do not much care when that
happens after the studies have been completed. When it is
clear that reimbursement would be a severe or substantial or
significant hardship, then a judge should have the freedom
to relieve the student in whole or in part from the obligation
to repay the loan and the interest, and to postpone payment
of the interest in whole or in part. Is that something you would
consider appropriate for the relief you seek for students?

Mr. Boyko: You know better than I the importance of
hardship clauses in bankruptcy legislation. Those provisions
are absolutely critical. I do not think any prohibition — be it two
years, five years, seven years, ten years or one hundred years —
would be at all appropriate without a hardship clause. We feel
strongly about that issue.

That item does not address the heart of the fact that we
went 33 years of the Canada Student Loan Program’s 43-year
history without a prohibition at all, and we did not go into
economic crisis. I appreciate your comments. The hardship
hearing is probably the most critical part of that legislation that
must be changed.

The Chair: Mr. Boyko, thank you very much, not only for
appearing today but for your letter in both official languages,
dated November 29, which will form part of our record. You
have made your case clearly and we appreciate your coming.

M. Boyko : Pourriez-vous répéter votre question?

Le sénateur Goldstein : J’essaie de faire une comparaison entre
les étudiants et les préts qui leur sont accordés, mais j’ai posé la
question de fagon compliquée, et je m’en excuse.

Les étudiants qui fréquentent I'université, comme les étudiants
qui fréquentent des écoles professionnelles, contractent des
préts d’études. Les statistiques dont nous disposons permettent
d’établir un taux de défaut de paiement général ainsi qu’un taux
de recouvrement général. Je crois que vous, ou d’autres membres
de votre organisme avez des statistiques établissant les pertes pour
les préts universitaires et pour les autres types de préts. Il est
important que le comité ait cette information. Pouvez-vous vous
engager a la lui transmettre?

M. Boyko : Je crois que les taux de remboursement figurent
dans le rapport annuel du Programme canadien de préts aux
étudiants.

Le sénateur Goldstein : On peut aussi faire une ventilation. J’ai
vu cette information, et vous devez I’avoir. Pouvez-vous, je vous
prie, vous engager a la transmettre au comité, je vous prie?

M. Boyko : Je m’y engage.

Le sénateur Goldstein : J’ai une question d’ordre plus général a
poser en rapport avec les observations qu’ont faites certains de
mes collégues en ce qui touche le projet de loi d’initiative
parlementaire que je parraine. Je me demande s’il faut attacher
autant d’importance a la durée du prét — la période d’interdiction
de faillite — qu’il s’agisse de deux, de cing, de sept ou de dix ans,
qu’a la possibilité de permettre a un juge de rendre une décision
sur I’existence éventuelle de graves difficultés qui empécheraient
un étudiant de rembourser sa dette. Peu m’importe vraiment
quand cela peut étre fait aprés que I’étudiant ait terminé ses
études. Si on lui prouve que le fait de rembourser son prét causera
a ’étudiant de graves difficultés, le juge devrait pourvoir libérer
I’étudiant en partie ou en totalité de ses dettes, ou reporter en
entier ou en partie le versement des intéréts. Pensez-vous que ce
genre de mesure aiderait les étudiants?

M. Boyko : Vous connaissez mieux que moi l'importance
des dispositions pour difficultés graves dans la législation en
matiere de faillites. Ces dispositions sont tout a fait essentielles.
Aucune interdiction de faillite — qu’il s’agisse de deux, de cing,
de sept, de dix ou de 100 ans, ne serait appropriée sans ce genre
de disposition. Nous en sommes tout a fait convaincus.

Quelle que soit la valeur intrinséque de cette mesure, il n’en
demeure pas moins que pendant 33 ans, le Programme canadien
de préts aux étudiants, créé il y a maintenant 43 ans, n’a comporté
aucune interdiction de faillite. Je comprends ce que vous essayez
de dire. L’élément le plus important a modifier dans cette
législation a trait a 1'audience visant a établir si Iétudiant fait
face a des difficultés graves.

Le président : Monsieur Boyko, je vous remercie non seulement
d’avoir comparu devant nous aujourd’hui, mais aussi de votre
lettre dans les deux langues officielles, datée du 29 novembre, qui
sera incluse a notre compte rendu. Vous nous avez bien exposé
votre point de vue, et nous vous en sommes reconnaissants.
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Carrying on with this afternoon’s session, we have now
the International Insolvency Institute, represented by Bruce
Leonard, Chair, and by David Ward, Counsel. Welcome,
gentlemen. How will you proceed?

Bruce Leonard, Chair, International Insolvency Institute:
Carefully, was the suggestion.

The Chair: I am advised by the clerk that you have half an
hour.

Mr. Leonard: I will go first to introduce the topic.

Senator Goldstein: Let me briefly declare my interest. I am
a member of The International Insolvency Institute, which
was god-fathered and fathered by Bruce Leonard, who was also
the god-father and father of the international model law on
which he will speak. He has done Canada proud with his
tremendous effort and work in this area.

The Chair: Thank you, Senator Goldstein. Your comments
have been noted. Sir, it is nice to have you with us.

Mr. Leonard: It is nice to be here. Thank you for having us
again, and thank you, Senator Goldstein, for those kind words.
They are not deserved; it is only a question of being in the right
place at the right time.

Today, I will introduce my remarks in three parts: One, the
international provisions of the legislation which I submit are a
national embarrassment; two, I will concentrate on creditor
participation, or lack of participation, in the Canadian
bankruptcy system and the ways in which it can be improved;
and three, I will address transparency and integrity in the
Canadian insolvency system, which could also be improved.
This committee is probably the best vehicle for this discussion
to happen.

I will give a brief background on the International Insolvency
Institute. It is a Canadian non-profit, non-commercial
corporation. At last count, it has members in 61 or 62 countries
around the world. Our revenues are raised from membership
dues and the occasional conference. As an organization, we
participate in insolvency reform around the world, but we do
not cross-ruff. Some of our American members have participated
in the American reform process. Our English members have
done the same in England. Our Japanese members have
participated in the Japanese process. There is no cross-ruffing
in that the English members do not participate in the U.S.
system, et cetera. My remarks will be Canada-originated and
dedicated.

The international insolvency provisions of the legislation
have been expanded from what they were in the earlier
legislation. I will talk about the UNCITRAL Model Law on
Cross-Border Insolvency. UNCITRAL is the United Nations
Commission on International Trade Law. This organization
is the United Nations commercial agency. They work in the

Nous accueillons maintenant les représentants de I'Institut
international d’insolvabilité. Il s’agit de MM. Bruce Leonard,
président, et David Ward, avocat. Bienvenue, messieurs.
Comment voulez-vous procéder?

Bruce Leonard, président, Institut international d’insolvabilité :
On m’a recommandé de procéder avec prudence.

Le président : La greffiére m’informe que vous avez une demi-
heure.

M. Leonard : C’est moi qui ferai I’entrée en matiére.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Permettez-moi de faire une
bréve déclaration. Je suis membre de I'Institut international
d’insolvabilité dont le parrain est Bruce Leonard, également
parrain de la loi-type internationale dont il vous parlera. Le
Canada peut étre trés fier de ses efforts et de ses travaux dans
ce domaine.

Le président : Je vous remercie, sénateur Goldstein. Nous
prenons bonne note de ce que vous venez de dire. Nous sommes
heureux de vous accueillir, monsieur.

M. Leonard : Je suis heureux d’étre ici. Je vous remercie de
nous accueillir de nouveau et je vous remercie, sénateur
Goldstein, de ces bonnes paroles. Je ne les mérite pas. Je n’ai
fait qu’étre au bon endroit au bon moment.

Je vais scinder mon exposé d’aujourd’hui en trois parties. Je
vous parlerai d’abord des dispositions internationales de la
législation. Je crois qu’on peut parler a ce sujet de véritable
honte nationale. Je vous entretiendrai ensuite de la participation,
ou du manque de participation, des créanciers dans le systéme
canadien des faillites et de I'amélioration qui s’impose dans ce
domaine. Je vous expliquerai enfin comment nous pourrions
améliorer la transparence et I'intégrité du systéme canadien de
I'insolvabilité, lesquelles laissent a désirer. Ce comité est sans
doute le meilleur endroit ou tenir cette discussion.

Permettez-moi d’abord de vous dire quelques mots sur
I'International Insolvency Institute lui-méme. Il s’agit d’une
société canadienne non commerciale sans but lucratif. Aux
derniéres nouvelles, I'institut comptait des membres dans 61 ou
62 pays au monde. Nous tirons nos revenus des cotisations de nos
membres et de ’organisation occasionnelle de conférences. Nos
membres participent aux efforts de réforme du régime de
I'insolvabilité dans le monde entier, mais ils le font dans leurs
pays respectifs. Certains de nos membres américains ont participé
au processus de réforme aux Etats-Unis. Nos membres anglais
ont fait de méme en Angleterre. Nos membres japonais ont, eux,
participé au processus de réforme au Japon. Nos membres
anglais, par exemple, ne participent pas au processus de réforme
aux Etats-Unis, et I'inverse est également vrai. Je vous parlerai
par conséquent exclusivement de la situation qui existe au
Canada.

La portée des dispositions sur I'insolvabilité internationale
figurant dans la loi a été élargie par rapport a la loi antérieure. Je
vous entretiendrai de la loi-type de la CNUDCI sur I'insolvabilité
transfrontaliére. Le sigle CNUDCI désigne la Commission des
Nations Unies pour le droit commercial international. C’est
I’organisme commercial des Nations Unies oeuvrant notamment
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international arbitration area, and a number of other areas. They
have promulgated treaties, model laws, adopted around the
world. They are regarded as the international gold standard for
legislation.

In 1994, the work began on what has come to be the Model
Law on Cross-Border Insolvency. The object of that law was to
assist stakeholders in making international procedures more
transparent and flexible, and to foster greater cooperation
between countries.

Canada played a significant role in the development
of the model law. A lawyer from the Department of Justice in
Ottawa was the chair of the working group at UNCITRAL
that devised the model law. The working group consisted of 70 to
80 non-government organizations and member states. Canada
was a full member of the UNCITRAL process that developed
the model law, and a Canadian lawyer was the chair of the
working group.

The Chair: Do you want to name that individual?
Senator Goldstein: She is named in the brief.

Mr. Leonard: Kathryn Sabo is her name. She did a fine job of
chairing the working group. She deserves credit for herding a
number of disparate cats into a productive process.

Canada was represented throughout the piece in an official
delegation by the Department of Justice as well. They attended
every session. In the fullness of time, UNCITRAL, in the collegial
and non-confrontational way it works, developed the Model Law
on Cross-Border Insolvency. It was passed by the General
Assembly of the United Nations and became a United Nations
product in late 1997.

The Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency is not
complicated; it is only 32 sections long and has provisions that
encourage international cooperation. It has become the gold
standard for international cooperation in insolvency cases.
Twelve countries at this point have adopted the model law,
more or less as written. It is under consideration by eight more
countries, which would bring the total to 20 countries. The U.K.,
the U.S., Mexico and Japan are among our major trading
partners that have adopted it, and Australia and New Zealand are
poised to adopt it. It will be in place and in force basically around
the world.

It is interesting that most of those countries have adopted
the model law as it is written. The U.S. has 32 sections and the
English have a slightly different number but the law is
essentially the same. When it came to the Canadian legislation,
the wheels fell off the model law. I am not sure why that
happened, and nobody has been able to tell me why that
happened. Of the 32 sections in the articles and the model law,
Canada adopted 20. For some reason, there was a problem with
the other 12 sections.

I have distributed a paper, and the technical detail on the point
I am addressing is at pages 16 and 17. It is a list of the provisions
of the model law. In the left-hand column is Canada’s treatment

dans le domaine de l’arbitrage international. Cet organisme
promulgue des traités et des lois-types qui sont adoptés dans le
monde entier. Ces lois-types sont considérées comme la norme
d’or a I’échelle internationale.

L’année 1994 a marqué le début des travaux d’élaboration de la
loi-type sur linsolvabilité transfrontaliére. Cette loi a pour
objectif d’aider les intervenants a rendre les procédures
internationales plus transparentes et souples et de favoriser la
coopération entre les pays.

Le Canada a joué un réle important dans I’élaboration de
cette loi-type. Une avocate du ministére de la Justice a Ottawa
présidait le groupe de travail de la CNUDCI qui a produit cette
loi. Le groupe de travail se composait de 70 a 80 organismes
non gouvernementaux et Etats membres. Le Canada a participé
pleinement aux travaux de la CNUDCI qui ont abouti a
I’élaboration de la loi-type. Comme je le disais, c’est une
avocate canadienne qui a présidé le groupe de travail.

Le président : Voulez-vous nommer cette personne?
Le sénateur Goldstein : Son nom figure dans le mémoire.

M. Leonard : Il s’agit de Kathryn Sabo. Elle a présidé les
travaux du groupe de travail avec brio. Elle a eu le mérite
d’amener un groupe disparate de personnes a travailler de fagon
productive.

Une délégation officielle du ministére de la Justice a également
représenté le Canada tout au long du processus. Ses membres ont
participé a chacune des séances. La CNUDCI, dont le mode de
fonctionnement est collégial et axé sur la collaboration, a fini par
¢laborer une loi-type sur I’'insolvabilité transfrontaliére.
Cette loi-type a ¢été adoptée par I’Assemblée générale des
Nations Unies, et est devenue un produit onusien a la fin 1997.

La loi-type sur l'insolvabilité transfrontaliére n’est pas
complexe. Elle ne compte que 32 articles et son objet est de
favoriser la collaboration internationale. C’est maintenant la
norme d’or de la collaboration internationale en matiére
d’insolvabilité. Douze pays l'ont jusqu’ici adoptée plus ou
moins telle quelle. Huit autres pays songent a le faire, ce qui
porterait a 20 le nombre total de pays a I’avoir adoptée. Le
Royaume-Uni, les Etats-Unis, le Mexique et le Japon sont parmi
nos principaux partenaires commerciaux a l’avoir adoptée, et
I’Australie et la Nouvelle-Zélande sont sur le point de le faire.
Cette loi finira par étre en vigueur dans le monde entier.

Il est intéressant de noter que la plupart des pays ayant
adopté la loi-type I'ont adoptée telle quelle. La loi américaine
compte 32 articles et la loi britannique en compte un peu plus
ou un peu moins, mais c’est essentiellement la méme loi.
La loi-type a été éviscérée au Canada. Je ne suis pas sir de la
raison pour laquelle cela s’est produit et personne n’a pu me le
dire. Le Canada a adopté 20 des 32 articles de la loi-type.
Les 12 autres articles semblaient poser des difficultés.

Le document que je vous ai distribué traite de cette question.
Il énumere les dispositions de la loi-type. Dans la colonne de
gauche, on voit le sort que le Canada a réservé a ces dispositions.
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of those provisions, and the contrast is invidious. You can see the
number of provisions that have been deleted. None of those
provisions are in the current legislation.

By contrast, the United States and England have accepted all
of those provisions, as have most other countries. Canada is badly
out of step in adopting the model law. We are noncompliant.

The Chair: The great irony is that Kathryn Szabo and her
colleagues at Justice Canada completed this great work, and the
other powers-that-be rejected it.

Mr. Leonard: Exactly; I have never understood it or been
given an explanation for it. My submission to this committee
is to recommend that Canada adopt the model law the way it
was written, and the way the Canadian delegation voted for it
and led its development so we can be consistent with our major
trading partners. There does not seem to be a reason not to
adopt the model law the way we approved it in Vienna.

Senator Eyton: You must have some idea as to why it was not
adopted. It simply was not a clerical error or typo. There must be
some reason for dropping 12 sections.

Mr. Leonard: Not that I have ever heard. The snippet I heard
is that Canada is a bijural country, and I guess that is correct. In
some fashion, that was treated as a reason for not having
provisions like the availability of additional assistance to foreign
representatives. It made no sense.

In talking about civil law countries, when Japan adopted it,
Japan completely flipped. Japan had been a territorial state and
they adopted the model law. They changed their entire system to a
universal system from a territorial system so they could adopt the
model law. It would not have caused us any great concern at all to
adopt it.

Senator Massicotte: Four or five years ago we studied this
issue. We had government officials as witnesses. My recollection
is that they liked the model law. In fact, the comments were
positive. I remember asking questions on that law. Does my
memory serve me right?

Senator Moore: That is right.

The Chair: I am not sure: Let us assume they liked it.

Mr. Leonard: The people who represented Canada in Vienna at
the UNCITRAL sessions liked the model law and they voted for
it. Something happened in the political process when it came
back to Ottawa. Thus, we are left with something that does not
resemble the model law at all, and is inconsistent with what the
United States, the U.K., and Japan are doing.

Le contraste est désolant. Vous pouvez constater quelles sont les
dispositions qui ont été supprimées. Aucune de ces dispositions ne
se retrouve dans la loi actuelle.

En revanche, les Etats-Unis et I’Angleterre ont adopté toutes
les dispositions de la loi-type, tout comme la plupart des autres
pays. Le Canada fait bande a part en n’ayant pas adopté
la loi-type. Nous sommes en situation de non-conformité.

Le président : Ce qui est vraiment paradoxal, c’est que cet
excellent travail est 'ceuvre de Kathryn Szabo et de ses collegues
du ministére de la Justice. Les autorités compétentes 1’ont
pourtant rejeté.

M. Leonard : Tout a fait. Je n’ai cependant jamais compris
pourquoi nous avions agi ainsi, et personne ne me l’a jamais
expliqué. Je suis ici pour presser le comité de recommander
que le Canada adopte la loi-type telle qu’elle a été rédigée, la
méme loi-type en faveur de laquelle la délégation canadienne
s’est prononcée. Je le recommande pour que notre loi-type
corresponde a celle de nos principaux partenaires commerciaux.
Il ne semble y avoir aucune raison de ne pas adopter la loi-type
qui a été approuvée a Vienne.

Le sénateur Eyton : Vous devez bien avoir une idée de la raison
pour laquelle elle n’a pas été adoptée. Il ne s’agit pas simplement
d’une erreur administrative ou typographique. Il doit bien y avoir
une raison pour laquelle 12 articles ont été supprimés.

M. Leonard : On ne m’a jamais donné de raison qui le justifie.
Il y aurait peut-étre un lien avec le fait que le Canada a un systéme
juridique dualiste, fait incontestable. Peut-on vraiment évoquer
cette raison pour s’opposer a des dispositions portant sur la
prestation d’aide supplémentaire aux représentants étrangers?
Cela ne fait aucun sens.

Je parle ici de pays de droit civil. Le Japon a complétement
changé son systéme pour pouvoir adopter la loi-type. Le
Japon était jusque-la un Etat territorial. Ce pays est passé a
un systéme universel simplement pour pouvoir adopter la
loi-type. Nous aurions pu facilement adopter la loi-type telle
quelle.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Nous avons étudié cette questionily a
quatre ou cinq ans. Nous avons a ce moment-la entendu des
représentants du gouvernement. Si j’ai bonne mémoire, la loi-type
leur plaisait. Je crois qu’ils en ont parlé en bien. Je me souviens
avoir posé des questions sur la loi. Est-ce que ma mémoire est
bonne?

Le sénateur Moore : Tout a fait.

Le président : Je n’en suis pas sr. Supposons que les
représentants du gouvernement 1’aient aimée.

M. Leonard : Les personnes qui représentaient le Canada a
Vienne a la CNUDCI aimaient la loi-type et ont voté en sa faveur.
Quelque chose s’est produit sur le plan politique a leur retour
au Canada. Nous nous retrouvons donc avec une loi qui ne
ressemble en rien a la loi-type, et qui ne cadre pas avec la loi
qu’ont adoptée les Etats-Unis, le Royaume-Uni et le Japon.



14-2-2008

Banques et commerce

8:25

Senator Massicotte: It is not coincidental with the election of
the Conservative government, is it?

The Chair: It sounds like the opposite.

Mr. Leonard: I respectfully decline to answer the question.

Those are my thoughts on the model law. My recommendation
and that of the organization is that Canada should proceed to
adopt the model law, as it is written. There would be no great
harm.

The Chair: That is only the model law part of your
presentation. Please continue, sir.

Senator Meighen: Did you say that Japan is a civil law country?

Mr. Leonard: Yes.

Senator Meighen: Have other civil law countries adopted the
model law?

Mr. Leonard: Yes, they are Mexico, Poland, Romania and
Spain.

Senator Meighen: The problem is not around civil law or
common law?

Mr. Leonard: No.

My second submission is on creditor participation in
insolvency matters. The international contrast in this case is
also unfavourable to Canada. We do not have a system, and we
certainly do not encourage a system, by which ordinary creditors
can participate in the bankruptcy process. They are not allowed
to organize into committees. They can if they want to but they
are not informed and the process is not transparent. They are not
able to represent themselves effectively in major reorganizations
in the way that the major secured creditors and lenders are able
to do. This lack of participation puts Canadian creditors at a
disadvantage.

By contrast, in a major Chapter 11 case in the United States,
the ordinary, unsecured creditors almost always receive a return
on their claims. In a major case in Canada, ordinary creditors
almost never receive a return on their claims. These creditors are
normally wiped out in the process.

The Chair: Are you referring to corporate restructurings?
Mr. Leonard: Yes.

The Chair: There could be a correlation on the issue, which
Senator Massicotte will pursue, no doubt, on the collective
agreements and the difference between Canada and the U.S.

Mr. Leonard: I think so. In the U.K, the legislation was
changed to provide a carve-out for unsecured creditors from
floating charge securities. When they have a realization in the

Le sénateur Massicotte : Ce changement d’attitude ne
coincide-t-il pas avec l'arrivée au pouvoir du gouvernement
conservateur?

Le président : J’ai plutdt I'impression que c’est le contraire.

M. Leonard : Je refuse respectueusement de répondre a cette
question.

Voila ce que j’avais a dire sur la loi-type. Je recommande, au
nom de l'organisme dont je suis membre et en mon nom
personnel, que le Canada adopte la loi-type telle qu’elle a été
rédigée. Je ne vois pas quel mal il y aurait a cela.

Le président : Ce n’est que la partie de votre exposé qui porte
sur la loi-type. Veuillez poursuivre, monsieur.

Le sénateur Meighen : Avez-vous dit que le Japon était un pays
de droit civil?

M. Leonard : Oui.

Le sénateur Meighen : D’autres pays de droit civil ont-ils
adopté la loi-type?

M. Leonard : Oui, le Mexique, la Pologne, la Roumanie et
I’Espagne.

Le sénateur Meighen : Le probléme n’a donc rien a voir avec le
droit civil ou la common law, n’est-ce pas?

M. Leonard : Non.

Je voudrais maintenant vous parler de la participation des
créanciers au réglement des cas d’insolvabilité. Le contraste entre
la situation a I’échelle internationale et celle qui prévaut au
Canada est aussi défavorable a notre pays. Nous n’avons pas de
systéme, et nous ne favorisons pas la mise sur pied d’un systéme
qui permettrait aux créanciers ordinaires de participer au
processus de faillite. On ne permet pas a ces créanciers de
constituer des comités. En fait, ils peuvent le faire s’ils le
souhaitent, mais on ne les tient pas informés du déroulement du
processus et celui-ci n’est pas transparent. Ils ne peuvent pas se
représenter de facon efficace lors des grandes réorganisations
comme peuvent le faire les créanciers et les préteurs garantis.
Cette incapacité des créanciers canadiens a participer au processus
les défavorise.

En revanche, dans les cas procédant du Chapitre 11 aux
Etats-Unis, les créanciers ordinaires non garantis recouvrent
presque toujours une partie de la valeur de leurs réclamations.
Dans les affaires importantes au Canada, ce n’est presque jamais
le cas. Ces créanciers sont habituellement complétement exclus du
processus.

Le président : Parlez-vous de la restructuration des entreprises?
M. Leonard : Oui.

Le président : Il pourrait y avoir un lien que le sénateur
Massicotte voudra sans doute faire entre les conventions
collectives et la différence entre le Canada et les Etats-Unis &
cet égard.

M. Leonard : Je le crois. La loi a été modifiée au Royaume-Uni
pour prévoir un arrangement destiné aux créanciers non garantis
en ce qui touche le privilege flottant sur valeurs mobiliéres. Au
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U.K., 20 per cent up to a maximum of the proceeds of a
realization from a floating charge security is set aside and made
available to unsecured creditors. In the U.K., unsecured creditors
always receive something by statute, and in the U.S, they receive
something by virtue of their position. They are organized and are
part of the process. The reorganizing debtor must deal with them
to obtain their approval for the plan. That requirement always
results in a return on an unsecured creditor’s investment in the
United States.

In Canada, they can be, and generally are, ignored. There is
nothing for them. They are not encouraged to organize and they
cannot form creditors’ committees. My recommendation for this
committee is to allow the unsecured creditors at least to organize
themselves so they have an official voice representing the
unsecured creditors in the negotiations that happen in every
major reorganization.

The Chair: Do you mean a formalized process? It is my
experience that unsecured creditors have always had committees.
Perhaps the committees have been informal.

Mr. Leonard: There have been informal committees but they
do not have status. The difference between the U.S. system, which
has formal status for committees, and our system, which does not,
is that the U.S. unsecured creditors are treated better than our
unsecured creditors for no good reason. I suggest that this
committee might consider the issue. There are different views and
ways of doing these things.

I will move on to transparency and integrity. I will call
this my “one-hat” theory, which is to say, “in an insolvency
reorganization, could everyone please wear only one hat?”

The Chair: Do you mean, all creditors will be equal?

Mr. Leonard: No, but I will segue to that point. A number
of countries have abolished the priority for governmental
claims. I do not hear any enthusiasm from the department
when I raise that issue with them.

The Chair: You might hear it from this committee.

Mr. Leonard: That is right. It is a trend, and we have
documented it in a published article.

The Chair: Is it in your brief?
Mr. Leonard: It is not in the brief.
The Chair: It is good to have on the record.

Mr. Leonard: It is a published work and I can send that to the
committee.

Transparency and fairness, in the one hat, refers to insolvency
administrations and representatives, trustees, receivers,
liquidators, sequestrators and lawyers. Canada seems to have a
tendency to allow insolvency representatives to act in more than
one capacity and, occasionally, in more than one conflicting

Royaume-Uni, 20 p. 100 du produit maximal de la réalisation du
privilege flottant sur les valeurs mobiliéres sont réservés aux
créanciers non garantis. Au Royaume-Uni, les créanciers non
garantis obtiennent toujours quelque chose aux termes de la loi.
Aux Etats-Unis, ils obtiennent quelque chose en raison de leur
position. Ils sont organisés, et ils font partie du processus. Le
débiteur qui fait I'objet de la restructuration doit leur soumettre
son plan pour approbation. Aux Etats-Unis, les créanciers non
garantis obtiennent toujours un certain taux de rendement sur
leurs investissements.

Au Canada, ces créanciers sont le plus souvent exclus. Il n’y a
rien pour eux. On ne les incite pas a s’organiser, et ils ne peuvent
pas former de comités de créanciers. Je pense que le comité devrait
recommander qu’on permette a tout le moins aux créanciers non
garantis de s’organiser pour qu’ils aient un porte-parole officiel
lors des négociations qui ont lieu dans le cadre des grandes
restructurations.

Le président : Parlez-vous d’un processus officiel? A ma
connaissance, les créanciers non garantis ont toujours constitué
des comités. Il s’agissait peut-étre de comités non officiels.

M. Leonard : 11 s’agissait effectivement de comités non officiels
n’ayant aucun statut. Le systéme américain comporte des comités
officiels contrairement a notre systéme. Les créanciers non
garantis sont par conséquent mieux traités aux Etats-Unis qu’au
Canada, et cela pour aucune bonne raison. Le comité pourrait
peut-étre se pencher sur cette question. Il existe différents points
de vue et différentes fagcons de procéder.

Permettez-moi enfin de vous parler de la transparence et de
I'intégrité. C’est ce que jappellerais ma théorie du « chapeau
unique ». C’est une théorie qui veut que dans une restructuration
découlant d’un processus d’insolvabilité, chacun ne porte qu’un
seul chapeau.

Le président : Voulez-vous dire que tous les créanciers doivent
étre égaux?

M. Leonard : Non, mais permettez-moi de m’expliquer. Dans
plusieurs pays, les réclamations gouvernementales ne sont
plus prioritaires. Cette idée n’a pas semblé plaire au ministere la
derniére fois que je I’ai soulevée.

Le président : Le comité pourrait voir les choses autrement.

M. Leonard : En effet. C’est une tendance a laquelle nous
avons consacré un article.

Le président : Cet article se trouve-t-il dans votre mémoire?
M. Leonard : Non.

Le président : Pourriez-vous préciser pour le compte rendu de
quel article il s’agit?

M. Leonard : Il s’agit d’un article qui a été publié, et que je
peux transmettre au comité.

La transparence et I’équité renvoient au comportement qu’on
attend des administrations chargées du processus d’insolvabilité
et des représentants, des fiduciaires, des liquidateurs des biens,
des administrateurs-séquestres et des avocats. Le Canada
semble avoir tendance a permettre aux représentants en matiére
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capacity. There is no bright line test in the act to say, “If you have
one responsibility, your responsibility is to that group. Stick to it
and do your job for them and do not change hats, or do not wear
too many hats.” That summary is as simply as I can state it.

A good example was in the change between Bill C-49 and
Bill C-12. Originally, there was a prohibition against a trustee
acting for a secured creditor unless the trustee had an opinion
from an independent counsel that the secured creditor’s security
was okay. In the provision that was in Bill C-49 and has now been
changed, the solicitor who gave the opinion on the secured
creditor’s security was required to have no prior involvement with
the secured creditor for two years prior to giving the opinion.
The same sort of test exists for an auditor not being a trustee:
Two years of independence.

That was changed in Bill C-12. Now, the requirement is only
to be independent. That wording will be interpreted as being
independent of the secured creditor today, in terms of timeframe.
I do not know where that amendment came from, but it is a
retrograde step in terms of transparency and fairness in our
system.

Those submissions are my main ones. If the committee will
permit me one more reference, the conclusions in our submissions
are on pages 32 and 33. Then I have an appendix with some
technical things that people or the department can go into later.
That said, page 32 and 33 are our main conclusions.

David Ward, Counsel, International Insolvency Institute: In the
interests of time, I will not make a formal submission. It might be
productive to refer to the written submission that was filed.

In addition to the points that Mr. Leonard made, a section of
this paper deals with the adoption of the model law in countries
around the world. Significantly, the paper goes on to do two other
things that I commend to you, if there is an opportunity to go
through the paper.

The first is a section of the paper beginning at page 19 where
we compare and contrast the United States insolvency system —
which is a highly-developed insolvency system — to Canada’s.
There are seven particular areas where we think that the Canadian
system can borrow from the U.S. system; that we might take some
of the items in their system that work and consider them for
adoption within our own system. That section begins on page 19.

Then skipping to the end, Mr. Leonard mentioned that the
summary of the conclusions are on the final two pages,
pages 32 and 33. Of interest about the conclusions on
page 32 is our indication that they would be neutral to the
interests of reorganizing businesses and their creditors.

The point we are trying to make is that these changes should
not be particularly controversial because they do not deal with
large-priority issues and should not affect priorities or

d’insolvabilité d’agir a plus d’un titre, et a I'occasion a des titres
contradictoires. Il n’est dit ceci nulle part dans la loi : « Si une
responsabilité vous est confiée, acquittez-vous de cette
responsabilité a I’égard de votre groupe-client. Tenez-vous en a
cette responsabilité et ne changez pas de chapeau ou ne portez pas
trop de chapeaux en méme temps. » Voila la fagon la plus claire
de résumer la situation.

Je peux donner en exemple le changement qui est survenu
entre le projet de loi C-49 et le projet de loi C-12. Au départ, il
devait étre interdit a un fiduciaire de représenter un créancier
garanti a moins qu’un avocat indépendant n’ait attesté de la
validité du cautionnement du créancier garanti. Le projet de
loi C-49 prévoyait — ce qui a été modifié — que ’avocat donnant
cet avis sur le cautionnement du créancier garanti ne devait avoir
eu aucun lien avec ce créancier dans les deux années précédant cet
avis. Le méme critére s’applique au vérificateur qui n’est pas un
fiduciaire : deux années d’indépendance.

Cette disposition a été amendée dans le projet de
loi C-12. L’avocat doit maintenant seulement étre indépendant.
On interprétera cela comme voulant dire que I’avocat doit étre
indépendant aujourd’hui du créancier garanti. Je ne sais pas d’ou
vient cet amendement, mais il ne favorise pas la transparence ni
I’équité.

Voila quelles étaient mes principales recommandations. Je
renvoie le comité aux conclusions qui figurent dans notre
mémoire aux pages 32 et 33. Les représentants du ministére
pourront ensuite se pencher sur ’annexe qui aborde des questions
techniques. J’attire donc votre attention sur nos principales
conclusions.

David Ward, avocat, Institut international d’insolvabilité :
Comme nous manquons de temps, je ne ferai pas de déclaration
préliminaire officielle. Je vous renvoie a notre mémoire.

M. Leonard a déja parlé de I’adoption de la loi-type par divers
pays au monde. Notre mémoire comporte une section consacrée a
ce sujet. J'attire votre attention sur cette partie de notre mémoire.
Notre mémoire comporte aussi deux autres sections dont je vous
recommande la lecture.

Dans la premiére section, nous comparons le systéme
d’insolvabilité aux Etats-Unis — un systéme fort développé — a
celui du Canada. Nous pensons que le systéme canadien pourrait
faire sept emprunts au systéme américain. Il s’agit d’éléments de
leur systéme qui fonctionnent bien, et qu’il vaudrait la peine
d’envisager d’adopter. Cette section de notre mémoire débute a la
page 19.

M. Leonard a dit que le résumé de nos conclusions se trouve
aux pages 32 et 33. Je vous signale que les conclusions figurant a
la page 32 auraient une incidence neutre sur les intéréts des
entreprises faisant 1’objet de la réorganisation et sur leurs
créanciers.

Nous faisons valoir que ces changements ne devraient pas étre
particuliérement controversés parce qu’ils ne portent pas sur des
questions prioritaires, et ne devraient modifier d’aucune fagon les
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realizations. These changes are important but, to some extent,
they are procedural; they are things we would make the system
work better but are not particularly contentious.

The Chair: I will ask Senator Eyton if he has a point to make
that he discussed with me earlier today.

Senator Eyton: | must have a bad memory. I do not recall.

Senator Goldstein: Maybe the chair has a bad memory.

The Chair: The chair has an excellent memory.

Senator Eyton: I wanted to ask you about your membership.
I believe you said there are 61 members?

Mr. Leonard: There are 61 countries.

Senator Eyton: What kinds of skills and professions make up
that membership?

Mr. Leonard: Lawyers, accountants, academics, judges and a
few regulators would cover the area.

Senator Eyton: Therefore, you have a good perspective of
international practice and standards?

Mr. Leonard: We hope so.

Senator Eyton: How long has the organization been around?

Mr. Leonard: Eight years; it is relatively new.

Senator Eyton: A perpetual question for me is: Who does it
best? Who do you look at and say, “There is someone I would
like to emulate?” Who does it best, in your experience, given
that exposure?

Mr. Leonard: I am always reluctant to answer this question.
Senator Eyton: I am asking you.

Mr. Leonard: I have no alternative, then. For a variety of
reasons, I think the Americans do it best. Perhaps that is the
result of the resources they have available for studying legislation.
They undertake an enormous amount of background work.
That is why their bankruptcy act is six times as long as ours;
they want to make it fair. In making it fair, they have made
it complicated. It may be too debtor-friendly — there should
be a balance — but I think the best system is the U.S. one.

Senator Eyton: Is it consistent across the U.S. or are there
variations within the states?

Mr. Leonard: It is federal.

Senator Eyton: Are there no intervening provisions of the states
themselves?

Mr. Leonard: There is a federal pre-emption theory.

priorités ou le déroulement du processus. Il s’agit de changements
importants, mais qui concernent surtout la procédure. Ce sont des
changements qui ne sont pas particulierement controversés, mais
ils amélioreraient le systéme.

Le président : Je vais demander au sénateur Eyton s’il veut
traiter d’un point dont nous avons parlé plus tot aujourd’hui.

Le sénateur Eyton : Ma mémoire doit me jouer des tours, car je
ne me souviens pas du sujet dont nous aurions parlé.

Le sénateur Goldstein : C’est peut-étre la mémoire du président
qui lui joue des tours.

Le président : La présidence a une excellente mémoire.

Le sénateur Eyton: Je voulais vous demander combien
de membres compte votre institut. Je pense que vous avez
dit 61, n’est-ce pas?

M. Leonard : Soixante et un pays en sont membres.

Le sénateur Eyton : A quelles professions appartiennent vos
membres?

M. Leonard : Ils sont avocats, comptables, universitaires ou
juges. Il y a aussi quelques organismes de réglementation.

Le sénateur Eyton : Vous avez donc une bonne vue d’ensemble
des pratiques et des normes internationales?

M. Leonard : Nous I’espérons.

Le sénateur Eyton : Depuis combien de temps votre organisme
existe-t-il?

M. Leonard : Depuis huit ans. Il est relativement nouveau.

Le sénateur Eyton : Je me demande toujours quel est le meilleur
modele. A votre avis, de quel mode¢le devrions-nous nous inspirer?
D’apres votre expérience, quel est le meilleur systéme?

M. Leonard : J’hésite toujours a répondre a cette question.
Le sénateur Eyton : Je vous la pose.

M. Leonard : Dans ce cas-la, je n’ai d’autre choix que d’y
répondre. Pour un ensemble de raisons, je crois que c’est le
systéme américain qui est le meilleur. C’est peut-étre en raison des
ressources dont on dispose dans ce pays pour étudier les lois. Les
Américains font beaucoup de recherche de fond. Voila pourquoi
leur loi en matiére de faillite est six fois plus longue que la nétre.
Les Américains veulent s’assurer que la loi est équitable. En
voulant la rendre équitable, ils I'ont compliquée. Elle penche
peut-étre trop en faveur des débiteurs. Il faudrait un équilibre.
Je crois cependant que le meilleur systéme, c’est le systéme
américain.

Le sénateur Eyton : Est-ce le méme systéme dans tous les
Etats-Unis, ou y a-t-il des variantes dans chaque Etat?

M. Leonard : Le systéme est fédéral.

Le sénateur Eyton : Les Etats n’ont-ils pas eux-mémes adopté
des dispositions dans ce domaine?

M. Leonard : C’est la doctrine de la suprématie du
gouvernement fédéral qui s’applique.
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Senator Eyton: You have talked, and very nicely, about the
three issues you wanted to table today: the international features,
creditor participation and transparency.

I have seen corporate restructuring on both ends — the good
side and bad side — and it seems to me the conclusion coming out
of almost any experience I know of in Canada is that one of the
singular problems to the proceedings under bankruptcy or
insolvency legislation is the time delay and the administrative
cost. I know this subject was not on your agenda, but please
answer if you can.

Do we have good numbers on our experience here in Canada
relative to, for example, the U.S., who you say may do it better?
You mention that ordinary creditors often receive not a dime.
Much of that disappears due to the costs of the court system, the
lawyers involved and the accounting firms involved, particularly
when they go into possession and try to manage a business they
are not experts in, or familiar with. The result is overall disaster
and high economic cost. Do you have any kind of numbers about
our performance overall relative to other jurisdictions?

Mr. Leonard: There is nothing empirical that is really
comprehensive. 1 have anecdotal experience. I do not think
there is any question that the American system takes longer and is
more expensive. The flip side of that is: If you want transparency,
fairness and an even hand with an impartial court, these things
will happen. If you expose more issues to the court, there will be
more litigation and more things will be argued in court.

Senator Eyton: To be precise then: On average, what
percentage of the total estate or value would be taken up with
administrative costs of one kind or another?

Mr. Leonard: There is information. I do not have it at my
fingertips. The number that I normally look to is what unsecured
creditors in a Chapter 11 bankruptcy receive. They have only their
negotiating position, therefore what do they receive? Senator
Goldstein will have his own views. My guess is somewhere
between 10 cents and 15 cents, which does not sound like a lot,
but if they are receive zero in another system —

Senator Eyton: I wanted to move up the scale and find out
what the administrative costs were. Then, those costs results in the
number you are talking about. I think the number would be
interesting.

Mr. Leonard: It would be interesting. One of our members in
Los Angeles has a interesting website where he tracks large
Chapter 11 bankruptcies and how long they have been in the
process, when they came out, how they came out and whether
they re-file. If anyone is interested, I can direct them to it. That
source is the best empirical one out there.

Senator Eyton: Are there other jurisdictions where
bankruptcies take place outside a formal or legal court system?

Le sénateur Eyton: Vous avez parlé avec beaucoup
d’éloquence des trois questions sur lesquelles vous vouliez
attirer notre attention aujourd’hui, a savoir les aspects
internationaux, la participation des créanciers et la transparence.

Jai été le témoin tant des bons cotés que des mauvais cotés de
la restructuration des entreprises. Je crois que la conclusion que
I’on peut tirer de presque toutes les restructurations qui ont eu
lieu au Canada, c’est que les principales difficultés liées a la mise
en oeuvre de la législation en matiére de faillites et d’insolvabilité
sont liées a la lenteur du processus et a son cofit. Je sais que vous
n’avez pas abordé ce sujet, mais je vous demande de bien vouloir
répondre de toute fagon a ma question.

La situation est-elle positive au Canada par rapport a celle qui
prévaut aux Etats-Unis, qui selon vous, ont un meilleur systéme
que le nétre? Vous avez dit que les créanciers ordinaires ne
touchent souvent pas un seul sou. Il ne reste d’ailleurs pas
grand-chose quand on tient compte des frais juridiques, des
honoraires des avocats et des comptables, particulierement
lorsqu’on essaie de gérer une entreprise qui ne nous est pas
familiere. La situation méne a un désastre trés colteux. Avez-vous
des chiffres a nous donner qui pourraient nous permettre de
comparer ce qui se passe ici a ce qui se passe dans d’autres pays?

M. Leonard : Il n’existe pas de données empiriques vraiment
complétes. Je ne peux vous donner que quelques exemples. Je
crois qu’il va sans dire que le systéme américain est lent et
colteux. Par ailleurs, il est transparent et équitable, et le tribunal
est impartial. Plus la transparence est grande devant le tribunal,
plus il y aura des sujets de litige, et plus les procédures juridiques
seront longues.

Le sénateur Eyton : Permettez-moi d’étre plus précis. En
moyenne, quel pourcentage de la valeur totale de Ientreprise
part en frais administratifs?

M. Leonard : Cette information existe. Je ne 1’ai pas avec moi.
Ce que je cherche habituellement a établir, c’est ce qu’obtiennent
les créanciers non garantis en cas de faillite procédant du Chapitre
11. Comme ces créanciers n’ont que leur position de négociation,
qu’obtiennent-ils? Le sénateur Goldstein aura son propre point de
vue la-dessus. Je crois que c’est entre 10 et 15 sous, ce qui peut
sembler peu, mais ils n’obtiennent rien du tout dans d’autres
systémes.

Le sénateur Eyton : Je voudrais savoir a combien s’é¢lévent
les frais administratifs. On pourrait ensuite les comparer aux
chiffres que vous citez. Je pense que cette comparaison serait
intéressante.

M. Leonard : En effet. L’un de nos membres de Los Angeles a
aménagé un site Web intéressant sur lequel il suit les faillites
procédant du Chapitre 11. Il indique quelle en a été I'issue et
combien de temps elles ont duré. Je peux vous donner I’adresse du
site si cela vous intéresse. C’est sur ce site qu'on trouve les
meilleures données empiriques.

Le sénateur Eyton : Existe-t-il des pays ou les faillites sont
réglées en dehors des tribunaux?
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Mr. Leonard: Yes, the American system is probably the most
court intensive in the world. To improve ours, we should not go
all the way to the Americans system. The European countries
make a lot of their arrangements outside their court, but I am not
sure why. It is only an observation.

Senator Massicotte: I will talk about the big picture. Obviously,
we proceed under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act,
CCAA, and the reorganizations because someone decided in
their wisdom that it is in the economic interest of the country
to reorganize companies when they are insolvent to maximize
employment and economic growth. We buy that argument.
When you identify the best country, I presume one of your
criteria is: What system allows the recovery or maximization of
those terms going forward?

Let us talk about the competitors. Air Canada and certain
other companies that have come out of CCAA can come clean,
especially companies that require a significantly higher level of
leveraging and financing. They rid themselves of their bad
contracts, leases and employment contracts possibly. In fact,
Air Canada employees say they were shafted in the process.
I appreciate what they did but, in fairness, what about the
competitors? Sometimes competitors complain that the process
is unfair and unless they can go back, they will lose all their
equity because they do not have the same operating costs as
their competitor. There seems to be a fairness issue. How do you
deal with it? I suspect that, irrespective of that deemed unfairness,
it is still in the country’s interest to permit the CCAAs. Perhaps
you can educate us on that issue.

Mr. Leonard: I do not think anyone has found a way to solve
that problem. The issue arose in the late 1980s and 1990s when
virtually the entire airline industry was in chapter 11 bankruptcy,
except for American Airlines. They were flying, making money
and paying taxes while all the others were operating and not
paying their pre-filing debts. That situation was regarded as
unfair, and, in a sense, it was unfair. I do not think anyone has
found the answer to that problem.

Senator Massicotte: The answer in that industry was, everyone
was doing it constantly. They gained a competitive advantage by
claiming bankruptcy every five years.

Mr. Leonard: 1 do not think there is an answer we can
structuralize. It is a problem. American Airlines spent a great deal
of time complaining about the process because they were the last
company left. No one, to my knowledge, has come up with a
theory of how to solve the problem.

The Chair: Against my normal policy, I will take the liberty of
asking one question. It seems clear that you favour the U.S.
system to our system, or to what is embodied in this recent
legislation. I understand that after World War II when Japan was

M. Leonard : C’est vrai que le systéme américain est sans doute
celui qui fait le plus appel aux tribunaux dans le monde. Si nous
voulons améliorer notre systéme, nous ne devrions pas adopter le
systéme américain sans le modifier. Dans les pays européens, un
grand nombre de faillites se réglent en dehors des tribunaux, mais
je ne sais pas exactement pourquoi. Ce n’est qu’'une observation.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Je voudrais parler du tableau
d’ensemble. De toute évidence, si notre systéme repose sur la
Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies, la
LACC, c’est que quelqu’un a décidé dans sa sagesse qu’il était
préférable sur le plan économique que les entreprises qui sont
insolvables se restructurent pour optimiser les perspectives
d’emploi et la croissance économique. Nous acceptons ce
raisonnement. Lorsque vous dites qu’un systéme est meilleur
que lautre, je suppose que vous tenez compte de ces deux
facteurs?

Parlons maintenant des concurrents. Air Canada et d’autres
entreprises qui ont été restructurées en vertu de la LACC peuvent
faire le ménage, en particulier les sociétés qui ont besoin
d’augmenter leur financement. Elles se débarrassent le plus
possible de leurs mauvais contrats, de leurs baux et de leurs
contrats d’emploi. En fait, les employés d’Air Canada ont dit
qu’ils avaient été floués. Je comprends ce qu’on a fait, mais qu’en
est-il des concurrents? Les concurrents se plaignent parfois de
I'injustice du processus et craignent de perdre tout leur avoir
propre parce que leurs colits de fonctionnement ne sont pas les
mémes que leurs concurrents. Il semble exister un probléme
d’équité. Comment le regle-t-on? Abstraction faite de ce
probléme, je crois qu’il est toujours dans l'intérét du pays de
permettre le recours a la LACC. Vous pouvez peut-étre nous
éclairer sur cette question.

M. Leonard : Je ne pense pas qu’on soit parvenu a régler ce
probléme. Il s’est posé a la fin des années 1980 et 1990 quand
presque toute I'industrie des transports aériens, sauf American
Airlines, était sous le coup de faillites procédant du Chapitre 11.
Cette société a poursuivi ses activités, a fait des bénéfices et payait
ses impots pendant que d’autres sociétés, qui poursuivaient
également leurs activités, ne remboursaient pas leurs dettes.
Cette situation a été jugée injuste, et elle I’était dans un certain
sens. Je ne pense pas qu’on ait trouvé une facon de régler le
probléme.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Dans cette industrie, toutes les sociétés
se déclaraient en faillite constamment. Elles obtenaient un
avantage concurrentiel en déclarant faillite tous les cinq ans.

M. Leonard : Je ne pense pas qu’il y ait une solution que nous
puissions officialiser. C’est effectivement un probléme. American
Airlines s’est beaucoup plaint du processus parce que c’était la
derniére société a demeurer sur le marché. A ma connaissance,
personne n’a proposé de solution a ce probléme.

Le président : Contrairement a mon habitude, je me permettrai
de poser une question. Il semble clair que vous préférez le systéme
américain au nétre, ou du moins a ce qui est proposé dans cette
loi. Je crois savoir qu’apres la Seconde Guerre mondiale, le Japon,
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restructured, their new insolvency regimes were based on the U.S.
system — in particular, the Chapter 11 regime.

When government officials appeared before the committee,
their evidence showed that a policy decision was made not to
adopt the U.S. system. We have had many questions in this
committee about that decision. The U.S. Chapter 11 regime has a
high profile. Even if one is not a bankruptcy expert like yourself
or like Senator Goldstein, one is familiar with the concept of
Chapter 11 bankruptcy. It has always seemed to me to make a
great deal of sense.

The public policy that led to drafting these laws was developed
following an intensive study of all stakeholders, followed by a
study by this committee, advised as we were at the time by
Senator Goldstein. I believe that you were here to assist us,
Mr. Leonard. Are you saying they have it wrong; they might want
to rethink the public policy and adopt the U.S. system, especially
in the interests of uniformity between neighbours?

Mr. Leonard: I do not need to go that far. I am interested in
having the best possible system in Canada — developed in
Canada and reflecting Canadian values and judgments. That
system is my ideal. Resources have never been dedicated to reach
that ideal, and so we are left to build our own wonderful system
by picking policy pieces from other countries where the system
works, and adapting them. However, we could build a system
ourselves if we had the resources.

This committee has done much, if not all, of the valuable
legislative work in this area. My submission is that the committee
take on a longer term role, if possible, in developing and
improving our insolvency legislation. This committee is the most
talented group, I believe, in this town for accomplishing that task.
The committee would have the support of the private sector. It
would be a wonderful task for the committee to take on.

I will draw an analogy. In about 1972, Canada started
reforming its personal property security legislation. We
wondered who had personal property security systems that
work. The answer is, next door. Uniform Commercial Code,
UCC, article 9 is the best legislation because they spent 20 years
developing it. We do not care that it is American; it works.

All of our provinces and territories now have a variation of
the UCC article 9, and Ontario has adopted UCC article 2,
without calling it that. There should be no pride in not adopting
something from the United States simply because it is American.
If something works and suits our goals and objectives, then we
should look at it. I would like this committee to look at it.

The Chair: Thank you for your kind comments about the
committee. In our report, we can submit to the Senate that we
might want to rethink our findings in 2003.

lorsqu’il s’est restructuré, a adopté un régime d’insolvabilité
s’apparentant au régime américain, en particulier en ce qui touche
le Chapitre 11.

Lorsque les représentants du gouvernement ont comparu
devant le comité, il est ressorti de leur témoignage que la
décision de ne pas adopter le systéme américain était une décision
de principe. Les membres de ce comité ont posé beaucoup de
questions. Le systéme américain procédant du Chapitre 11 est
bien connu. Méme ceux qui ne sont pas des spécialistes des faillite
comme vous-méme ou comme le sénateur Goldstein, connaissent
le concept d’une faillite aux termes du Chapitre 11. Ce systéme a
toujours paru logique.

La décision de principe qui a mené a 1’élaboration de ces lois
découle d’une étude intensive de tous les intervenants, qui a été
suivie par une étude de ce comité, conseillé a ’époque par le
sénateur Goldstein. Je crois que vous avez aussi participé a cette
étude, monsieur Leonard. Pensez-vous qu’une erreur a été
commise, qu’il faudrait revenir sur la décision de principe qui a
été prise a I’époque et qu’il faudrait adopter le systéme américain,
pour des raisons duniformité?

M. Leonard : Je n’en demande pas tant. Je veux que le Canada
se dote du meilleur systéme possible, un systéme qui reflete
ses valeurs. Voila mon idéal. Nous n’avons jamais affecté les
ressources voulues a 1’élaboration d’un tel systéme. Voila
pourquoi nous devons choisir des éléments d’autres systémes
pour les adapter a nos besoins. Nous pourrions cependant
élaborer notre propre systéme si nous avions les ressources a
consentir a cette fin.

C’est ce comité qui a fait la majorité, voire la totalité, du bon
travail 1égislatif accompli dans ce domaine. Je recommande que le
comité participe si possible de fagon continue a I’élaboration et a
Pamélioration de notre législation en matiére d’insolvabilité. Je
crois que ce comité regroupe les personnes les plus compétentes
pour le faire. Le comité jouirait de I'appui du secteur privé. C’est
une merveilleuse tdche que le comité pourrait entreprendre.

Je vais faire une analogie. Autour de 1972, le Canada a
entrepris de réformer sa législation en matiére de shretés
mobiliéres. Nous nous sommes demandés qui avait le meilleur
systéme dans ce domaine. Ce sont les Etats-Unis. Le Code
commercial uniforme, le CCU, et notamment ’article 9, est la
meilleure loi dans ce domaine parce qu’elle est le fruit de 20 ans
de réflexion. Peu importe que le systéme soit américain, il
fonctionne.

Presque toutes les provinces et les territoires ont maintenant
adopté une variante de I'article 9 du CCU. L’Ontario, pour sa
part, a adopté I'article 2 du CCU sans I’appeler de cette fagon. On
ne devrait pas avoir honte d’adopter un systéme américain
simplement parce qu’il est américain. Si un systéme fonctionne et
répond a nos objectifs, nous devrions ’examiner. J’aimerais que le
comité le fasse.

Le président : Je vous remercie de I’estime dans laquelle vous
tenez le comité. Nous pourrions indiquer dans notre rapport que
nous aimerions revenir sur nos conclusions de 2003.
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Senator Goldstein: s it fair to say, Mr. Leonard, that the
provisions of the model law that we did not adopt are, by and
large, provisions that deal with the status of a personal
representative before the courts? The answer in my mind is that
our court system, both common law and civil law, does not
require an additional conferring of status because that status
already exists. Therefore, it seems to me that the reasoning of the
department in not adopting those 12 sections is that fully 10 of
them deal solely with the status of personal representatives.

Mr. Leonard: I have difficulty agreeing with that position.
You can go down the list on pages 16 and 17 of the material.
On page 16, item (d) was not adopted and it provides for
the availability of additional assistance to a representative.
The U.S. and the U.K. are okay with that provision, but we
took it out.

Senator Goldstein: Do we not have that assistance available
without this provision? That is the point I am trying to make.

Mr. Leonard: I guess you could make the case that there are
elements of what we deleted.

Senator Goldstein: Is that true of most of those provisions?
I raise the question because I do not want people around the
table or people listening to think that the model law, which
is an excellent piece of work, was so badly amputated by the
Canadian legislator that it cannot work anymore. That is not
the case.

Mr. Leonard: I would be more persuaded if the government
had said, with regard to these deletions, “They are covered
in X section, so we do not need them here.” The U.S. and the
U.K. had the same situation.

Senator Goldstein: You do not need a legislator to tell you that
information. You know it.

Mr. Leonard: I am a fan of uniformity. We led the process and
we voted for it. I cannot see any principled reason not to have it in
Canada.

Senator Goldstein: With respect to Mr. Ward’s presentation,
his observation was that all the suggestions made in your excellent
submission are suggestions that are not policy change suggestions
but rather streamlining and procedure-easing suggestions. That
view is encouraging.

The Chair: Thank you, gentlemen. We all appreciate your
appearing today. We will take your comments and submissions
into careful consideration when we prepare our report.

We welcome our witnesses from the Canadian Association
of Insolvency and Restructuring Professionals. We have with
us Alan H. Spergel, Chair; and Guylaine Houle, Bankruptcy
Trustee, Pierre Roy and Associates Inc. We look forward to
your presentation. I will not summarize the purpose of this
meeting. I hope listeners on television and the Internet will
be in sync with the proceedings that have already taken place
this afternoon.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Peut-on dire, monsieur Leonard, que
les dispositions de la loi-type que nous n’avons pas adoptées
avaient surtout trait au statut du représentant personnel devant
les tribunaux? A mon avis, notre systéme de tribunaux, que ce soit
en common law ou en droit civil, n’a pas besoin d’un autre
intervenant. Je crois donc que ce qui a incité le ministére a ne pas
adopter ces 12 articles, c’est que 10 d’entre eux traitent
exclusivement des représentants personnels.

M. Leonard : J’ai du mal a accepter cette position. Vous
pouvez regarder la liste qui figure aux pages 16 et 17 du mémoire.
Le point (d), a la page 16, n’a pas été adopté et il traite de la
prestation d’aide supplémentaire a un représentant. Cette
disposition convenait aux Etats-Unis et au Royaume-Uni, mais
ne nous convenait pas a nous.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Cette aide n’est-elle pas disponible de
toute fagon? C’est ce que je fais valoir.

M. Leonard : Je suppose qu’on pourrait soutenir que certains
des éléments que nous avons supprimés existent déja.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Cela ne vaut-il pas pour la plupart des
dispositions? Je pose la question parce que je ne voudrais pas que
les personnes ici présentes ou que ceux qui nous écoutent pensent
que la loi-type, qui est excellente, a été a ce point éviscérée par le
législateur canadien qu’elle ne peut plus fonctionner. Ce n’est pas
le cas.

M. Leonard : Je trouverais ce raisonnement plus convaincant si
le gouvernement avait justifié ces suppressions d’une fagon ou
d’une autre. Les Etats-Unis étaient dans le méme cas.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Vous n’avez pas besoin qu'un
législateur vous le confirme. Vous le savez.

M. Leonard : Je suis un partisan de I'uniformité. Nous avons
dirigé le processus et nous nous y sommes prononcés favorables.
Je ne vois vraiment pas ce qui explique que nous n’ayons pas
adopté la loi-type telle quelle au Canada.

Le sénateur Goldstein : M. Ward a fait remarquer que toutes
les suggestions qui se trouvent dans votre excellent mémoire sont
des suggestions qui ne représentent pas des changements de
principe, mais qui visent plutot a simplifier le processus. C’est
rassurant.

Le président : Nous vous sommes reconnaissants d’avoir
comparu devant nous aujourd’hui. Nous accorderons a vos
observations et a vos recommandations toute ’attention qu’elles
méritent au moment de la rédaction de notre rapport.

Nous accueillons maintenant des représentants de
I’Association canadienne des professionnels de I'insolvabilité et
de la réorganisation. Je souhaite la bienvenue a M. Alan H.
Spergel, président, et a Mme Guylaine Houle, syndic en matiére
de faillite, Pierre Roy et associés inc. Nous attendons avec
impatience d’entendre votre déclaration préliminaire. Je ne
résumerai pas maintenant I’'objet de cette réunion. J’espére que
ceux qui suivent nos travaux a la télévision et par Internet savent
déja comment s’est déroulée la séance jusqu’a maintenant.



14-2-2008

Banques et commerce

8:33

Alan H. Spergel, Chair, Canadian Association of Insolvency
and Restructuring Professionals: 1 will open with a few remarks
and then defer to my colleague who will make specific
presentations contained in our brief.

The Chair: We have your brief. It forms part of our
proceedings. This brief is dated February 13, 2008. 1 believe
you have been before us already on this same exercise. Am
I correct?

Mr. Spergel: My association has been before you. Unlike the
previous appearance, where we discussed corporate issues
primarily, this afternoon we will focus on personal insolvency
issues. There is a difference in our presentation this afternoon.

The Chair: I am pleased you made that distinction. There was
controversy amongst the stakeholders as to why we gave you two
kicks at the can. The fact is, you are dealing with two entirely
different aspects of the subject matter. We are interested in the
individual bankruptcy aspects.

Mr. Spergel: Appearing with me is my colleague, Ms. Houle,
a past Secretary-Treasurer of our association. CAIRP, as we
are known, is the national organization representing insolvency
and restructuring professionals. Our 880 general members
are identified by the certification mark, chartered insolvency
restructuring professional, CIRP. That certification is gained
through a combination of study, work experience and licensing
as a trustee in bankruptcy. Our association applauds the
Senate’s passage of Bill C-55, now Bill C-47, and, most recently,
Bill C-12, now Bill C-36. We strongly supported adoption of
the insolvency reform legislation. Indeed, our association
contributed to its elaboration at every stage of the process.

We are pleased that your committee continues its review and
we thank you for the opportunity to testify further today.

Today, our submission focuses on personal insolvency issues.
While the reform legislation certainly improves the options for
individuals seeking rehabilitation, we believe that certain
provisions, if amended, would enhance the fairness and
efficiency of the insolvency process. Before discussing the
substance of the legislation, our association wishes once again
to propose a name change for the Bankruptcy and Insolvency
Act, BIA, so that it better reflects the nature of many current
insolvency engagements. We would like to see it named the
Canadian Insolvency and Restructuring Act, or CIRA.

Today, a chartered insolvency and restructuring professional
may be appointed to assume a wide variety of functions governed
by the BIA such as proposal trustee, proposal administrator,
trustee in bankruptcy, interim receiver, court appointed receiver
and private receiver.

Alan H. Spergel, président, Association canadienne des
professionnels de I’insolvabilité et de la réorganisation : Je dirai
d’abord quelques mots, et je céderai ensuite la parole a ma
collégue, qui traitera de quelques points particuliers de notre
mémoire.

Le président : Nous avons déja votre mémoire daté
du 13 février 2008. 11 fait partie de notre compte rendu. Si je ne
m’abuse, votre organisme a déja comparu devant nous dans le
cadre de cette étude.

M. Spergel : Notre association a en effet déja comparu devant
le comité. La derniere fois, nous avons surtout abordé la question
du point de vue des entreprises, mais cet aprés-midi, nous
traiterons plutét de I'insolvabilité personnelle. Nous n’allons pas
vous répéter la méme chose.

Le président : Je suis heureux de vous I’entendre dire parce que
certains intervenants se demandaient pourquoi nous vous
donnions de nouveau I’occasion de comparaitre devant nous.
En fait, vous allez maintenant traiter d’un aspect tout a fait
différent du sujet a I’étude. Nous nous intéressons aussi a la
question des faillites personnelles.

M. Spergel : Ma collegue, Mme Houle, est une ancienne
secrétaire-trésoriere de notre association. L’ACPIR, comme
on nous appelle, est I'organisme national représentant les
professionnels de l'insolvabilité et de la réorganisation.
Nos 880 membres réguliers portent le titre de professionnels
agréés de I'insolvabilité et de la restructuration. Le titre de CIRP
atteste que son titulaire a fait certaines études, posséde une
expérience professionnelle particuli¢re et est agréé comme syndic
de faillite. Notre association félicite le Sénat d’avoir adopté le
projet de loi C-55, maintenant le projet de loi C-47, et plus
récemment, le projet de loi C-12, maintenant le projet de
loi C-36. Nous étions complétement favorables a la réforme de
la législation en matiére d’insolvabilité. Notre association a
d’ailleurs collaboré a toutes les étapes de ce processus.

Nous sommes heureux que votre comité poursuive son étude,
et nous vous remercions de ’occasion que vous nous donnez de
comparaitre de nouveau devant vous.

Aujourd’hui, nous allons surtout traiter de I’insolvabilité
personnelle. Si la réforme entreprise améliore certainement les
choix s’offrant aux personnes souhaitant se réhabiliter, nous
estimons qu’en amendant certaines dispositions, on améliorerait
I’équité et efficience du processus d’insolvabilité. Avant d’entrer
dans le vif du sujet, notre association souhaite proposer un
nouveau nom pour la Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité, la LFI.
Nous voudrions ainsi que le titre de la loi refléte mieux la nature
de nombreux engagements actuels en matiére d’insolvabilité.
Nous aimerions que la loi s’appelle la Loi canadienne sur
I'insolvabilité et la réorganisation ou la LCIR.

Aujourd’hui, les professionnels agréés de I'insolvabilité et de la
réorganisation peuvent étre nommeés, aux termes de la LFI, pour
remplir tout un ensemble de fonctions dont celles de fiduciaire et
d’administrateur de proposition, de syndic de faillite, de séquestre
intérimaire, de séquestre nommé par le tribunal et de séquestre
privé.
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While all these appointments fall under the BIA, the act’s
title does not indicate this wide variety of potential roles. Also, the
title does not reflect the shift in Canadian policy towards
restructuring and rehabilitating both companies and individuals.
Since bankruptcy has now become the final option of indebted
companies and individuals, we should no longer be guided by an
act whose title suggests that bankruptcy is its primary purpose.

It is noteworthy that in the U.K., upon whose system our
insolvency legislation is based, the relevant laws are known today
as the Insolvency Act, 1986, which has since been amended
several times, and the Enterprise Act, 2002. No mention is made
of bankruptcy.

Moreover, if the BIA were to become the CIRA, perhaps the
name would no longer deter financially-stricken companies
and individuals from seeking help before it is too late. We do
not want to scare individuals or companies away from seeking
our services by continuing the use of bankruptcy terminology
in the title of the legislation. After all, hospitals do not overtly
advertise their morgues, and dentists do not advertise extractions.
Our members would prefer to become known as insolvency and
restructuring professionals rather than trustees in bankruptcy.
This name change would be in the public interest.

At the moment, insolvent individuals seek help from
many unscrupulous, untrained and unprofessional advisors.
We are perceived as offering only a service of last resort —
bankruptcy — and are often consulted only after financial
charlatans have used up all available credit for consulting fees,
and no further options are available other than bankruptcy.

We believe that the removal of the term “bankruptcy” from the
legislation’s title would be a tremendous step in encouraging
debtors to seek help from extensively trained and regulated
professionals.

Finally, I draw the committee’s attention to three personal
insolvency issues highlighted in our executive summary to be
presented by Ms. Houle.

[Translation)

Guylaine Houle, Bankruptcy trustee, Pierre Roy and Associates
Inc., Canadian Association of Insolvency and Restructuring
Professionals: Mr. Chair, the first aspect of personal insolvency
we wish to speak to deals with student loans.

Although amended, the provisions still seem to us unduly
harsh for former students who are struggling with their debt
burden.

Si toutes ces nominations sont faites en vertu de la LFI, le titre
de la loi ne refléte pas I’ensemble des réles que les professionnels
de notre domaine sont appelés a jouer. Le titre de la loi ne refléte
pas non plus le fait que 'on souhaite désormais privilégier au
Canada la réorganisation et la réhabilitation tant des entreprises
que des particuliers. Etant donné que la faillite est maintenant
devenue une solution de dernier recours pour les entreprises
et les particuliers endettés, il ne convient plus que le titre de la
loi pertinente donne a entendre que son principal objet est
I’encadrement des faillites.

Mentionnons que le systéme en place au Royaume-Uni, qui est
la source d’inspiration de notre propre systéme, se fonde sur des
lois aujourd’hui appelées la Insolvency Act, 1986, qui a été
modifiée plusieurs fois depuis lors, et la Enterprise Act, 2002. I1
n’est nullement mention dans le titre de ces lois des faillites.

En outre, si la LFI devenait la LCIR, il se peut que le nom
méme de la loi ne dissuade plus les entreprises et les particuliers
connaissant de graves difficultés de demander de I’aide avant
qu’il ne soit trop tard. Nous ne voulons pas que le titre méme
de la loi repousse les particuliers et les entreprises qui auraient
besoin de nos services. Aprés tout, les hopitaux ne font pas
ouvertement la promotion de leurs morgues, et les dentistes
n’insistent pas non plus sur le fait qu’ils arrachent des dents.
Nos membres préféreraient qu’on les appelle des professionnels
de I'insolvabilité et de la réorganisation plutét que des syndics de
faillite. Ce changement de nom serait dans I'intérét général.

A Theure actuelle, les particuliers insolvables cherchent de
l’aide auprés de nombreux conseillers non professionnels, non
formés et peu scrupuleux. Nous sommes percus comme des
spécialistes n’offrant qu’un service de dernier recours, celui de la
faillite, et le failli ne nous consulte souvent qu’aprés que des
charlatans financiers lui aient soutiré ses derniéres ressources, et
que lorsque la seule option qui reste est celle de la faillite.

Nous pensons que le retrait du terme « faillite » du titre de la
loi encouragerait grandement les débiteurs a demander de 1’aide
aupres de professionnels adéquatement formés et réglementés.

Enfin, jattire I’attention du comité sur trois questions liées a
I'insolvabilité personnelle qui sont traitées dans notre sommaire,
et dont vous parlera Mme Houle.

[Frangais)

Guylaine Houle, syndic en matiére de faillite, Pierre Roy et
associés inc., I’Association canadienne des professionnels de
Pinsolvabilité et de la réorganisation : Monsieur le président, le
premier aspect de la solvabilité personnelle que nous aimerions
aborder concerne les préts étudiants.

Méme aprées les modifications, les dispositions nous semblent
encore indiment sévéres a l’endroit des anciens étudiants qui
ploient sous le fardeau de leurs dettes.
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We also wonder why students who are in dire straits financially
should not be allowed to at least bring their case before a judge
for adjudication and potential relief. We support without
reservation the more generous provisions contained in Senator
Goldstein’s Bill C-205.

As far as registered retirement savings plans are concerned,
we agree that, on a basis of fairness, RRSPs and RRIFs should be
treated the same as pensions. However, we endorse the anti-abuse
provision requiring that RRSPs that are exempt from
garnishment under the act be locked-in to ensure these funds
are used for retirement purposes only.

The last point we draw your attention to relates to owed
income tax. One of the reasons behind the 1992 amendments
made to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act was to put Crown
claims on an equal footing with other creditors’ claims. We
believe that the Canada Revenue Agency — and Revenu Québec
for those who practice in Quebec — already have sufficient
collection powers without giving them the additional preferential
treatment that is being considered in this reform. If anything,
this preferential treatment shouldn’t be the sole prerogative
of the Canada Revenue Agency or Revenu Québec, but should
also be granted to all other creditors in the same situation.

Honourable senators, my colleague and I are now ready to
answer your questions.

[English)
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Houle. We will move to questions.

Senator Moore: I will ask about your recommendation in your
written presentation on the period of discharge for student debt.
When we reviewed this law in 2003, the time period was 10 years.
Almost everyone who came before us at that time recommended
five years, including the banks. Most everyone suggested that five
years was a reasonable length of time.

Ms. Houle, you say that seven years is too long and five years
is too long to wait for relief in cases of hardship. We had a
provision whereby hardship cases could be looked at sooner,
did we not?

Senator Goldstein: We asked for a report looking at the
legislation.

Senator Moore: Yes, Ms. Houle, you recommend that in cases
of hardship, this issue should be dealt with at the bankrupt’s
hearings and be dealt with immediately.

You have supported Senator Goldstein’s private member’s bill
for two years. You seem to say here that five years is not be so
bad if hardship cases can be dealt with before that five years.
Your organization was here in 2003 and you were in the five-year

Nous nous demandons aussi pourquoi les étudiants en graves
difficultés financiéres ne peuvent pas au moins s’adresser a un
juge pour obtenir une certaine forme d’allégement. Nous
appuyons en totalité les modalités plus indulgentes du projet de
loi C-205 du sénateur Goldstein.

Les régimes épargnes enregistrés de retraite : il est tout a fait
équitable que les REER et les FEER soient traités au méme titre
que les pensions. Mais nous endossons la disposition anti-abus
exigeant que les REER exempts de saisis aux termes de la loi
soient immobilisés, afin de s’assurer que les fonds ne serviront
qu’a des fins de retraite.

Notre dernier point concerne les dettes d’impo6t sur le revenu.
Lun des raisonnements, qui sous-tendait les modifications de
1992 a la Loi sur la faillite et 'insolvabilité, visait a mettre les
réclamations de la Couronne sur un pied d’égalité avec celles des
autres créanciers. A notre avis, I’Agence du revenu du Canada —
et le ministére du Revenu du Québec, pour ceux qui pratiquent au
Québec — détient déja suffisamment de pouvoir de recouvrement
sans y ajouter ceux d’un traitement spécial que lui accorde la
réforme actuelle de la loi. A tout le moins, ce traitement spécial ne
devrait pas étre I’'apanage de I’Agence de revenu du Canada ou du
ministére du Revenu du Québec, mais il devrait étre au moins
consenti a tous les créanciers dans la méme situation.

Honorables sénateurs, mon collégue et moi sommes a votre
disposition pour vos questions.

[Traduction]

Le président : Je vous remercie, madame Houle. Jouvre
maintenant la période de questions.

Le sénateur Moore : J’aimerais vous poser une question sur la
recommandation qui figure dans votre mémoire a I’égard de la
période d’attente pour la libération des préts d’études. Au
moment ou nous avons examiné cette loi en 2003, cette période
était de 10 ans. Presque tous les témoins qui ont alors comparu
devant nous ont recommandé une période de cinq ans, y compris
les banques. Presque tous les témoins ont dit penser que cinq ans
était raisonnable.

Madame Houle, en cas de graves difficultés, vous dites que sept
ans, et que méme cinq ans, c’est trop long. N’avions-nous pas
proposé que le cas d’un étudiant éprouvant de graves difficultés
puisse étre revu plus tot?

Le sénateur Goldstein : Nous avons demandé qu’un examen de
la loi soit fait.

Le sénateur Moore : Madame Houle, vous avez recommandé
qu'en cas de difficultés graves, cette question soit réglée

immédiatement lors de I’audience sur la demande de libération
du failli.

Vous appuyez depuis deux ans le projet de loi d’initiative
parlementaire du sénateur Goldstein. Vous semblez dire que la
période de cinq ans est acceptable s’il est possible de régler plus
tot les cas de difficultés graves. Lorsque votre organisme a
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group then, so you have changed. Tell us about that. You have
gone from five to two.

Mr. Spergel: You need to look at the genesis of how the
student loan provisions came about. We are lucky to have
Ms. Houle here today because she sat on the personal insolvency
task force, which was comprised of almost all the stakeholders in
the insolvency process. I will let her give you her firsthand recount
of what transpired in those discussions and how we arrived at the
five-year period and at the two-year period today, agreeing with
Senator Goldstein’s bill today.

Ms. Houle: To put it in the fewest words possible, we would
love to have no time — zero. The organization sees no reason
under the act to treat a student loan as a different kind of loan.
That is our position. We strongly believe that the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Act is in place to treat all unsecured creditors equally.
That principle is the reason for the BIA. However, today we are
stuck with an act that provides for a 10-year period. Obviously,
any time below 10 years is better than 10 years.

In 2003, we said that five years was convenient for us.
However, drafters came back with seven years. We would love
to see less than seven years and five would be better, obviously.
Two years, which was the original provision, was something
that came into force in September of 1997 for only approximately
nine months — a little less than that. On June 13, 1998, the act
changed and, suddenly, we went from two years to ten years.

I have no intense research but I am sure that between
September 1997 and June 1998 no data was recovered from
anyone to say whether two years was correct. We simply went
from two years to ten years without any consultation.

When Senator Goldstein presented his bill, our organization
determined that to go back to the two-year time period would be
good, given the intense study by Senator Goldstein. It would
bring us back to the two-year restriction of September 1997. In
cases of hardship, there is no reason why a person who suffers a
particular hardship should wait any amount of time.

Senator Moore: In 2003, when we heard the evidence, we were
told that the period went to 10 years primarily at the urging of the
chartered banks. At the time, there seemed to be a rash of
bankruptcies by graduates. It was thought that students were
taking advantage of the law and of the circumstances to rid
themselves of their debt soon after graduation. Apparently, that
must have been addressed because students were one of the
parties that came back and said that five years would be more
appropriate now.

comparu devant le comité en 2003, vous étiez de ceux qui étaient
favorables a la période de cinq ans. Votre position a donc changé.
Expliquez-nous pourquoi vous réclamez maintenant une période
de deux ans plutét que de cing.

M. Spergel : 11 faut connaitre I’historique des dispositions
portant sur les préts d’études. Nous sommes chanceux que
Mme Houle soit ici aujourd’hui puisqu’elle siégeait au groupe de
travail sur I'insolvabilité personnelle dont faisaient partie presque
tous les intervenants du domaine. Je vais lui demander de vous
expliquer elle-méme quelle a été l'issue de ces discussions, et
comment nous sommes d’abord parvenus a la période de cinq ans,
et maintenant a la période de deux ans que recommande le
sénateur Goldstein dans son projet de loi, projet de loi que nous
appuyons.

Mme Houle : En un mot, nous voudrions I’élimination
compléte de cette période d’attente. Notre organisme ne voit
aucune raison de faire une distinction aux termes de la loi entre les
préts aux étudiants et les autres types de préts. Voila notre
position. Nous sommes tout a fait convaincus que la Loi sur la
faillite et 'insolvabilité devrait traiter de la méme fagon tous les
créanciers non garantis. Ce principe est a la base de la LFI. Or, la
loi actuelle prévoit une période d’attente de 10 ans. De toute
évidence, toute période d’attente inférieure a 10 ans est préférable
a la situation actuelle.

En 2003, nous avons dit que la période d’attente de cinq ans
nous était acceptable. Les rédacteurs du projet de loi ont plutédt
choisi de proposer une période d’attente de sept ans. Le fait de
ramener cette période a cinq ans constituerait évidemment une
amélioration. La disposition originale, qui prévoyait une
période d’attente de deux ans, est entrée en vigueur en
septembre 1997 pour environ neuf mois seulement. La loi a été
modifiée le 13 juin 1998, et la période d’attente est soudainement
passée de deux a dix ans.

Je n’ai pas vraiment fait de longues recherches sur la
question, mais je suis convaincue qu’entre septembre 1997 et
juin 1998 aucune donnée n’a été recueillie pour établir la validité
de cette période. La période d’attente est simplement passée de
deux ans a dix ans sans que qui que ce soit n’ait été consulté.

Compte tenu du fait que le sénateur Goldstein a étudié a fond
la question, notre organisme a décidé d’appuyer la proposition
qu’il fait de porter cette période a deux ans. Cela nous
raménerait a la période d’attente de deux ans qui existait en
septembre 1997. Lorsqu’une personne connait de graves
difficultés, il n’y a aucune raison de ne pas lui offrir une aide
immédiate.

Le sénateur Moore : En 2003, on nous a dit que c’était surtout
a la demande des banques a charte que la période d’attente
avait été portée a 10 ans. A I’époque, il semblait y avoir une
épidémie de faillites chez les diplomés. On a conclu que les
étudiants voulaient profiter des dispositions de la loi et se
débarrasser de leurs dettes peu aprés avoir obtenu leur diplome.
Je suppose que cela a di régler le probléme parce que les
étudiants eux-mémes ont dit étre d’accord avec une période
d’attente de cinq ans.
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Ms. Houle: I do not want to say that the data from the banks
was wrong, but I find it difficult to believe that the banks had a
rash of losses when only about 100,000 individuals, on average,
go bankrupt each year. Of those individuals, maybe 50 per cent
have student loans. I find it difficult they would call it a “rash of
bankruptcies.” Having said that, we are still looking at 10 years
today. Obviously, they must have provided data to the legislator
to show that 10 years was more appropriate.

Senator Jaffer: I have a quick question. Did you conduct
research to determine that if you changed your name, people
would be more able to use your services? Why do you make that
claim?

Mr. Spergel: That question is an excellent one. One of the
major reasons we propose the change in name is that we are trying
to reflect the changing insolvency policy. As you are probably
all aware, some two reforms ago, the emphasis on rehabilitating
the personal debtor was introduced through what we term a
“consumer proposal.” Prior to that reform, we primarily helped
debtors only with bankruptcy. As you know, reforms on the
books right now deter people from bankruptcy and push them
towards consumer proposal whereby, on the second-time
bankruptcy, they must remain an “undischarged bankrupt” for
a longer period of time, depending on whether they have surplus
income.

Our role has changed substantially. Most of our work that you
see is highlighted in the papers under major restructuring under
the CCAA. How many times do you see headlines with respect to
a bankruptcy action? We generally become involved in the
restructuring area.

I do not think this change has been translated and
communicated properly yet to those seeking assistance in the
personal area. Our association name, as well, has changed over
the years. We think that going to terminology that refers to us as
the insolvency and restructuring professionals is more reflective
of what we do.

On another note, it is somewhat disconcerting that we refer
to our chief regulator, the Superintendent of Bankruptcy, as the
SOB, which some people think is improper. We thought
something they might also welcome in that the Superintendent
of Bankruptcy would become the Superintendent of Insolvency
and Restructuring. Thus, we would no longer refer to that
individual as the SOB, but as SIR, which is more effective.

Seriously, I think that our members who now focus largely on
restructuring and rehabilitating both companies and individuals
would find this name change more reflective of the work they
perform.

Ms. Houle: A stigma is still attached to the term “bankruptcy.”
Unfortunately, as much as we want to counsel debtors to file a
consumer proposal with trustees, it is difficult. By the time they
come to us, they have used up whatever little money they may
have had. They have lived through difficult times. By the time

Mme Houle : Je ne conteste pas la validité des données des
banques, mais j’ai du mal a croire qu’elles aient subi des pertes
aussi importantes, puisque seulement environ 100 000 particuliers
font faillite chaque année. De ce nombre, seulement peut-étre la
moitié a des préts d’études. Comment les banques pouvaient-elles
parler d’» épidémie » de faillites. Cela étant dit, la période
d’attente est toujours de 10 ans aujourd’hui. Les banques ont di
présenter au législateur des données qui ’ont convaincu que la
période de 10 ans était appropriée.

Le sénateur Jaffer : J’ai une bréve question a poser. Avez-vous
fait des recherches pour voir si les gens auraient davantage
recours a vos services si le titre de la loi était modifié? Pourquoi
pensez-vous que ce serait le cas?

M. Spergel : C’est une excellente question. L’une des
principales raisons pour lesquelles nous proposons de changer
le titre de la loi, c’est qu’il devrait refléter 1’évolution de la
politique en matiére d’insolvabilité. Comme vous le savez
sans doute, I’avant-derniére réforme mettait ’accent sur la
réhabilitation du débiteur personnel au moyen de ce que nous
appelons les « propositions de consommateurs ». Avant cette
réforme, nous aidions essentiellement les débiteurs a faire faillite.
Nous dissuadons actuellement les gens de faire faillite, et nous
cherchons a les amener a opter pour des propositions de
consommateurs. Lors d’une deuxiéme faillite, ces personnes
doivent étre des « faillis non libérés » pendant une période plus
longue, tout dépendant de leurs ressources financiéres.

Notre role a beaucoup changé. Quand les journaux parlent de
nous, c’est dans le cadre d’une grande réorganisation en vertu de
la LACC. Quand est-il question dans les grands titres d’une
faillite? Nous oeuvrons maintenant surtout dans le domaine de la
réorganisation.

Je ne pense pas que ce changement ait été bien communiqué
aux particuliers. Notre association a également changé son
nom. Nous croyons que le fait de dire que nous sommes des
professionnels de l'insolvabilité et de la réorganisation refléte
mieux le réle que nous jouons.

Soit dit en passant, on peut déplorer que notre principal
organisme de réglementation s’appelle le surintendant des
faillites. Nous pensons que l'organisme de réglementation
devrait plutét s’appeler le surintendant de l'insolvabilité et de
la réorganisation. Ce changement de nom permettrait de régler
toutes sortes de petits problémes de terminologie.

Je crois que nos membres, qui s’occupent surtout de la
réorganisation et de la réhabilitation des entreprises et des
particuliers, trouveraient que ce nouveau nom refléte davantage
le travail qu’ils accomplissent.

Mme Houle : L’utilisation du terme « faillite » est une cause de
stigmatisation. Malgré que nous souhaitions beaucoup conseiller
aux débiteurs de soumettre une proposition de consommateur
aux syndics de faillite, c’est difficile de le faire. Une fois qu’ils
s’adressent a nous, ils n’ont plus d’argent. Ils ont traversé une
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they come to us, it is difficult to counsel them towards a consumer
bank proposal. At that point, we must file a personal bankruptcy.

Removing the stigma of the term and allowing debtors to come
and see us more at the onset of the initial event that creates the
financial difficulty allows us to file more consumer proposals. We
would have the time and perhaps more money available to
propose something to the creditor that makes sense and would
work.

Senator Massicotte: I am confused. I read your presentation
and know who you are. You have 880 members, and your name is
the Canadian Association of Insolvency and Restructuring
Professionals. We heard earlier from an association called The
International Insolvency Institute. Your presentation relates
to individuals. Is your practice predominantly individuals?
The other group made a presentation on the corporate side.
Do these groups intermingle?

Mr. Spergel: There are a wide variety of practices. There
are insolvency professionals who practice primarily in personal
areas and only in personal insolvency. Likewise, there are
professionals who deal solely with corporate matters. A number
practice in both.

The answer to your question is “yes” and “no.”

Senator Massicotte: Are you a recognized professional body?
Must anyone working in this field be registered with your
association?

Mr. Spergel: No, there is no absolute requirement to be
registered with our association. However, our association works
closely with the Superintendent of Bankruptcy. At the moment, to
qualify for becoming a trustee in bankruptcy and obtaining the
licence, one must go through a joint qualification program called
the National Insolvency Qualification Program. It is sponsored
jointly by our association and the Office of the Superintendent of
Bankruptcy.

Senator Massicotte: That office organizes and gives permits to
become a trustee, is that correct? Are all your members trustees?

Mr. Spergel: Yes.
Senator Massicotte: All 880 members?
Mr. Spergel: Yes.

Senator Massicotte: Are the 80 members of the International
Insolvency Institute members of your organization?

période difficile. 11 est alors difficile de les diriger vers une
proposition de consommateur. Ils n’ont alors souvent d’autre
choix que de déclarer faillite.

Si ’on éliminait la stigmatisation associée a la faillite, et si I’on
permettait aux débiteurs de recourir a nos services dés qu’ils
connaissent des difficultés financiéres, cela nous permettrait de les
amener a présenter des propositions de consommateurs. Nous
aurions ainsi plus de temps, et le débiteur aurait peut-étre plus
d’argent, ce qui nous permettrait de lui proposer une solution qui
lui soit acceptable.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Je ne comprends pas. J’ai lu
votre mémoire, et je connais votre organisme. Vous comptez
880 membres, et vous vous appelez I’Association canadienne des
professionnels de I'insolvabilité et de la réorganisation. Nous
avons entendu plus tot le témoignage des représentants d’une
association qui s’appelle I'International Insolvency Institute.
Votre exposé porte surtout sur la situation des particuliers.
Intervenez-vous surtout auprés des particuliers? L’autre groupe de
témoins a plutot traité de la situation des entreprises. Ces deux
groupes ont-ils des liens?

M. Spergel : 1l existe une vaste gamme de spécialisations.
Certains professionnels de l'insolvabilité interviennent surtout
auprés de particuliers, et seulement en cas d’insolvabilité
personnelle. De la méme fagon, certains professionnels
interviennent seulement auprés des entreprises. Un certain
nombre de professionnels exercent leur profession dans les deux
domaines.

Je dois donc répondre par « oui » et par « non » a votre
question.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Etes-vous un organisme professionnel
reconnu? Toute personne exercant dans ce domaine doit-elle
nécessairement étre agréée par votre association?

M. Spergel : Non, 'agrément de notre association n’est pas
absolument nécessaire. Notre association travaille cependant
étroitement avec le surintendant des faillites. A I'heure actuelle,
pour obtenir sa licence de syndic de faillite, il faut s’inscrire a un
programme de reconnaissance conjoint appelé le Programme
national de reconnaissance professionnelle en insolvabilité. Ce
programme est offert conjointement par notre association et par
le Bureau du surintendant des faillites.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Ce bureau délivre les licences de
syndic, n’est-ce pas? Tous vos membres sont-ils des syndics de
faillite?

M. Spergel : Oui.
Le sénateur Massicotte : Vos 880 membres?
M. Spergel : Oui.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Les 80 membres de I’Institut
international d’insolvabilité sont-ils membres de votre organisme?
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Mr. Spergel: I think it was 80 countries they represent. With
respect to The International Insolvency Institute, some of our
members may belong to that organization. However, I believe
lawyers and possibly some bankers and regulators belong to that
organization, primarily.

Senator Massicotte: What is the predominant professional
background for your members?

Mr. Spergel: It is chartered accountants. Our group
is associated with the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants, CICA. There should be a letter from the CICA.

The Chair: We must draw this session to a conclusion.

Ms. Houle, when you raised the whole issue of the stigma
surrounding individuals filing bankruptcy, it made me think you
may have read the transcript of our hearing last week. Some
groups before us talked about individual bankruptcy. I raised
then the question of the stigma that is still there, all these years
later. One cannot become a member of the Canadian Bar
Association if one is in bankruptcy. Various professional
associations have these restrictions. There is a barrier.

I cannot believe that simply changing the name will remove
that stigma. In closing, I wonder if there are more concrete steps
we can take to help remove the stigma of “legitimate
bankruptcies,” if I may use that term.

Mr. Spergel: 1 think we need to be careful about removing the
stigma of bankruptcy. We do not want to encourage people to use
it and flaunt it. We thought the change of name was a good first
step, which would allow us, as insolvency and restructuring
professionals, to do our job.

The change will not flip attitudes overnight. However, as an
organization, we have already assumed part of the responsibility
to educating the public that we are not all about bankruptcy.
Bankruptcy is the final solution, but there are other intermediary
measures of which you are all aware. We want to consider
restructuring and proposals before bankruptcy.

This name change would be a good first step in working in
harmony with us to educate the public. Unfortunately, a number
of individuals hold themselves out as counsellors who take
advantage of individuals who are vulnerable. I think we must do a
better job of reaching these individuals. It is frightening when we
see the number of people coming into our offices, who have used
the services of unregulated individuals. We wanted to take the
stigma out of the name and, hopefully, encourage people not to be
afraid to talk to us. We do not want them to think we are only
about bankruptcy but we are there to help them settle their
financial affairs.

The Chair: This is the point. The more that is said about it, the
better. This is one of those opportunities. We are conducting the
study. You and the previous witnesses indicated we have some
“drag” or “clout” with our report. There is still a propensity, in
2008, for individuals to use unregulated individuals who could

M. Spergel : Je crois que l'institut représente plutdt 80 pays.
Certains de nos membres appartiennent peut-étre a cet institut.
Je crois que cet organisme compte également des avocats,
et peut-étre méme des banquiers et des organismes de
réglementation.

Le sénateur Massicotte : A quelle profession appartiennent la
majorité de vos membres?

M. Spergel : Ils sont des comptables agréés. Notre groupe est
associé a I'Institut canadien des comptables agréés, 'ICCA. Vous
deviez avoir regu une lettre de 'ICCA.

Le président : Nous devons mettre fin a cette séance.

Madame Houle, lorsque vous avez soulevé toute la question de
la stigmatisation des faillis, cela m’a fait penser que vous aviez
lu la transcription de notre audience de la semaine derniére.
Certains groupes ont parlé des faillites personnelles. Je leur ai
parlé de la stigmatisation dont sont toujours victimes les faillis.
Un failli ne peut pas devenir membre de 1’Association du Barreau
canadien. La méme chose vaut pour diverses autres associations
professionnelles. Il existe un obstacle.

Je ne pense pas que le simple fait de changer le titre de la loi
¢éliminera cette stigmatisation. En terminant, je me demande s’il y
a des mesures concrétes que nous pouvons prendre pour éliminer
la stigmatisation des « faillites légitimes », si je peux m’exprimer
ainsi.

M. Spergel : Je crois qu’il faut étre prudent a cet égard. Nous
ne voulons pas encourager les gens a déclarer faillite. Nous avons
pensé que le fait de changer le nom de la loi serait une bonne
premiere mesure qui nous permettrait de vraiment jouer notre role
comme professionnel de I'insolvabilité et de la réorganisation.

Ce changement n’entrainera pas une modification immédiate
des attitudes. Notre organisme fait déja sa part pour faire
comprendre au public que notre réle ne se limite pas aux
faillites. La faillite, c’est la solution de dernier recours, mais il
existe des mesures intermédiaires que vous connaissez bien. Nous
voulons faire primer la réorganisation et les propositions de
consommateurs sur les faillites.

A

Vous participeriez a nos efforts d’éducation du public en
changeant le nom de la loi. Malheureusement, un certain nombre
de personnes se présentent comme des conseillers financiers et
exploitent ceux qui sont vulnérables. Nous devons mieux
rejoindre ces personnes. Il est effrayant de constater le nombre
de personnes qui s’adressent a nous, et qui disent s’étre d’abord
adressées a des personnes non agréées. Nous voulons éliminer la
stigmatisation associée a la faillite, et encourager ainsi, nous
I’espérons, les gens a s’adresser a nous. Nous voulons qu’ils
sachent que nous ne sommes pas la simplement pour les aider a
faire faillite, mais aussi pour les aider a régler leurs problémes
financiers.

Le président : C’est exactement ce que nous pensons. Plus
on parlera du sujet, mieux ce sera. Cette séance est I'une des
occasions qui nous sont données de le faire. Nous menons
une étude. Comme vous, les témoins précédents ont parlé de
I'influence que peut avoir notre rapport. En 2008, les particuliers
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obtain relief under the regimes that exist via proposal, or even by
going bankrupt and receiving a discharge within the shorter
delays.

Yet, instead they continue to incur debts and go to pay-day
loan operators to take out a loan that bears usurious interest
rates. People who are desperate do desperate things, and that
desperation often leads to alcohol abuse and other social
problems.

Senator Massicotte: In every large city, a couple of shops are
set up by chartered accountants or others with a business plan
for high volume bankruptcies predominantly for individuals.
The business plans are highly oriented to bankruptcies. Is that
approach not negative? You can see such shops in Toronto and
Montreal, where they advertise in the Yellow Pages.

Mr. Spergel: We must acknowledge what is accomplished with
the existing legislation: By extending the period of time where
one remains an undischarged bankrupt, one must look at the
alternative of a consumer proposal. If one looks at 21 months to
36 months as an undischarged bankrupt, the alternative of filing
a proposal and making similar payments over a similar period of
time, without the mark of bankruptcy against one’s record, bodes
well. The legislation is moving in the right direction. I hope we
will have a greater number of consumer proposals filed, and fewer
personal bankruptcies.

Senator Eyton: You heard my question to the earlier witnesses
from The International Insolvency Institute. Do you have a good
sense of, and can you provide the committee with, information on
the total cost of administration of an insolvent or bankrupt estate
in general? In bankrupt estates, often nothing is available to
ordinary creditors. What is the percentage for administrative
costs?

Mr. Spergel: I believe that the previous witness referred you to
a website in that regard. I have seen reference made to that
information where they track larger situations. We must look at
the cost of administration and how insolvency legislation
has evolved over the years. When I started in this profession,
an insolvency proceeding was driven by the creditors. Today, if
we take a hard, close look at the proceeding, it is no longer
overseen solely by the creditors, with the trustees commanding
and essentially taking stewardship of the proceeding in
reorganizations. Instead, the process has been moved into the
courts, so it is under the control of a judge.

It seems that we have moved too far in one direction. That is
why I am enthused about the amendments; so that we will see
more and more equitable treatment. The BIA is still structured in
such a way that the process is driven by the creditor, and creditors
are the ones who dictate whether a reorganization is acceptable.
Now, several of the advantages that were previously available
only under the CCAA have been rolled into the BIA. Hopefully,
we will see the costs of these reorganizations reduced as a result.

continuent de s’adresser pour de I’aide a des personnes qui ne sont
pas agréées alors qu’ils pourraient soumettre une proposition de
consommateur, ou méme étre libérés de leurs dettes plus tot s’ils
doivent faire faillite.

Or, certains particuliers continuent de s’endetter et de
s’adresser a des préteurs sur salaire qui exigent des taux
d’intérét usuraire. Ceux qui sont désespérés posent des gestes
désespérés qui ménent souvent a l’alcoolisme et a d’autres
problémes sociaux.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Dans toutes les grandes villes, des
comptables ou d’autres professionnels établissent des plans
d’affaires qui prévoient un volume élevé de faillites personnelles.
Ces plans d’affaires mettent ’accent sur les faillites. Cette
approche n’est-elle pas négative? On voit la liste de ces bureaux
dans les Pages jaunes des annuaires téléphoniques de Toronto et
de Montréal.

M. Spergel : Nous devons reconnaitre les améliorations qui
découlent de la loi actuelle. En prolongeant la période pendant
laquelle une personne doit demeurer un failli non libéré, la
présentation d’une proposition de consommateurs devient
possible. Si la période passe de 21 mois a 36 mois, une personne
peut alors présenter une proposition de consommateur et faire des
paiements semblables échelonnés sur la méme période. On peut
ainsi éviter des faillites. La loi s’oriente dans le bon sens. J’espére
qu’'on verra le nombre de propositions de consommateurs
augmenter et celui des faillites personnelles, diminuer.

Le sénateur Eyton : Vous avez entendu la question que j’ai
posée aux représentants de I’International Insolvency Institute.
Savez-vous a combien s’élevent les cotts d’administration des
biens de la faillite ou de I'insolvabilité? La plupart du temps, il ne
reste rien pour les créanciers ordinaires. Quel pourcentage
représentent les cotits administratifs?

M. Spergel : Je crois que le témoin précédent vous a dirigé
vers un site Web qui traite du sujet. J’ai déja vu des
renseignements semblables qui s’appliquaient a des faillites
importantes. Nous devons examiner les colts administratifs et
voir comment a évolué la Loi sur I'insolvabilité au fil des ans.
Lorsque j’ai débuté dans la profession, ce sont les créanciers
qui dirigeaient l’audience d’insolvabilité. Aujourd’hui nous
voyons qu’ils ne sont pas les seuls a jouer un réle lors de cette
audience, et que ce sont plutot les syndics de faillite qui jouent
un roéle majeur lors des réorganisations. Le processus est
aujourd’hui judiciarisé.

Je crois que le balancier est allé trop loin dans ’autre direction.
Voila pourquoi les amendements me plaisent tellement. Je crois
qu’ils favoriseront I’équité du processus. La LFI est toujours
structurée de fagon a accorder un réle primordial au créancier
qui détermine en fait si la réorganisation est acceptable. La LFI
offre maintenant certains des avantages que seule la LACC
offrait auparavant. Il est a espérer que le cotit des réorganisations
diminuera par conséquent.
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Senator Eyton: The process is a combination of cost and time,
as Senator Massicotte pointed out. A five-year period will cost
more than a one-year period.

Mr. Spergel: Under the BIA, they have six months to come
forward with their proposal. We can appreciate the fact,
especially tonight, that when we have time limits, we usually
must abide by them. That situation is true for insolvency.
I welcome the amendments as contained, and look forward
to the changes. I do not think that is a direct answer to your
question, but the amendments address the problem of costs.
With the amendments, more reorganizations should be able to
seek refuge under the BIA rather than under the CCAA, which
tends to be more expensive.

Senator Goldstein: You are happy that we passed the bill into
law rather than waiting for these hearings to be completed?

Mr. Spergel: No, that is not quite it. I know the bill has been
passed but it is my understanding that we are waiting for
proclamation.

Senator Goldstein: We are waiting for some parts to be
proclaimed because the regulations are not finished, but they are
working on those regulations quickly.

Mr. Spergel: What would make me most happy is that we
continue the insolvency reform process and do not with these
two acts. We still have a long way to go. These acts are two large
steps in the right direction, but let us not stop here.

Senator Goldstein: We are trying to continue the process.

Mr. Spergel: I am happy with the two steps but I would like to
see more.

The Chair: Ms. Houle and Mr. Spergel, thank you for coming.

We had a great session, honourable senators.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 14, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met this day at 10:50 a.m. to examine and report
upon the present state of the domestic and international financial
system. Subject: Bankruptcy and Insolvency

Senator W. David Angus (Chair) in the chair.

[English]

The Chair: Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. This meeting
is webcast on the World Wide Web and broadcast on the CPAC
network. Happy Valentine’s Day.

Le sénateur Eyton : Comme le sénateur Massicotte 'a fait
observer, c’est une question de colt et de temps. Une période
d’attente de cinq ans cofitera davantage qu'une période d’attente
d’un an.

M. Spergel : Une proposition doit étre soumise dans un délai
de six mois dans le cadre de la LFI. Comme nous en sommes tous
conscients, particuliérement ce soir, il est normalement nécessaire
de respecter les délais fixés. Cela vaut pour [I'insolvabilité.
J’appuie les amendements proposés, et je me réjouis des
changements qui s’annoncent. Je ne pense pas avoir répondu
directement a votre question, mais les amendements devraient
permettre de régler le probléme des coits administratifs. Ils
devraient effectivement favoriser les réorganisations et le recours
a la LFI plutot qu’a 'ICCA, un processus qui a tendance a étre
plus coiteux.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Etes-vous heureux que nous ayons
adopté le projet de loi immédiatement au lieu d’attendre I'issue de
ces audiences?

M. Spergel : Ce n’est pas tout a fait cela. Je sais que le projet
de loi a été adopté, mais je crois que nous attendons qu’il soit
proclamé.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Certaines parties de la loi n’ont
toujours pas été proclamées parce que le réglement est en cours
d’élaboration. Il sera prét sous peu.

M. Spergel : Ce qui me rendrait vraiment heureux, c’est qu’on
poursuive le processus de réforme de I'insolvabilité dans le cadre
de ces deux lois. Nous avons beaucoup de chemin a faire. Ces
deux lois sont d’importants pas dans la bonne direction, mais il
ne faut pas s’arréter la.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Nous tdchons de poursuivre le
processus.

M. Spergel : Je suis heureux de ces deux pas dans la bonne
direction, mais j’aimerais que nous ne perdions pas notre élan.

Le président : Madame Houle et monsieur Spergel, je vous
remercie d’avoir comparu devant le comité. Mesdames et
messieurs les sénateurs, nous avons eu une excellence séance.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le jeudi 14 février 2008

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui a 10 h 50 afin d’examiner la situation
actuelle du régime financier canadien et international et d’en faire
rapport. Sujet : la faillite et I'insolvabilité.

Le sénateur W. David Angus (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction)

Le président : Bonjour, mesdames et messieurs. La séance
d’aujourd’hui est diffusée sur le web et télédiffusée sur la chaine
parlementaire. Joyeuse St-Valentin.
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We continue our study of the bankruptcy and insolvency
legislation as embodied in chapter 47 of the revised Statutes
of Canada, 2005, and Bill C-12 forwarded to this committee
in mid-December.

These bills have been passed, although they are not entirely in
effect in law. A number of elements must be dealt with to make
them operative. However, we are conducting a study as if these
bills had not been passed; we are preparing a critique to see if they
can be improved.

We are advised by the officials of various government
departments that they are always on the lookout for ways
and means of improving these important laws so that our
bankruptcy and insolvency framework legislation can be a
leading-edge state.

We have had a number of witnesses whose evidence leads
us to believe there is a lot of room for improvement. In the
Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce
we have an open mind.

I am Senator Angus, from Montreal. I am chair of this
committee. To my left is Senator Harb, an Ontario senator. On
the other side of the table is Senator Meighen, from Toronto;
Senator Tkachuk from Saskatoon; and Senator Jaffer from
British Columbia. Senator Jaffer is the newest member of our
committee.

Our distinguished deputy chair, Senator Goldstein, is an
acknowledged expert in bankruptcy and insolvency law. He is
slightly delayed this morning. I hoped he would be here now.
We rely heavily on his background knowledge. Here he is. We
have many witnesses. In the interests of time, we will start now.
Our first witnesses are from the Conference for Advanced Life
Underwriting: Paul Bourbonniere, Chair, and Brian Henley,
Vice-Chair, Government Relations. Both gentlemen have visited
us before. We are always happy to learn from them.

Paul Bourbonniere, Chair, Conference for Advanced Life
Underwriting: Thank you for allowing us to appear before you
today. I am Chair of CALU and Mr. Henley is the Vice-Chair,
Government Relations.

We come before you to offer our support for Bill C-12. Let me
give you background on our organization. CALU is a conference
of the Financial Advisors Association of Canada. That
association has over 10,000 members from coast to coast.

We operate under the trade name, Advocis. It is the largest
voluntary professional membership association of financial
advisors in the country. Advocis members provide financial and
product advice to millions of Canadians, and the members

Nous poursuivons notre étude de la loi cadre sur la faillite et
I'insolvabilit¢é que 1’on retrouve au chapitre 47 des Lois du
Canada de 2005, et du projet de loi C-12 qui a été renvoyé a notre
comité a la mi-décembre.

Ces mesures ont été adoptées mais n’ont cependant pas encore
force de loi. Il reste encore quelques éléments a régler avant
qu’elles puissent entrer en vigueur. Nous faisons cependant une
étude comme si elles n’avaient pas été adoptées. Nous préparons
une analyse critique en vue d’éventuelles améliorations.

Les fonctionnaires de divers ministéres gouvernementaux
nous disent qu’ils cherchent constamment a améliorer ces lois
importantes afin d’avoir une loi cadre sur la faillite et
I'insolvabilité qui soit avant-gardiste. Nous avons entendu un
certain nombre de témoins dont le témoignage nous porte a
croire qu’il y a certes place a ’amélioration. Au Comité sénatorial
permanent des banques et du commerce, nous avons l’esprit
ouvert.

Je suis le sénateur Angus, de Montréal. Je préside ce comité. A
ma gauche siége le sénateur Harb, un sénateur de I’Ontario. De
lautre coté de la table se trouvent le sénateur Meighen, de
Toronto; le sénateur Tkachuk de Saskatoon; et le sénateur Jaffer
de la Colombie-Britannique. Le sénateur Jaffer est la derniére
venue a notre comité.

Notre vice-président distingué, le sénateur Goldstein, est
reconnu comme étant un expert en droit sur la faillite et
I'insolvabilité. Il a un léger retard ce matin. J’avais espéré qu’il
serait ici maintenant. Nous comptons beaucoup sur ses
connaissances. Le voici.

Nous avons de nombreux témoins ce matin. Etant donné
le temps dont nous disposons, nous allons commencer
maintenant. Nos premiers témoins représentent le Conference
for Advanced Life Underwriting : Paul Bourbonniere, président,
et Brian Henley, vice-président des Relations gouvernementales.
Ces deux messieurs ont déja comparu devant notre comité
auparavant. Nous sommes toujours heureux de bénéficier de
leurs connaissances.

Paul Bourbonniere, président, Conference for Advanced Life
Underwriting : Merci de nous permettre de comparaitre devant
votre comité aujourd’hui. Je suis président du Conference for
Advanced Life Underwriting et M. Henley est le vice-président
chargé des relations gouvernementales.

Nous venons vous rencontrer aujourd’hui pour vous faire
part de notre appui au projet de loi C-12. Permettez-moi de vous
parler un peu de notre organisation. CALU est une conférence de
I’Association des planificateurs financiers du Canada, association
qui compte plus de 10 000 membres au pays.

Le nom officiel de notre association est Advocis. Il s’agit de la
principale association professionnelle bénévole de conseillers
financiers du Canada. Ses membres fournissent des conseils sur
les produits financiers et des conseils financiers en général a des
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provide advice regarding estate and retirement planning, wealth
management, risk management, tax planning and benefits
consulting.

We trace our origins back to the founding of the Life
Underwriters Association of Canada in 1906. Our association
continues an uninterrupted history of serving Canadian financial
advisors and, more importantly, their clients. It is committed to
professionalism among financial advisers.

CALU was formed to meet the needs of Advocis members who
specialize in advanced applications of life insurance and related
financial services, including such areas as estate planning,
business succession, employee benefits, wealth accumulation and
retirement planning. Many clients of CALU members are owners
of small- and medium-sized businesses. It is the concerns of those
businesses that we want to make you aware of today.

We support Bill C-12 and believe it offers significant
improvements over the proposed amendments contained in
chapter 47, section 1 in the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act for
the following reasons: Bill C-12 does not propose to alter
materially exemptions granted by the provinces and recognized
by the federally legislated BIA. Additionally, Bill C-12 does not
alter materially other section 91 provisions that reasonably
protect creditors in cases of strategic settlements preceding
bankruptcy. The previously proposed changes would have
undermined existing certainty, encouraging prudent financial
planning, incorporating exempt registered retirement savings
plans, RRSPs, and registered retirement income funds, RRIFs.

Previously proposed changes in chapter 47, section 1 — rather
than ensuring that all RRSPs and RRIFs were fully protected
from claims and creditors — recommended that limits be
placed on the amount that could be accumulated in these
plans, that contributions made within a specified period of
time prior to bankruptcy and which could be denied by the
courts, be clawed back to satisfy the claims of creditors.
These changes essentially favoured creditors over individual
Canadians.

CALU believes that encouraging individual Canadians to
plan strategically for retirement is an important societal goal.
As a result, CALU believes that all RRSPs and RRIFs should
have parity with equivalent retirement savings protections for
registered pension plans, RPPs.

The limits originally proposed on the amount which could be
accumulated in an RRSP, and not subject to claims of creditors,
could be viewed as circumventing the provisions found in the
Income Tax Act. The act states that where RRSPs involve
a depository, the depository can have no right of offset as regards
property held under the plan in connection with any debt or
obligation owing to the depository. Additionally, the property
under the plan, cannot be pledged, assigned or in any way

millions de Canadiens. Ils fournissent aussi des conseils en matiére
de planification successorale et de planification de la retraite, de
gestion de patrimoine, de gestion du risque et de planification
financiére.

Advocis a été créée en 1906 sous le nom d’Association des
assureurs-vie du Canada. Depuis lors, elle est au service des
conseillers financiers et de leurs clients au Canada. Elle vise a
assurer le professionnalisme des conseillers financiers.

CALU a été créée pour répondre aux besoins des membres
d’Advocis qui se spécialisent dans les applications avancées de
I’assurance-vie et de domaines connexes, comme la planification
successorale, la succession d’entreprises, les avantages sociaux des
employés, la croissance du patrimoine et la planification de la
retraite. Nombre de clients de la CALU sont des propriétaires
de PME. Aujourd’hui, nous venons vous faire part des
préoccupations de ces entreprises.

Nous appuyons le projet de loi C-12 et estimons qu’il
améliore de fagon appréciable les modifications proposées
a la Loi sur la faillite et l'insolvabilité qu’on trouve au
chapitre 47, article 1, pour les raisons suivantes : le projet de
loi C-12 ne propose pas de modifier de fagon substantielle les
exemptions accordées par les provinces et reconnues par la LFI
fédérale. De méme, le projet de loi C-12 ne modifie pas de fagon
appréciable les autres dispositions de I’article 91 qui protégeaient
de maniére raisonnable les créanciers en cas de réglements
stratégiques précédant une faillite; les changements proposés
antérieurement auraient eu pour effet de miner la certitude
existante incluant la planification financiére prudente de
I'intégration de REER et de FERR exemptés.

Plutét que de veiller a ce que tous les REER et les
FERR soient pleinement protégés contre les réclamations
des créanciers, les modifications proposées antérieurement au
chapitre 47, article 1, visaient a limiter le montant pouvant étre
accumulé dans ces régimes et a ce que les cotisations versées
durant une période donnée avant la faillite soient, peut-étre par
suite d’une ordonnance d’un tribunal, récupérées pour donner
suite aux réclamations des créanciers. Pareille mesure aurait
essentiellement favorisé les créanciers au détriment des épargnants
canadiens.

La CALU est d’avis que le fait d’encourager les Canadiens a
planifier stratégiquement leur retraite est un important objectif
sociétal. En conséquence, elle estime que tous les REER et FERR
devraient jouir de la méme protection contre les créanciers dont
profitent les RER.

Les limites initialement proposées relativement au montant
pouvant étre accumulé dans un REER et insaisissable par les
créanciers pourraient étre interprétées comme cherchant a
contourner les dispositions de la Loi de I'impét sur le revenu.
La loi stipule que lorsqu’un dépositaire est en cause, ce dernier n’a
pas le droit d’éteindre une dette ou une obligation envers le régime
par compensation a I’aide des biens détenus en vertu du régime
et les biens détenus en vertu du régime ne peuvent étre donnés en
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alienated as security for a loan for purposes other than, at
maturity, providing a retirement income to the annuitant. Similar
provisions are found elsewhere for retirement income funds.

In our view, the Income Tax Act contemplates that RRSPs and
RRIFs are intended to provide a source of retirement income to
the annuitant and not to serve as a source of additional collateral
to lenders. For this reason, CALU supports Bill C-12 in its
removal of any proposed monetary cap on the amount that could
be accumulated within an RRSP or a RRIF and not subject to the
claims of creditors.

In addition, we have identified a number of important factors
that have been considered in a development of Bill C-12 and that
overcome potential problems that may have been associated with
the previous legislation. These factors may be summarized as
follows:

The first point is fairness. Bill C-12 overcomes the potential for
unfairness that would result from any policy change favouring
creditors by forcing debtors into bankruptcy through the
imposition of enhanced creditor rights, originally available and
understood at the time, of extending the credit and/or at any time
prior to bankruptcy.

CALU supports Bill C-12 in its recognition of the fundamental
importance of fairness with respect to protecting the retirement
savings of all Canadians — whether salaried employees or
entrepreneurs — in the event of bankruptcy. Small business
owners and their families are affected particularly due to the need
to have a source of retirement savings not directly dependent
upon the continued success of the business, particularly in
volatile, economic times.

The second point is the principle of certainty. Financial
planning requires a platform and a context of reliability
and certainty for consumers, particularly as related to the
timeframes and horizons involved in encouraging and advising
Canadians to save for retirement. These propositions are
long-term. The loss of certainty associated with the previous
proposals would have affected particularly, and unnecessarily
adversely, Canadians who rely on RRSPs and, as a consequence,
disproportionately-impacted self-employed individuals.

Another point is consistency. CALU supports Bill C-12 in that
it would not affect Canadians adversely who have responded
positively to encouragements to save for retirement savings
through the use of such prudent savings vehicles as exempt
RRSPs and RRIFs. Canadians who have acted in accordance
with the planning opportunities and capacities explicitly
encouraged by provincial and federal governments would be
affected disproportionately by any sudden imposition of a
monetary cap on their capacity to save through the use of
exempt savings in RRSPs and RRIFs.

The principle of legislative harmony is the fourth point. In our
view, Bill C-12 improves the previous proposals by avoiding
challenges that would have resulted from any efforts to impact the
historically recognized jurisdictional balance of provincial and

gage, cédés ou autrement aliénés, a titre de garantie d’un prét ou a
toute autre fin que d’assurer au particulier un revenu de retraite
commengant a I’échéance. On trouve des dispositions semblables
ailleurs qui portent sur les fonds enregistrés de revenu de retraite.

Nous sommes d’avis que la Loi de I'impét sur le revenu
prévoit que les REER et les FERR visent a fournir un
revenu de retraite au cotisant et non a fournir des garanties
supplémentaires aux préteurs. C’est pourquoi la CALU appuie le
projet de loi C-12, qui rejette tout plafonnement du montant
pouvant étre accumulé dans un REER ou un FERR et échappant
aux réclamations des créanciers.

De plus, nous avons cerné un certain nombre d’importants
facteurs qui ont été examinés durant 1’élaboration du projet de
loi C-12 et qui ont permis de résoudre des problémes que le projet
de loi précédant aurait pu causer. On peut résumer ces problémes
de la fagon suivante :

Le premier est 1’équité. Le projet de loi C-12 prévient la
possibilit¢ que tout changement de politique favorisant les
créanciers en accumulant les débiteurs a la faillite par 'octroi
aux créanciers de droits accrus par rapport a ceux existant
initialement ou au moment ou le prét a été consenti ou encore a
n’importe quel moment avant la faillite ne donne lieu a de
I'iniquité.

La CALU appuie le projet de loi C-12, car il reconnait
I'importance fondamentale de 1’équité dans la protection de
I’épargne-retraite de tous les Canadiens — qu’il s’agisse des
travailleurs salariés comme des entrepreneurs — en cas de faillite.
Les petits entrepreneurs et leurs familles sont particuliérement
touchés en raison de la nécessité pour eux d’avoir une source de
revenu de retraite qui ne soit pas directement tributaire du
maintien du succés de leur entreprise, notamment en période
d’instabilité économique.

Le deuxiéme point est le principe de la certitude. La
planification financiére requiert des données fiables et de la
certitude, notamment en ce qui concerne les échéanciers et les
horizons en cause lorsqu’il s’agit de conseiller les Canadiens et de
les convaincre d’épargner pour leur retraite. Ces propositions
sont a long terme. La perte de certitude qu’entrainaient les
propositions précédentes aurait hélas eu des effets néfastes sur
les Canadiens qui comptent sur leurs REER, particuliérement et
d’une fagon disproportionnée sur les travailleurs autonomes.

Un autre point est I'uniformité. La CALU appuie le projet de
loi C-12 car il n’aurait pas d’effet néfaste sur les Canadiens qui
ont répondu aux encouragements d’épargner pour leur retraite
en recourant a des véhicules prudents comme les REER et
les FERR exemptés d’impo6t. Les Canadiens qui ont profité
des possibilités de planification qu’offrent explicitement les
gouvernements fédéral et provinciaux seraient touchés d’une
facon disproportionnée par I'imposition soudaine d’un plafond a
leur capacité de recourir a 1’épargne-retraite exempte d’impodt
dans le cadre de REER et de FERR.

Le principe de I'harmonisation législative est le quatriéme
point. A notre avis, le projet de loi C-12 améliore les propositions
précédentes en évitant les contestations qu’aurait entrainées
toute tentative de rompre I’équilibre maintenu depuis toujours
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federal legislation. Previous proposals, through the insertion of a
cap on the level of exemption, would have disrupted existing
measures in place for protection against execution and seizure,
and resulted in a conflict between provincial exemptions
extending under the province’s constitutional powers with
respect to matters of insurance, and the federal government’s
powers over matters of insolvency.

CALU believes that Bill C-12 supports the fundamental view
of the BIA as a process whereby insolvent debtors may obtain a
discharge of their debts on turning over their assets to a trustee
for distribution among creditors. One prime purpose of the BIA is
to permit an honest but unfortunate debtor to obtain a discharge,
subject to reasonable conditions. Under the BIA, a bankrupt is
assumed to be an honest but unfortunate debtor. This assumption
is subject to the evidence of strategic settlements leading to a
strategic bankruptcy.

A debtor’s action may result in the court ordering the inclusion
of only certain exempt assets as the property of the bankrupt,
such as RRSPs and RRIFs, under the BIA and/or terms for a
conditional discharge. This way of dealing with strategic
bankruptcies is reasonable, measured and powerful. The BIA is
intended to assure a fair and equitable distribution, without
undue preference, of the bankrupt’s property among creditors.

In conclusion, my colleague and I want to commend the
Senate — and this committee specifically — for exceptional work
on this important issue. We would also be remiss if we did not
note the role the deputy chair, Senator Goldstein, has played in
shaping and moving this legislation to a successful conclusion.

It is an honour to appear before you and we will be happy to
answer any questions.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bourbonniere.
Mr. Henley, do you want to add anything?

Brian Henley, Vice-Chair, Government Relations, Conference
for Advanced Life Underwriting: No, I think Mr. Bourbonniere
spoke eloquently about our positions.

The Chair: Additional members of the committee have
arrived. My colleagues have been out buying flowers for their
loved ones.

Senator Moore is from Halifax, Senator Massicotte if from
Montreal and Senator Eyton is from Toronto. You can see from
the smiles on their faces that I was right. Then, of course, our
distinguished deputy chair is Senator Goldstein.

I note, gentlemen, that you have confined your input to
section 32(1) dealing with RRSPs and RRIFs. Is it fair to
conclude that section is the only part of the legislation that
you either like or dislike? Do you have any representations
you want to make to us on other aspects of the new laws?

entre les compétences législatives fédérales et provinciales.
Les propositions précédentes, par I'imposition dun plafond
relativement au niveau d’exemption, auraient nui a I'application
des mesures en vigueur pour la protection contre I’exécution ou la
saisie, ce qui aurait provoqué un conflit entre les exemptions
provinciales accordées dans le cadre des compétences provinciales
en matiére d’assurance et les pouvoirs du gouvernement fédéral en
matiére de faillite.

La CALU estime que le projet de loi C-12 soutient 1’objet
fondamental de la LFI en tant que processus ou un débiteur
insolvable peut obtenir quittance de toutes ses dettes en cédant
tous ses actifs a un syndic pour répartition entre les créanciers.
Lun des principaux objectifs de la LFI est de permettre a un
débiteur malheureux, mais honnéte, d’obtenir une quittance a des
conditions raisonnables. En vertu de la LFI, le failli est présumé
honnéte, mais malchanceux. Cette présomption repose sur la
preuve de réglements stratégiques menant a une faillite
stratégique.

Les actes d’un débiteur peuvent inciter les tribunaux a
ordonner I'inclusion uniquement de certains biens exempts dans
les biens du failli, c’est-a-dire les REER et les FERR, aux termes
de la LFI ou d’une quittance conditionnelle. Cela représente une
fagon raisonnable, mesurée et efficace de traiter les faillites
stratégiques. La LFI vise a assurer une répartition juste et
proportionnelle, sans préférence particuliére, des biens du failli
entre les créanciers.

En conclusion, mon collégue et moi-méme aimerions féliciter le
Sénat — et plus particulieérement votre comité — de I’excellent
travail que vous faites dans ce dossier. Nous devons par ailleurs
souligner le réle qu’a joué le vice-président, le sénateur Goldstein,
dans I’élaboration et ’adoption de ce projet de loi avec succes.

C’est un honneur de comparaitre devant votre comité et il nous
fera plaisir de répondre a vos questions.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Bourbonniere.
Monsieur Henley, aimeriez-vous ajouter quoi que ce soit?

M. Brian Henley, vice-président, Relations gouvernementales,
Conference for Advanced Life Underwriting : Non, je pense que
M. Bourbonniere a présenté nos positions de fagon trés
¢éloquente.

Le président : D’autres membres du comité viennent d’arriver.
Mes collégues étaient allés acheter des fleurs pour leurs étres
chers.

Le sénateur Moore est d’Halifax, le sénateur Massicotte est de
Montréal et le sénateur Eyton est de Toronto. On peut voir a
leur sourire que j’avais raison. Il y a ensuite bien sr notre
vice-président distingué, le sénateur Goldstein.

Je remarque, messieurs, que vous avez limité vos observations
au paragraphe 32(1) qui porte sur les REER et les FERR. Peut-on
donc conclure que ce paragraphe est la seule partie du projet de
loi qui vous plait ou qui vous déplait? Avez-vous des observations
a faire au sujet des autres aspects de la nouvelle 1oi?
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Mr. Henley: We made previous representations in the past
with regard to the overall legislation. However, as financial
advisers, particularly advisers that practise in the financial
planning or benefit consulting area, we deal primarily with
people who amass assets to produce income for themselves
and their families at retirement. For that reason, we focused on
that major issue to our clients.

The Chair: Your document is clear and I refer to it. It will form
part of the record; it is dated December 2007.

I ask this question because you are positive about amendments
that have happened between Bill C-55 and Bill C-12. In this
situation, did you see problems in Bill C-55 where you made
representations to the government, and the government listened
and changed the legislation, or did these amendments happen on
their own?

Mr. Henley: I do not want to suggest we are that powerful, but
we had concerns with the previous legislation. We made
representations on behalf of our clientele and our membership.
It appear they were listened to. Some changes, we believe, are
positive for the Canadian citizen and the person planning for
retirement.

The Chair: I put this information on the record because
I think the issue of dealing with huge governments is a tricky and
complicated thing. The process you followed was obviously a
constructive one. You saw a problem with a bill that had not
been proclaimed into law. The doors were open to register with
the officials who also work constantly to improve the framework
legislation. You made your points clearly; and the improvement is
now in Bill C-12, and you are happy.

Mr. Bourbonniere: We are happy with the bill as it now stands.
We are also pleased to be part of the process. Perhaps we
represent what is potentially a consensus, but it is an outcome
we are comfortable with.

Senator Harb: You spent an extensive amount of time talking
about the previous provisions and the previous proposal. It
seemed to have struck a chord with you, so you wanted to remind
us how bad it was.

Is it your opinion that, perhaps, the Crown at the time thought
it was okay to include RRSPs because somebody must pay the
creditors? Every time a citizen pulls out an RRSP, the government
takes its share of the pie immediately, and whatever is left is
available to the creditor.

Is it your opinion that the government probably was motivated
by something along those lines, or do you think it was less
sinister?

Mr. Bourbonniere: Sinister is a strong word. The issue is one of
fairness and equity. A number of people in this room go back
to the late 1980s, when a lot of work went into the issue of

M. Henley : Nous avons fait des observations précédemment
en ce qui concerne les mesures législatives en général. Cependant,
a titre de conseillers financiers, plus particuliérement a titre de
conseillers qui pratiquent dans le domaine de la planification
financiére et des avantages sociaux, nous desservons surtout des
clients qui accumulent des actifs qui leur permettront d’avoir
un revenu pour eux et leurs familles a la retraite. C’est pour
cette raison que nous avons mis l’accent sur cette principale
préoccupation de nos clients.

Le président : Votre document est clair et je m’y reporte. Il fera
partie du procés-verbal; il est en date de décembre 2007.

Je pose la question car vous étes positif au sujet des
amendements qui ont été apportés entre le projet de loi C-55 et
le projet de loi C-12. Ces amendements ont-ils été apportés a la
suite des problémes que vous avez signalés au gouvernement en ce
qui concerne le projet de loi C-55, parce que le gouvernement
vous a écouté et modifié le projet de loi, ou est-ce que ces
amendements auraient été apportés de toute fagon?

M. Henley : Je ne veux pas laisser entendre que nous sommes
puissants, mais nous avions des préoccupations relativement au
projet de loi précédent. Nous avons fait des observations au nom
de notre clientéle et de nos membres. Il semblerait qu’on nous ait
écoutés. Certains changements a notre avis sont positifs pour les
citoyens canadiens et ceux qui planifient leur retraite.

Le président : Je donne cette information aux fins du compte
rendu car je pense qu’il est trés difficile et compliqué de faire face
a cet énorme appareil gouvernemental. Le processus que vous
avez suivi a de toute évidence été constructif. Vous avez constaté
un probléme qui n’était pas encore entré en vigueur par
proclamation. Il était donc encore possible de communiquer
avec les hauts fonctionnaires qui cherchent constamment eux
aussi a améliorer les mesures législatives. Vous avez trés bien
expliqué votre point de vue et on retrouve donc des améliorations
dans le projet de loi C-12 et vous étes satisfait.

M. Bourbonniere : Nous sommes satisfaits du projet de loi dans
sa forme actuelle. Nous nous réjouissons par ailleurs d’avoir pu
participer au processus. Nous représentons peut-étre ce qui
pourrait étre un consensus, mais nous sommes a l’aise avec le
résultat.

Le sénateur Harb : Vous avez passé beaucoup de temps a parler
des dispositions et des propositions précédentes. Ces derniéres
semblent vous avoir frappé, de sorte que vous vouliez nous
rappeler jusqu’a quel point elles étaient mauvaises.

Etes-vous d’avis que peut-étre a ’époque la Couronne pensait
qu’il convenait d’inclure les REER parce que quelqu’un doit
payer les créanciers? Chaque fois qu’un citoyen sort de I’argent
d’'un REER, le gouvernement prend sa part du gateau
immédiatement, ce qui reste peut étre versé aux créanciers.

Croyez-vous que le gouvernement était sans doute motivé par
quelque chose du genre, ou que la situation était moins sinistre?

M. Bourbonniere : Le terme sinistre est fort. C’est plutot une
question d’équité. Bien des gens dans cette piéce se rappellent sans
doute qu’a la fin des années 1980, on a beaucoup travaillé pour
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establishing a fair and consistent regime for retirement saving. In
particular, much work went into dealing with pension plans and
RRSPs, to be as fair and equitable as possible. We saw issues,
potentially, where this fairness or equity would break down; that
was the concern.

Senator Harb: Say somebody goes to a trustee to deal with
a financial situation that this individual is faced with. The
individual wants to restructure. If this person wanted to pull
out money from their RRSP to pay part of the creditors, do
you think that withdrawal should be allowed? Do you argue,
in essence, that when that money went into RRSPs, it went into a
retirement account and, therefore, it should not be touched,
even under those circumstances — that the government should
say no, that money will not be on the table?

It could be tempting for someone to say to that individual, we
understand you have $200,000 there. If you do this, I will not
object. We were told a number of times that all it takes is for
one player to say no to any kind of restructuring and then the
individual is into multiple hoops.

Is it your opinion that, under no circumstances, should RRSPs
ever be on the table; that the law should specifically state that no
one, directly or indirectly, should have undue influence over
somebody who is before a trustee to bring this matter to the table
in terms of pulling out of their RRSP?

Mr. Bourbonniere: The whole area of not being permitted to
use the RRSP as collateral goes in that direction. There are times
when we do not think it is appropriate for the individual to be
required to make that kind of withdrawal. Indeed, in the pension
world, there are restrictions on liquidity. It depends specifically on
how one crafts that kind of restriction.

The reality is that RRSPs are one of the last places that people
would go; but people satisfy claims or indebtedness by drawing
down their RRSP. That choice has a tremendous long-term
implication too. The fact that they have chosen to use assets in the
short run pays a huge price down the road; that is the other issue.
They cannot recover or recreate that pool of capital.

The area is a sensitive one in terms of restricting the use in that
regard; it is almost a case-by-case situation. We need to see the
nature of any restrictions before commenting specifically.

Mr. Henley: If the restrictions are along the lines of a
locking-in provision, I think we would withhold an opinion on
that issue until further study, because that restriction would be
contentious to the Canadian consumer.

The two of us are longer in the tooth, in terms of the
advice business. We have a lot of experience, unfortunately,
with individuals and small businesses that run into financial
difficulty.

mettre en place un régime juste et équitable d’épargne-retraite.
En particulier, on s’est longuement penché sur les régimes de
pension et les REER, afin qu’ils soient les plus justes et
équitables possible. Nous avons constaté qu’il pourrait y avoir
des problémes en ce qui concerne la justice et I’équité; c’est ce
qui nous préoccupait.

Le sénateur Harb : Disons que quelqu’un veut avoir un
fiduciaire pour l'aider a faire face a une situation financiére.
Cette personne veut restructurer. Si cette personne voulait sortir
de I’argent de son REER pour rembourser en partie les créanciers,
croyez-vous que ce retrait devrait étre permis? Dites-vous
essentiellement que lorsque cet argent a été investi dans des
REER, il a été versé dans un compte de retraite et que par
conséquent il ne devrait pas étre touché méme dans de telles
circonstances — que le gouvernement devrait dire non, cet argent
ne sera pas sur la table?

Il pourrait étre tentant pour quelqu'un de dire a cette
personne : Nous comprenons que vous avez 200 000 $ dans ce
compte. Si vous faites cela, je ne m’y opposerai pas. On nous a dit
nombre de fois qu’il suffit qu’un intervenant dise non a un type de
restructuration pour que la personne doive effectuer toutes sortes
de contorsions.

Etes-vous d’avis que, peu importe les circonstances, les REER
ne devraient jamais se retrouver sur la table; que la loi devrait
spécifier que personne, directement ou indirectement, ne devrait
pouvoir abuser de son influence pour que le client qui se retrouve
devant un fiduciaire retire ses REER?

M. Bourbonniere : L’idée de ne pas étre autorisé a utiliser les
REER comme garantie va dans ce sens. Il y a des cas ou a notre
avis il ne convient pas que quelqu’un soit obligé de faire ce genre
de retrait. En effet, dans le monde des pensions, il y a des
restrictions sur la liquidité. Cela dépend spécifiquement de la
facon dont ce genre de restriction est établi.

Le fait est que les REER sont I'un des derniers investissements
que les gens iraient chercher; mais il y a des gens qui remboursent
leurs dettes en retirant leur REER. C’est un choix qui a par
ailleurs des répercussions considérables a long terme. Le fait
qu’une personne ait choisi d’utiliser de tels actifs a court terme
colite tres cher a long terme; c’est ’autre probleme. Il n’est pas
possible de récupérer ou de recréer ce capital.

Il est trés délicat de limiter ['utilisation a cet égard; c’est
presqu’une situation de cas par cas. Nous devons voir la nature
des restrictions avant de faire des observations spécifiques.

M. Henley : Si les restrictions équivalent a une disposition de
blocage des cotisations, je pense que nous devons examiner la
question de plus prés avant de donner une opinion, car cette
restriction serait litigieuse pour le consommateur canadien.

Mon collégue et moi-méme ne sommes plus dans ’engrenage,
nous ne donnons plus de conseils aux entreprises. Nous avons
cependant beaucoup d’expérience, malheureusement avec des
particuliers et des petites entreprises qui se retrouvent avec des
difficultés financiéres.
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Based upon my 29 years in this business, I have seen few
individuals who voluntarily cash in their RRSPs. It is a last-ditch
effort. Frankly, normally we would advise them not to do so.
However, circumstances arise whereby they will want to cash
them in. With respect to your comment on the federal government
tax issue, when anyone withdraws any significant amount of
money from an RRSP, the federal government currently requires
a withholding tax that is nowhere close to the actual tax liability
incurred.

Senator Meighen: My brief question is somewhat tangential to
your presentation. Other witnesses on this same bill suggested
that the name of the bill is, unfortunately, bankruptcy and
insolvency. They suggested it would be better named, insolvency
and restructuring. Do you support that change if it could be
effected?

Mr. Bourbonniere: Yes, we support it as long as the aims and
objectives are consistent with the outcome. Wordsmithing is an
art not a science, but that change would be interesting.

Senator Meighen: You are involved in providing restructuring
advice, are you not?

Mr. Bourbonniere: Yes, but as I say, the outcome is important,
not the label. For the wordsmiths in the audience, that change
could be interesting.

Senator Jaffer: My understanding from those witnesses is that
the reason for the name change is allow people to feel more
comfortable about seeking advice.

Mr. Henley: 1 agree that the suggestion is a softer name
but the topic is more of a marketing one versus a technical one;
it is what it is. Few people, contrary to what the cynics might
think, want to go into bankruptcy. Most people do many
things to try to avoid it. The name of the bill is not as important
as the content of the bill.

The Chair: Senator Goldstein, do you have a comment?

Senator Goldstein: Mr. Bourbonniere and Mr. Henley, thank
you for your excellent presentation and the consistently positive
role that you and your organization have played in the creation of
these amendments as far as they affect the life underwriting
profession. You have played a responsible, responsive and useful
role, which everyone appreciates.

Some years ago, your predecessors were anxious to preserve a
monopoly with respect to life insurance on annuities and were
interested in protecting only that aspect by legislation, but you
have abandoned that position and instead, have taken a socially
correct position that all RRSPs deserve protection. For that,
you deserve a great deal of credit because you placed public
interest above your own interest; and that does not always
happen.

Ayant été 29 ans dans ce domaine, j’ai rencontré peu de gens
qui retiraient volontairement leurs REER. C’est une mesure
de dernier recours. Franchement, habituellement nous leur
conseillons de ne pas le faire. Cependant, il peut y avoir des
circonstances ou ils voudraient les retirer. Pour ce qui est de votre
observation au sujet de la fiscalit¢é du gouvernement fédéral,
lorsque quelqu’un retire un montant important d’'un REER, le
gouvernement fédéral a I’heure actuelle exige une retenue d’impot
qui est loin d’atteindre I’assujettissement a I'impot réel.

Le sénateur Meighen : J’ai une petite question qui se rattache
indirectement en quelque sorte a votre exposé. D’autres témoins
que nous avons entendus au sujet du méme projet de loi ont laissé
entendre que malheureusement le titre du projet de loi est
faillite et insolvabilité. Ils ont dit qu’il devrait plutdt s’intituler
insolvabilité et restructuration. Seriez-vous d’accord avec un tel
changement?

M. Bourbonniere : Oui, nous serions d’accord en autant que les
buts et les objectifs soient conformes au résultat. Le génie des
mots est un art, non pas une science, mais ce serait la un
changement intéressant.

Le sénateur Meighen : Vous donnez des conseils sur la
restructuration, n’est-ce pas?

M. Bourbonniere : Oui, mais comme je 1’ai dit, ce qui est
important c’est le résultat, pas I’étiquette. Pour ceux qui nous
écoutent et qui aiment manier les mots, ce changement pourrait
étre intéressant.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Si j’ai bien compris les témoins, la raison
pour laquelle on changerait le titre ce serait pour faire en sorte que
les gens se sentent plus a ’aise pour demander conseil.

M. Henley : Je suis d’accord pour dire que le terme est moins
fort, mais c’est plutdt une question de marketing qu’une question
d’ordre technique; c’est ce que c’est. Contrairement a ce que les
cyniques pourraient croire, il y a peu de gens qui veulent faire
faillite. La plupart des gens font bien des choses pour essayer de
I’éviter. Le titre du projet de loi n’est pas aussi important que son
contenu.

Le président : Sénateur Goldstein, voulez-vous faire une
observation?

Le sénateur Goldstein : Monsieur Bourbonniere et monsieur
Henley, merci de votre excellent exposé et du réle constamment
positif que vous et votre organisation avez joué dans la création
de ces amendements qui ont une incidence sur la vie des
professionnels de la souscription. Vous avez joué un role
responsable, utile et éclairant, et tout le monde 'apprécie.

Ily a quelques années, vos prédécesseurs souhaitaient préserver
un monopole en ce qui a trait a I’assurance-vie sur les rentes et
étaient intéressés a protéger uniquement cet aspect dans une loi,
mais vous avez abandonné cette position et adopté plutét une
position socialement correcte voulant que tous les REER méritent
d’étre protégés. Cela est donc tout a fait a votre crédit car vous
avez placé I'intérét public au-dessus de vos propres intéréts et cela
n’est pas toujours le cas.
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I want to hear your observations on the issue of locking in.
You recall that the personal insolvency task force suggested
in their report that RRSPs be locked in, with certain minor
variations. Details are not important. To provide for abuse on
the part of a debtor, debtors should not be in a position to go
into bankruptcy, not pay the creditors anything, come out of
bankruptcy, find themselves with a significant nest egg of
RRSPs and be able to spend it freely while the creditors obtain
nothing.

The issue is trying to determine an equilibrium between the
interests of the debtors in our society, who are largely victims of
the system, and the creditors, who frequently are also victims,
notwithstanding opinions to the contrary, because they have
suffered losses that they need not necessarily suffer.

What is your view on trying to re-establish that equilibrium so
that, in appropriate cases, people cannot walk away with
significant RRSPs?

Mr. Bourbonniere: Thank you for your kind comments. Our
watchword has always been to speak on behalf of the clients we
serve, as opposed to our own interests.

With regard to the issue of locking in, we would be delighted to
be part of a process to study the matter because it may be in the
realm of unintended consequences. The model we are thinking of
is an individual who begins a business at the age of 25 and, at the
age of 45, runs into the financial trouble; someone who starts
off as an employee and decides in mid-life to change careers; or
employed individuals who run into other debt situations. At the
same time, specific provisions in the Income Tax Act, such as the
life-long learning program or the home-ownership program,
deliberately allow for a withdrawal from an RRSP. Without
sketching out all the what-ifs on a chart, there is a sense of
unintended consequences. We are prepared to recognize that,
absolutely, for something this important, we want to ensure that
all potential contingencies are covered. Abuse of a system is the
last thing any of us want to see.

It requires study and we would be comfortable contributing
to the project. Some things I mentioned are at the top, in
my view.

Mr. Henley: You also must take a good look at locking in
as it ties into other kinds of retirement programs available
to Canadians: for example, pension plans in the different
jurisdictions and the different legislation. My practice is split
about 40 per cent to 50 per cent in that area.

As an example, multiple jurisdictions have changed their
legislation whereby they used to have locking-in provisions for all
things after 24 months of participation but have now lightened up
the requirements, depending which province you are based in.

The other area where we see many issues with small- and
medium-sized businesses is in the family-owned business and
the concept of succession planning. The Canadian lending
community to date is great at lending money to put up a

Je voudrais entendre vos observations sur la question du
blocage. Vous vous souviendrez que le groupe de travail sur
I'insolvabilité personnelle suggérait dans son rapport que les
REER soient bloqués, avec certaines variations mineures. Les
détails ne sont pas importants. Pour empécher I’abus de la part
d’un débiteur, ce dernier ne devrait pas étre en mesure de déclarer
faillite, de ne pas verser quoi que ce soit aux créanciers et de sortir
de la faillite avec un joli montant dans son REER, capable de
dépenser ce montant librement alors que les créanciers n’ont rien
obtenu.

Il s’agit de trouver un juste équilibre entre les intéréts des
débiteurs dans notre société, qui sont en grande partie victimes du
systéme, et les créanciers, qui sont souvent également des victimes,
nonobstant les avis contraires, car ils ont subi des pertes qu’ils
n’ont pas nécessairement besoin de subir.

Que pensez-vous du fait que I'on veuille tenter de rétablir cet
équilibre de sorte que dans les cas appropriés, les gens ne puissent
pas s’en sortir avec des REER importants?

M. Bourbonniere : Merci de vos aimables paroles. Notre mot
d’ordre a toujours été de représenter les intéréts des clients que
nous servons, plutét que nos propres intéréts.

Pour ce qui est de la question du blocage, nous serions ravis de
participer a une étude sur la question car il se peut que cela fasse
partie des conséquences imprévues. Le modeéle auquel nous
songeons est celui d'une personne qui se lance en affaires a
I’age de 25 ans et qui a 45 ans se retrouve avec des problémes
financiers. Quelqu’un qui commence comme employé qui décide
au milieu de sa vie de changer de carriére; ou des employés qui
s’endettent. Par ailleurs, des dispositions spécifiques de la Loi de
I'impé6t sur le revenu, notamment le programme d’éducation
permanente ou le programme d’accession a la propriété,
permettent délibérément un retrait d'un REER. Sans expliquer
toutes les possibilités, il y a toutes sortes de conséquences
imprévues. Nous sommes préts a reconnaitre tout a fait que
pour quelque chose d’aussi important, nous voulons nous assurer
que toutes les possibilités sont envisagées. L’abus du systéme est
la derniére chose que nous aimerions voir.

La question mérite d’étre étudiée et nous aimerions bien
participer a une telle étude. A mon avis, certaines choses que j’ai
mentionnées sont prioritaires.

M. Henley : Il faut par ailleurs examiner de trés prés le blocage
par rapport aux autres genres de programmes de retraite offerts
aux Canadiens : par exemple, les régimes de pensions des
différents gouvernements et les différentes lois. Dans ma
pratique, cela représente environ 40 a 50 p. 100 de mes clients.

Par exemple, bon nombre de gouvernements ont changé leur
loi en ce sens qu’auparavant il y avait des dispositions de blocage
pour toutes les cotisations aprés 24 mois de participation, mais les
exigences sont maintenant moins strictes, selon la province ou on
se trouve.

Un autre secteur ou nous constatons qu’il y a de nombreux
problémes avec les petites et moyennes entreprises est celui des
petites entreprises familiales et du concept de la planification de la
succession. Jusqu’a présent les établissements de préts canadiens



8:50

Banking, Trade and Commerce

14-2-2008

building or for a line of credit to operate a business. However,
to access money to buy a business is a difficult exercise for
small- and medium-sized businesses. If family members are
involved, and parents who have been prudent to ensure that
they take care of themselves outside the operations of the
business, there are other issues. Those items are a few things that
we are talking about, off the top of our head.

Locking-in warrants greater review and discussion before
considering any such concept.

Senator Goldstein: Where there is a significant RRSP, which
currently is exempt, do you approve of the possibility of a judge
looking at this RRSP when the debtor in question comes to the
discharge hearings, with a view to perhaps causing or suggesting
to the judge, either legislatively or otherwise, that some portion of
that RRSP, or an equivalent amount of money, be paid by the
debtor as a condition of discharge?

I will ask the question specifically: I was involved some number
of years ago, well before I came to the Senate, in a matter where
the debtor had an RRSP of $2.6 million, resulting not only from
savings but also from rolling in other gains. The person filed for
bankruptcy and left $900,000 owing to creditors. He was about to
walk away with $2.6 million in RRSPs, leaving creditors to
which $900,000 was owing, nothing. A discharge hearing was
held, and without going into the details, the result, on balance,
was favourable to my client.

However, that situation does not always happen. I give you
an extreme example to make the point. It does not happen
frequently, obviously, but sometimes there is a significant
disconnect and disproportion between what the debtor is left
with and what the creditors have lost.

Do you see that situation being redressed by a judge?

Mr. Bourbonniere: Effectively, if it looks like a cap and walks
like a cap, it is a cap. By leaving only a certain amount behind,
effectively they have instituted a cap.

Through pension reform and the like, certain amounts can be
put into an RRSP through contributions. Back in the day, you
could roll over pension incomes and what have you. The
opportunities for significant accumulations are there. Even
today, we would argue that the RRSP limits penalize RRSPs
versus individual pension plans. The opportunity is not what it
would have been back then, unless one is fortunate in their
investing.

That is another point. Most business owners take enough risk
from 9 to 5 that once they accumulate money, they tend to be
conservative in their investing. We perhaps have an opinion of
these people as gunslingers, who take considerable risk in their
investing, the way they do with their business, but they do not. In
our practice, we find that they tend to be conservative. The

sont tout a fait disposés a préter de I’argent pour construire un
immeuble ou a offrir une marge de crédit pour exploiter une
entreprise. Cependant, il est difficile pour les petites et moyennes
entreprises d’emprunter de 1’argent pour acheter un commerce. Si
les membres de la famille participent, et les parents qui ont eu la
prudence de veiller a s’occuper d’eux-mémes en dehors de
I’exploitation de I’entreprise, il y a d’autres problémes. Ce sont
la quelques questions auxquelles nous songeons, pour vous en
nommer quelques-unes rapidement.

Le blocage des cotisations mérite un examen et un débat plus
approfondis avant d’envisager un tel concept.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Lorsqu’il y a un montant considérable
dans un REER, lequel est a I’heure actuelle exonéré d’impét,
approuvez-vous la possibilité qu'un juge qui regarde ce REER
lorsque le débiteur en question assiste a son audience de quittance,
dans le but peut-étre de suggérer au juge, soit sur le plan 1égislatif,
soit autrement, qu'une partiec de ce REER ou un montant
d’argent équivalent devrait étre versé par le débiteur comme
condition de la quittance?

Je vais vous poser la question franchement : Je me souviens
d’une affaire qui date d’un certain nombre d’années, bien avant
que je ne devienne sénateur, ou le débiteur avait un REER
de 2,6 millions de dollars qu’il avait accumulé en épargnant
mais aussi en y ajoutant d’autres gains. La personne en
question a déclaré faillite et voulait que les créanciers absorbent
les 900 000 $ qui leur étaient dus. Elle était sur le point de se
décharger de ses responsabilités envers les créanciers alors qu’elle
avait 2,6 millions de dollars en REER. Il y eut une audience
d’acquittement et, sans entrer dans les détails, je peux vous dire
que de fagon générale mon client s’en est bien sorti.

Par contre, ce n’est pas toujours comme cela que ¢a se passe. Je
vous ai donné un exemple extréme pour tenter de bien illustrer la
situation. Bien que ¢a n’arrive pas tres fréquemment, il y a tout de
méme parfois une importante différence entre ’argent que détient
le débiteur et les pertes subies par les créanciers.

Pensez-vous qu’un juge pourrait remédier a cette situation?

M. Bourbonniere : Peu importe le nom qu’on emploie pour le
désigner, un plafond est un plafond. En ne laissant qu’un certain
montant, ce qu’on a fait, on a en fait mis en place un plafond.

Grace a la réforme des pensions, notamment, certains
montants peuvent étre versés dans un REER sous forme de
cotisations. A une certaine époque, on pouvait réinvestir ses
revenus de pension par exemple. Il est possible d’accumuler des
montants importants. Encore aujourd’hui, nous prétendons que
les limites auxquelles les REER sont assujetties les pénalisent par
rapport aux régimes de pension individuels. On peut moins
facilement accumuler de I’argent qu’a une certaine époque, a
moins d’avoir des investissements qui rapportent beaucoup.

Il y a autre chose. La plupart des propriétaires d’entreprise
estiment qu’ils prennent suffisamment de risques dans le cadre de
leurs activités habituelles que lorsqu’ils accumulent de I’argent, ils
ont tendance a I'investir prudemment. On a peut-étre I'impression
qu’il s’agit de personnes qui sont attirées par ’appat d’un gain
rapide et qui prennent des risques considérables quand ils
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opportunities to accumulate these large sums are not what they
once were. On the face of it, I suggest that approach is too close
to a cap for us to be comfortable with.

Mr. Henley: I realize that you cited an extreme example,
senator, but we assume the lending institution, the debtor,
assessed the risk of lending the money to the individual on the
basis of the individual’s ability to pay. Where one is not allowed
to use RRSP assets as any form of assignment, collateral, and
so on, we assume that the lending institution determined that
they had a reasonable opportunity to have their debt obligation
dealt with.

The Chair: Gentlemen, I think you made your point clearly.
We are delighted to have such positive input.

Our next witness is Andrew J. Hatnay, counsel with Koskie
Minsky LLP.

Welcome, sir. I know you have been in the room for the first
part of this morning’s hearing. We have a time bind, so we ask
you to make your points concisely. My colleagues will question
you in a similar concise fashion.

Perhaps you can tell us a bit about your law firm. Are you here
as an individual or representing interests?

Andrew J. Hatnay, Counsel, Koskie Minsky LLP: I thank all
the senators for allowing me to appear before you. I am a lawyer
with the firm, Koskie Minsky, in Toronto. Koskie Minsky is a
boutique law firm specializing in the representation of employees,
unions, pension funds, as well as general litigation. The firm has
built its history on representing employees and unions.

I am here today to assist senators, by giving you a ground view
of what is happening in bankruptcies and insolvencies that affect
employees and unions. I have been involved in many cases,
representing employees, unions and pension funds in bankruptcy.
Perhaps my experiences can be of assistance in letting you know
what is playing out.

I do not represent any particular client, except for one who
is in the gallery, the construction union, United Association.
In a way, this presentation is a dual type, due to the timing.
I will discuss where specific comments are applicable to the
United Association.

As a general overview, the proposed changes to the Bankruptcy
and Insolvency Act and Companies’ Creditors Arrangement
Act are good measures. Currently, as I believe you all know,
there is next to no protection in the BIA for employees, and
zero protection in the CCAA. This study represents a positive
effort.

investissent, comme ils le font en affaires, mais ce n’est pas le cas.
Nous avons constaté qu’ils étaient plutdt conservateurs. Encore
une fois, il est beaucoup moins facile d’accumuler de grosses
sommes d’argent qu’a une certaine époque. De prime a bord, je
dirai que 'approche ressemble trop a I'imposition d’un plafond
pour que nous puissions y donner notre accord.

M. Henley : Sénateur, je sais que vous avez cité un exemple
extréme. Par contre, on suppose que I’établissement de crédit, le
débiteur, évalue les risques associés au prét accordé a une
personne en fonction de sa capacité de rembourser. Dans les cas
ou on ne peut pas se servir de REER comme gage lors de cession
ou comme biens affectés en garantie, entre autres, on suppose que
I’établissement de crédit en question a déterminé qu’il avait de
bonnes chances de se faire rembourser son prét.

Le président : Messieurs, vous vous étes exprimés clairement.
Nous sommes ravis que vous ayez eu des propos aussi positifs.

Nous allons passer a notre prochain témoin, Andrew J.
Hatnay, avocat chez Koskie Minsky LLP.

Bonjour monsieur. Je sais que vous avez assisté a la premiére
partie de nos délibérations de ce matin. Nous n’avons pas
beaucoup de temps et par conséquent on vous demande d’étre
aussi concis que possible. Mes collégues poseront leurs questions
dans ce méme esprit.

Pourriez-vous nous donner des détails sur votre cabinet
d’avocats. Etes-vous ici a titre personnel ou représentez-vous
des intéréts en particulier?

Andrew J. Hatnay, avocat, Koskie Minsky LLP : Je désire
remercier tous les sénateurs de m’avoir invité a comparaitre
aujourd’hui. Je suis avocat au cabinet Koski Minsky a Toronto.
Notre cabinet est une firme qui se spécialise dans la représentation
des employés, des syndicats, des fonds de pension mais nous nous
occupons également de litiges généraux. Nous avons fondé notre
réputation en représentant les employés et les syndicats.

Le but de mon témoignage aujourd’hui, c’est d’aider les
sénateurs en leur donnant un apercu des effets de la faillite et de
I'insolvabilité sur les employés et les syndicats. J’ai défendu de
nombreuses causes, en représentant des employés, des syndicats et
des fonds de pension dans le contexte de la faillite. J’ose espérer
que, grace a mon expérience, je pourrais vous éclairer sur la
situation.

Je ne représente pas de clients en particulier, a I’exception de
celui qui est dans la tribune, le syndicat du batiment United
Association. D’une certaine fagon, je présenterai les deux volets
de mon exposé en méme temps, en raison du temps limité. Je vous
indiquerai quand mes commentaires s’appliquent au syndicat
United Association.

De fagon générale, les changements proposés a la Loi sur la
faillite et I'insolvabilité et la Loi sur les arrangements avec les
créanciers de compagnies sont bons. A I’heure actuelle, comme
vous le savez sans doute, la premiére loi ne renferme que trés peu
de protection pour les employés et la seconde, rien du tout. Votre
étude ouvre donc la voie aux changements.
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I am here today to highlight problems in the proposed
legislation, which I would like to bring to your attention. My
general thesis is that, although the proposed legislation is good,
there are problems with what will be put into force, and it will not
work as well as I would like it to work, and perhaps not as well as
some people may think.

Let me start with pension plans. Underfunded pension plans of
a bankrupt employer are a significant problem across Canada.
Where a pension plan is underfunded and an employer is
bankrupt, the pension plan must be wound up. An outside
administrator is appointed to wind up the pension plan, and if
it is underfunded, the administrator then will process the assets
and simply send letters to all the retirees to say: Your benefits
will be reduced. I am sorry. There is no money in the pension
fund.

In the proposed legislation, there is the creation of the pension
charge.

The Chair: Do you mean no money or not enough money?

Mr. Hatnay: There is not enough money. Members of an
underfunded pension plan face pension benefit cuts.

Let us talk about the pension charge in the proposed
legislation. The pension charge would create a secured-creditor
status for amounts owing to an underfunded pension plan in
the bankruptcy. In my brief, I explain that there are three
components of funds owing to a pension plan: normal cost,
special payments and windup payments. In a bankruptcy, if a
pension plan is underfunded, they are looking at windup
payments, as well as unpaid special payments.

The pension charge, as currently drafted, would assist pension
plans only in a limited way, by allowing a secured claim to be
created over unpaid normal costs. That is it. That assistance
will not necessarily fix the pension plan; it will not necessarily
stop the reductions from being put in place. Depending on the
status of the pension plan and depending on the company, the
pension charge will be of zero use, because sometimes companies
pay the normal costs but they do not pay their special payments
and they do not have enough money to pay windup payments.
Therefore, the pension charge will not always assist.

I am happy to refer to the cases as I go along, to give you
some real life experiences. This situation happened with a
Quebec company that we represented, called Ivaco. In my
paper, I quote from the Ontario judge, where he acknowledges
that even if the changes are brought into force, it would not help
the Ivaco pension plans, which were underfunded by tens of
millions of dollars.

The message I give you is that the pension charge will be of
only limited assistance. In some cases, it will not be of any
assistance at all.

Mon témoignage d’aujourd’hui vise a mettre en lumicre les
problémes inhérents au texte législatif proposé. Jestime qu’en
général, méme si je suis satisfait du texte proposé, sa mise en
ceuvre suscitera des problémes et la loi ne donnera pas d’aussi
bons résultats que je le souhaiterais ni méme aussi bons que le
pensent certaines personnes.

Commengons par les régimes de pensions. Les régimes de
retraite sous-capitalisés d’un employeur en faillite sont un
probléme de taille a ’échelle du Canada. Les régimes de retraite
d’un employeur en faillite, qui sont sous-capitalisés, doivent étre
liquidés. Un administrateur externe est nommé pour procéder
a la liquidation du régime de retraite et s’il est sous-capitalisé
I’administrateur traite les actifs et envoie tout simplement des
lettres aux retraités leur disant : « Vos prestations seront réduites.
Désolé. Il n’y a pas d’argent dans le régime de pensions. »

Dans le texte législatif proposé, on crée ce qu’on appelle les
charges de retraite.

Le président : Voulez-vous dire qu’il n’y a pas d’argent ou qu’il
n’y a pas suffisamment d’argent?

M. Hatnay : Qu’il n’y a pas suffisamment d’argent. Les
membres d’un régime de retraite sous-capitalisé font face a des
prestations réduites.

Parlons maintenant de la charge de retraite dans le texte
proposé. La charge de retraite créerait un statut de créancier
garanti dans les cas de faillite pour les montants dus en raison
d’un régime de pensions sous-capitalisé. Dans mon mémoire,
jexplique qu’il existe trois types de paiements qui doivent étre
versés a un régime de retraite : les paiements du colt normal, les
paiements spéciaux et les paiements de liquidation. S’il y a faillite
et que le régime de pensions en question est sous-capitalisé, ce
sont les paiements de liquidation et les paiements spéciaux non
payés qui présentent de I'intérét.

La charge de retraite, telle qu’elle est congue, ne sera utile au
régime de pensions que de fagon limitée en permettant de créer un
ordre de priorité des réclamations dans le cas de paiements du
colt normal non versé. C’est tout. Cette mesure ne permettra pas
de remettre le régime de pensions d’aplomb; elle n’empéchera pas
non plus les réductions des prestations. Pour certains régimes de
pensions et certaines compagnies, la charge de retraite risque de
ne servir a rien du tout parce que dans certains cas les sociétés
payent les colits normaux mais pas les paiements spéciaux et
n’ont pas suffisamment d’argent pour assumer les paiements de
liquidation. On peut ainsi dire que la charge de retraite ne sera pas
une mesure utile dans tous les cas.

J’aimerais me reporter a des dossiers précis pour vous donner
des exemples concrets. Le probléme s’est posé lorsque nous
représentions une société québécoise, Ivaco. Dans mon mémoire,
je cite les propos du juge ontarien qui reconnait que méme si des
changements ont été apportés, ils n’auront pas d’effets sur les
régimes de pensions d’lvaco, qui étaient sous-capitalisés de
dizaines de millions de dollars.

Ce que j’essaie de vous dire en fait, c’est que la charge de
retraite sera utile mais seulement dans certains cas. Dans d’autres
cas, elle ne servira a rien du tout.
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Second, I want to talk about the priority accorded the pension
charge. It sounds good on paper; everyone wants to be a secured
creditor. However, a secured creditor will not solve all the
problems.

Secured creditors compete with other secured creditors.
As you know, in a bankruptcy, everyone wants to be paid first.
The way the priorities are set out that deal with the pension
charge is not clear. It will be subject to the claims of 30-day
suppliers, the claims for a deemed trust and claims for unpaid
wages, which I will address in a minute.

Further — and this problem is the most troubling, from my
perspective — clause 18 amending section 50.6(2) of the proposed
legislation grants a bankruptcy judge the power to elevate the
security of any lender to a struggling company. What this section
translates to is that a judge can further subordinate the pension
charge, depending on the specific facts of the case.

The Chair: To clarify, sir, say the case is made that a specific
creditor should be given further security, that is to induce the
creditor to give ongoing credit, is it not? It is not for the past
credit, is it? I do not know. I ask the question.

Mr. Hatnay: I believe the way the section is drafted, it allows a
judge not only to give security for credit about to be given, but
also past credit. It gives a lot of power to the bankruptcy judge to
set the priorities, in short.

The Chair: Retroactively.
Mr. Hatnay: I believe retroactively, as well.

Senator Goldstein: Mr. Hatnay, I do not read it that way and
I do not think that was the intent.

The Chair: I wanted to make that point. Go ahead, because this
point is key in restructurings.

Mr. Hatnay: I can take you to the clause, happily, if there is
time.

The message I pass on is, even if a charge is given, which is
good, it is only as good as the priority it is accorded. These
subordinations I mentioned, as well as the power of a judge to set
a priority, throw the pension charge into some uncertainty.

We can have a great pension charge that covers normal costs,
but if it is subordinated to other claims and there are not enough
assets in the estate, it will be worth a lot less. It may not be worth
much at all.

I bring the priority issue to your attention because I think that
feature is an important one. It is not enough to give a party or an
entity security; the priority must be set as well.

Jaimerais maintenant vous parler de la priorité accordée aux
charges de retraite. En théorie, c’est un principe qui parait bien;
tout le monde veut jouir du statut de créancier garanti. Toutefois,
le statut de créancier garanti ne va pas résoudre tous les
problémes.

Les créanciers garantis se font concurrence entre eux. Comme
vous le savez, lorsqu’il y a faillite, tous les créanciers veulent étre
remboursés en premier. On ne sait pas exactement comment le
statut prioritaire est accordé aux charges de retraite. Il faudra
prendre en compte les revendications des fournisseurs devant étre
payés dans les 30 jours, les demandes visant a créer une fiducie
réputée et les demandes de paiements des salaires impayés, theme
que j’aborderai dans une minute.

De plus, ce qui est pour moi le plus troublant, c’est que la
disposition 18 qui modifie le paragraphe 50.6(2) du texte proposé
donne au juge siégeant en faillite le pouvoir d’élever la garantie
d’un préteur a une société en difficulté. Ce que ¢a veut dire, c’est
qu'un juge peut abaisser davantage le rang des charges de retraite,
selon les faits précis du dossier en question.

Le président : Je voudrais étre sir d’avoir bien compris. Disons
qu’on accorde une garantie accrue a un créancier en particulier,
on le fait pour le pousser a continuer d’accorder des préts, n’est-ce
pas? Ca ne s’applique pas aux préts consentis dans le passé? Je
n’en suis pas slr et c’est pour ¢a que je pose la question.

M. Hatnay : Selon le libellé de la loi, la garantie accordée par
un juge s’applique aux préts qui sont sur le point d’étre accordés
mais également aux préts consentis par le passé. Bref,
l’article accorde énormément de pouvoir au juge siégeant en
faillite pour établir les priorités.

Le président : C’est rétroactif.
M. Hatnay : Je pense que c’est rétroactif, également.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Monsieur Hatnay, ce n’est pas comme
¢a que j’interpréte les dispositions et je ne pense pas que ce soit
I'intention du législateur.

Le président : Je voulais que ce soit clair. Allez-y, parce que
c’est un point essentiel dans le cadre de la restructuration.

M. Hatnay : Je vous citerai volontiers I’article, s’il nous reste
du temps.

Ce que j’essaie de vous faire comprendre, c’est que méme si
une charge est accordée, ce qui est une bonne chose, elle n’est
avantageuse que lorsqu’elle est assortie d’une priorité adéquate.
La subordination dont j’ai parlée ainsi que le pouvoir du juge de
prioriser, crée de I'incertitude en ce qui concerne la charge de
retraite.

Méme s’il y a une bonne charge de retraite qui couvre les coits
normausx, si elle est subordonnée a d’autres réclamations et que la
caisse n’est pas suffisamment fournie, elle aura une valeur bien
moindre et risque méme de ne rien valoir du tout.

Je vous parle de cette question de priorité parce que j’estime
que c’est un aspect qui est important. Ca ne suffit pas d’accorder
une garantie a une partie ou une entité, il faut également établir
l’ordre de priorité.
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The Chair: In the case of underfunded pension plans, there are
other pre-bankruptcy remedies, I believe, depending on the cause
for the underfunding.

Mr. Hatnay: Those remedies are limited. Let us talk about a
non-bankruptcy situation with an underfunded pension plan.
I can even raise with you the example of Stelco.

Stelco, a well-known steel company, functioned for years, if
not decades, operating underfunded pension plans. I have used
the example of someone with a significant credit card balance
paying only the monthly payments each month. Stelco ran the
pension plan so that it made only the bare minimum to stay
onside the regulator; they were doing nothing incorrect from the
law standpoint, but the plan was woefully underfunded. They
entered CCAA, claiming insolvency, and they turned to their own
underfunded pension plans.

To address your point, what could the members have done?
They could have written to Stelco and said, we do not like this
situation; increase the funding to the pension plans. Stelco or
any other company could have written back saying, we are not
breaking the law; we are doing everything correctly; nobody is
denied a pension; and we do not have the money to fund the
pension plan because we want to build a new steel mill. That
response would be the end of it.

One remedy, pre-bankruptcy, could be to petition the
government regulator to put pressure on a company perhaps to
increase funding to the plan. However, in the Stelco example, they
would be met with a response that the company is not doing
anything illegal. The pension benefits are being paid so they will
increase the funding to the plan.

Pre-bankruptcy remedies are limited. Stelco is a good example
of the case where a company can go on for years with a deeply
underfunded pension plan. The big problem starts when the
company obtains insolvency protection.

Senator Eyton: My understanding with Stelco was that part of
the arrangement contemplated a meaningful payment into the
pension plan, as part of the overall restructuring.

Mr. Hatnay: That is correct.

Senator Eyton: You made it sound as if nothing was done. In
fact, a substantial payment was made.

Mr. Hatnay: No, I did not mean to make that impression
whatsoever. 1 only responded to a question about what can
be done pre-insolvency. Therefore, I cited how Stelco existed
pre-insolvency. It is correct that within the restructuring of
Stelco, a plan was put into place to make significant contributions
to the pension plans.

Le président : Dans le cas de régimes de pension
sous-capitalisés, il existe d’autres recours pré-faillite, je pense,
selon la cause de la sous-capitalisation.

M. Hatnay : Ces recours sont limités. Prenons I’exemple d’un
régime de pension sous-capitalisé mais dont ’employeur n’est pas
en faillite. Je peux méme vous citer 'exemple de Stelco.

Stelco, aciérie de renom, a fonctionné pendant des années,
sinon des décennies, en gérant des régimes de pension sous-
capitalisés. C’est un peu comme quelqu’un qui ne verse que les
paiements minimaux obligatoires chaque mois a sa compagnie de
carte de crédit alors que son solde est trés important. De la méme
fagon, Stelco gérait son régime de pension en ne versant que le
minimum requis par la loi; les responsables ne contrevenaient pas
a la loi mais le régime était gravement sous-capitalisé. Ils ont fait
appel a la Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des
compagnies en disant qu’ils faisaient faillite et se sont tournés vers
leurs propres régimes de pension sous-capitalisés.

Pour revenir a ce que vous disiez, qu’auraient pu faire les
membres? Ils auraient pu écrire a Stelco pour dire qu’ils n’étaient
pas contents de la situation, qu’il fallait accroitre le financement
des régimes de pension. Stelco, tout comme n’importe quelle autre
compagnie aurait pu répondre en disant qu’il n’y avait pas
infraction a la loi, que tout était fait correctement, que tout le
monde avait droit a une pension et que de toute fagon il n’y avait
pas suffisamment d’argent pour financer le régime de pension
parce qu’il fallait construire une nouvelle aciérie. Et ¢a se serait
terminé comme ¢a.

Pour ce qui est des recours avant la faillite, il est possible
d’envoyer des pétitions a I'organisme de réglementation du
gouvernement pour que celui-ci incite la société en question a
accroitre le financement du régime. Par contre, dans I’exemple de
Stelco, les responsables auraient répondu qu’ils ne faisaient rien
d’illégal. Les prestations de retraite sont versées, ils accroitront
donc le financement du régime.

Les solutions possibles avant une faillite sont limitées. Stelco
est un bon exemple de compagnie qui a pu poursuivre ses activités
pendant des années avec un régime de pension gravement sous-
financé. Le gros probléme commence a se poser lorsque la
compagnie demande a étre protégée contre la faillite.

Le sénateur Eyton : Dans le cas de la Stelco, si je comprends
bien, une partie de l'arrangement envisageait un versement
important au régime de pension, cela faisait partie de la
restructuration d’ensemble.

M. Hatnay : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Eyton : Mais vous semblez dire que rien n’a été fait,
alors qu’un versement important avait été effectué.

M. Hatnay : Non, je ne voulais pas du tout donner cette
impression. Je répondais simplement a la question de savoir s’il
était possible de faire quelque chose avant la faillite. J’avais donc
cité le cas de la Stelco en évoquant sa situation avant la mise en
cessation de paiement. Il est exact de dire, en effet, que dans le
cadre de la restructuration de cette compagnie, on avait mis en
place un plan qui comportait un virement de fonds important aux
régimes de pension.
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The only comment I would make is in the context of a
restructuring. The process is entirely unpredictable. At Stelco, the
result was favourable for the members, but there is no guarantee
that can transfer to other companies.

That is always a concern of the law and, I would say, of
retirees and pensioners because they look for certainty about
what will happen to their pensions. It is difficult, as a lawyer,
to tell them sometimes that we do not know yet; we are still
arguing with the creditors; we are going in front of a judge;
and this creditor is doing this and that creditor is doing that. At
the end, that result with Stelco was a good one, but that does not
always happen and the process is unpredictable.

I want to move on to the Wage Earner Protection Program.
Again, the effort was good. I commend Parliament and the
senators for putting this program in place, because presently
there is next to nothing in the legislation, except for the
small preferred claim in section 136, giving employees a
$2,000 preferred claim over other unsecured creditors.

WEPP is comprised of two components: a $3,000 payment
for unpaid wages and vacation pay; and the employee charge of
up to $2,000, again for wages and vacation pay.

The immediate concern I draw to your attention is that the way
the legislation is drafted, WEPP applies only to a bankruptcy, or
where a receivership is appointed. I ask you to consider that
situation because it is not a good one. There are many cases where
a company is not a formal bankrupt under the BIA, which is a
defined term, or no receivership is appointed.

Again, speaking as a lawyer who deals with these cases, a
company called Axium Entertainment is in the public news. It is
bankrupt in the United States. It has a Toronto office, which is
closed. The company sent all its employees home — we received
phone calls from them — without paying termination and
severance pay.

The employees do not know what is happening. There is no
trustee and no receiver; the company just shut down. The
employees are in no different situation than they would be
if a trustee or a receiver had been appointed. Their job has
been terminated and they have been sent home, bewildered and
upset. However, in that case, the Wage Earner Protection
Program would not apply to them. It would not step in to help
them.

Le seul commentaire que j’aurais a faire se situe dans le
contexte d’une restructuration. Le processus est entiérement
imprévisible. Dans le cas de la Stelco, le résultat avait été
favorable aux membres, mais il n’existe aucune garantie qui puisse
valoir pour d’autres compagnies.

Cela a toujours été un probleme de droits et, dirais-je aussi, un
probléme pour les retraités et les pensionnés parce que ceux-ci
veulent un certain degré de certitude quant au devenir de leur
pension. Il est toujours difficile pour un avocat de leur dire
quelque chose que nous ignorons encore. Nous sommes toujours
en pourparlers avec les créanciers; nous allons comparaitre devant
un juge. Un créancier fait ceci ou cela et un autre fait autre chose.
Au bout du compte, le résultat obtenu dans le cas de Stelco a été
bon, mais ce n’est pas toujours le cas et le processus lui-méme est
imprévisible.

Je voudrais maintenant passer au programme de protection
des salariés. Ici encore, cela a été un effort louable. Je félicite le
Parlement et les sénateurs pour avoir instauré ce programme
parce qu’a I’heure actuelle, la loi ne prévoit pratiquement rien,
si ce n’est l'article 126 qui donne aux employés une créance
prioritaire de 2 000 § par rapport aux autres créanciers non
privilégiés.

Le programme comporte deux volets: un versement
de 3 000 $§ pour les salaires non payés et la paye de vacances,
plus un maximum de 2 000 § que I'’employé peut réclamer,
ici encore, pour les salaires et la paye de vacances auxquels il
avait droit.

Le probléme immédiat sur lequel je voudrais attirer votre
attention est que, selon le texte actuel de la loi, le PPS ne
s’applique que s’il y a faillite ou mise sous séquestre. Je vous
demande de bien tenir compte de cela parce que cela n’est pas
bon. Il arrive trés souvent qu’une compagnie ne soit pas
officiellement en faillite en vertu de la loi, qui définit trés
précisément le terme, et qu’il n’y ait pas eu non plus de mise sous
séquestre.

Ici aussi, je vous parle en tant qu’avocat qui s’occupe de ce
genre de cas, et je cite en exemple une compagnie du nom
d’Axium Entertainment qui a fait les manchettes. C’est une
compagnie qui a fait faillite aux Etats-Unis. Elle a un siége a
Toronto et ce siége est maintenant fermé. La compagnie a renvoyé
tous ses salariés chez eux — ils nous ont téléphoné — sans leur
payer d’indemnités de départ et de cessation d’emploi.

Les employés en question ignorent ce qui se passe. Il n’y a pas
de syndic de faillite, il n’y a pas non plus de liquidateur judiciaire,
la compagnie a simplement fermé ses portes. Les salariés sont
finalement dans la méme situation que s’il y avait eu nomination
d’un syndic ou d’un liquidateur. Ils ont perdu leur emploi, on les a
renvoyés chez eux, ils n’en reviennent pas et ils ne sont pas
contents. Toutefois, dans ce cas-la, le programme de protection
des salariés ne s’appliquerait pas, il ne pourrait pas intervenir
pour les aider.
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I suggest that situation is a serious omission. Companies can
close down without a receiver or trustee being appointed, and
employees are terminated and sent home. They should have the
benefit of the WEPP as well.

The second point I want to make about the Wage Earner
Protection Program is the definition of “wages.” I have had many
disputes with trustees, receivers and other creditors over the
definition of “wages,” because these arguments come up in the
context of the current BIA, again with respect to the preferred
creditor claim in section 136 because of the way that language is
worded — that an employee is entitled to $2,000 for unpaid
wages. What are “wages?”

A definition in the proposed act, I believe, is wages, vacation
pay and “other compensation owing to employees.” It specifically
excludes “termination severance pay.” On the definition of
“wages,” I want to say a couple of things.

First, employees are owed much more than wages. They are
owed health benefits; contributions to vacation pay trust funds in
the case of unions, such as the client behind me; health and
welfare funds; and group RRSP contributions. Many things are
owed to the employee, not only hourly wages.

The United Association, who is the client here today,
operates multi-employer pension and benefit plans. Those
plans are all ones to which an employer is required to
contribute. If an employer declares bankruptcy and amounts
are owing to those funds, the concern is — and this concern
applies to union and non-union employees — that the definition
of “wages,” as currently drafted, is vague and insufficiently
conclusive. The definition should be expanded to make it clear
that it includes contributions owing for health and welfare,
group RRSP and vacation pay trust funds — all the components
of a employment contract. An employment contract, as you
know, is not only wages but includes many other things. The
definition is lacking.

I suggest that definition will lead to litigation and disputes over
what “other compensation” includes? There is an opportunity
now to make the definition clear, as it should be. That should be
done.

The exclusion of termination severance pay applies to our
union clients. As a practicing lawyer who has represented
thousands of employees who have been terminated, termination
severance pay is by far the largest amount owing to employees. To
understand what “termination severance pay” is, let us back up
for a moment and talk about employment and a company that is
operating. In Ontario, the law is clear that an employer can
terminate an employee with notice or for cause, but cause is not
relevant for this discussion. “Notice” means that the law requires
an employer to give a decent amount of notice to an employee

Selon moi, c’est 1a une grave omission. Il est tout a fait possible
qu'une compagnie ferme ses portes sans quun syndic ou un
liquidateur ait été nommé, il est tout a fait possible que les salariés
puissent étre renvoyés chez eux purement et simplement. Or, eux
aussi devraient pouvoir bénéficier du programme.

La seconde chose que je voudrais faire valoir au sujet du
programme de protection des salariés, c’est la définition du
salaire. J’ai souvent eu maille a partir des syndics, avec des
liquidateurs et d’autres créanciers sur cette question de la
définition du salaire, parce que c’est le genre d’argument qui
surgit immanquablement dans le contexte de I’actuelle Loi sur la
faillite et I'insolvabilité, ici encore en ce qui concerne I’article 36 et
les créanciers privilégiés en raison précisément du libellé de cette
disposition — qu’un employé a droit a 2 000 $ en compensation
de salaires non payés. Mais que sont ces « salaires »?

Le projet de loi donne une définition, je pense, des salaires, de
la paie de vacances et de « 'indemnité de départ ou de cessation
d’emploi ». Il exclut précisément « I'indemnité de départ pour
cause de cessation d’emploi ». En ce qui concerne la définition des
« salaires », j’aurais une ou deux choses a dire.

Pour commencer, la compagnie doit a ses employés beaucoup
plus que leurs salaires. Il y a les prestations de santé, les
cotisations au fonds en fiducie pour la paie de vacances dans le cas
des syndicats, comme le client qui se trouve derriére moi, les fonds
de santé et de bien-étre social ainsi que les cotisations collectives a
un REER. Il n’y a pas que les salaires horaires qui soient dus aux
employés, il y a toutes sortes d’autres choses.

La United Association, qui est le client représenté ici
aujourd’hui, gére des régimes de pension et de prestations a
employeurs multiples. Ces régimes sont tous des régimes auxquels
I’employeur est obligé de cotiser. Si un employeur se déclare en
faillite et qu’il doit de I’argent a ces fonds, le probleme — et cela
vaut pour les employés syndiqués comme non syndiqués —
c’est que lactuelle définition des « salaires » est vague et
insuffisamment probante. Cette définition devrait étre élargie
afin qu’elle précise trés clairement qu’elle comprend toutes les
cotisations en matiére de santé et de bien-étre, de REER collectifs,
ainsi que les payes de vacances — qui sont autant de composantes
d’un contrat d’emploi. Comme vous le savez, un contrat d’emploi
ne comprend pas que le salaire, il comprend bien des choses en
somme. Cette définition est donc insuffisante.

Je soutiens personnellement que cette définition donnera lieu
a des litiges et a des différends sur la signification exacte des
« autres rémunérations ». Il vous est loisible ici de rendre cette
définition plus claire comme il convient. C’est cela qu’il faut faire.

L’exclusion de I'indemnité de départ et de cessation d’emploi
intéresse nos clients syndiqués. En ma qualité d’avocat ayant
représenté des milliers d’employés remerciés, je sais pertinemment
que l'indemnité de départ ou de cessation d’emploi est de loin
le plus gros montant que I'’employeur leur doit. Pour bien
comprendre de quoi il s’agit, faisons un petit retour en arriere,
parlons un peu de ce qu’est un emploi et de ce qu’est une
compagnie active. En Ontario, la loi est claire : un employeur peut
remercier un employé sur préavis ou pour un motif valable, mais
le motif valable n’intervient pas dans notre discussion. Le mot
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before termination. The Supreme Court of Canada has written
many cases about the importance of treating employees correctly
and with dignity when they are terminated, and about the
requirement to give appropriate notice. Notice is required to
allow employees to recover and find another job. It is especially
critical for lower income people.

The termination of employment in an active business is hard
enough on an employee but it is extremely difficult when the
business is in bankruptcy because the business shuts down and
the employee faces zero termination severance pay. This situation
has happened in many cases across Canada, such as Eaton’s,
Dylex and Irwin Toy. I have seen first-hand the white-faced
employees in shock as they filed into our office. The situation is
disastrous. On Monday, they were told the business was doing
well and on Friday, they were told the business has failed and
they needed to clean out their desks. For employees living on
lower income, this situation spells disaster.

Generally, wages are not a big item owing to employees.
Companies pay wages almost up to the date they become
bankrupt. There is a practical reason that wages are not a
big component. If employees are not paid their wages as
expected, they stop showing up for work because they cannot
afford to work for free. Conversely, an employer, even if
facing a financial problem, wants to keep its employees paid to
clean up, collect receivables or take the business as far as
they can. They ignore termination severance pay. In the cases
I have worked on, the wages have been tiny amounts and, in
some cases, no amount at all. The WEPP, which does a great
job collecting wages, will not be of any use to these people.
It may be of help in the area of vacation pay, which is a modest
sum owing to employees. The exclusion of termination pay
is by far the biggest number owing to employees in lieu of
notice. It can reach millions of dollars. In the case of Eaton’s
and Dylex, these numbers were huge. Employees need that
money to find another job.

The specific exclusion of termination severance pay will
significantly dilute the effectiveness of the WEPP for employees
because that amount is big. Whether full termination severance
pay should be included, or 50 per cent of termination severance
pay, is something to talk about. However, its exclusion will
truly dilute this program. I do not want that to happen. I do
not want to see employees saying that WEPP does nothing for
them. It sounds nice on paper but it does not help them. I am
here today to bring that issue to the attention of the committee,
for what it is worth.

The Chair: Does that conclude your preliminary remarks?

préavis veut dire que la loi exige de I'employeur qu’il avertisse
suffisamment a I’avance un employé avant de le licencier. La Cour
supréme du Canada a déja rendu de nombreux jugements sur
I'importance qu’il y a pour un employeur de traiter ses employés
avec dignité et de fagon convenable lorsque ceux-ci sont
remerciés, et également au sujet de la nécessité pour 'employeur
de donner un préavis suffisant. Ce préavis est indispensable afin
que ’'employé puisse retomber sur ses pieds et retrouver un autre
travail. Et il est particuliérement essentiel pour les employés dont
le revenu est faible.

D¢ja, dans une compagnie en activité, il est difficile pour un
employé d’accepter un avis de cessation d’emploi, mais c’est
encore plus difficile lorsque son employeur est en faillite, que la
compagnie a fermé ses portes et donc que I’employé risque de ne
jamais voir la couleur de son indemnité de cessation d’emploi. Ce
genre de situation se produit souvent au Canada, il suffit de
penser a Eaton, a Dylex et a Irwin Toy. Personnellement, j’ai vu
de mes yeux des employés blémes et en état de choc venir nous
consulter. La situation est désastreuse. Un beau lundi, on leur
dit que tout va bien mais le vendredi, ils apprennent que la
compagnie est en faillite et qu’ils doivent récupérer leurs affaires.
Pour un salarié gagne-petit, cela équivaut a une catastrophe.

En général, les salaires dus aux employés ne représentent
pas beaucoup. En effet, les compagnies payent leurs salariés
pratiquement jusqu’au moment ou elles tombent en faillite. Si les
salaires cessent d’étre payés, les salariés ne viennent plus au
travail parce qu’ils ne peuvent pas se permettre de travailler
gratuitement. Inversement, un employeur qui aurait des
problémes financiers veut continuer a pouvoir payer ses salariés
afin de pouvoir continuer a fonctionner aussi longtemps que
possible, pour pouvoir encaisser ses comptes a recevoir et faire le
ménage. Il méconnait l'indemnité de départ ou de cessation
d’emploi. Dans les dossiers sur lesquels j’ai travaillé, les salaires
représentaient toujours des sommes infimes et, parfois méme, il
n’y avait aucun arriéré de salaire. Le programme qui obtient
d’excellents résultats lorsqu’il s’agit de percevoir les salaires, ne
sera pourtant d’aucun secours pour ces salariés. Peut-étre
le sera-t-il en ce qui concerne l'indemnité de vacances, qui est
une somme modeste due par I’employeur a son salarié. Par contre,
I'indemnité de départ payée a défaut de préavis est, de loin, la
créance la plus importance du salarié. Cela peut se chiffrer a
plusieurs millions de dollars. Dans le cas de Eaton et de Dylex,
c’était des sommes énormes. Les salariés ont besoin de cet argent
pour se trouver du travail.

Exclure l'indemnité de départ aura pour effet d’amoindrir
considérablement I’efficacité du Programme pour la protection
des salariés parce qu’il s’agit de gros montants. Qu’il s’agisse
de prévoir la totalit¢é de I'indemnité de départ ou 50 p. 100
seulement, c’est une question qui mérite d’étre discutée. Mais
si on lexclue totalement, on amoindrira considérablement le
programme et je ne veux pas que cela se produise. Je ne veux pas
que des salariés puissent dire que le PPS ne fait rien pour eux.
Cela semble bien beau sur le papier, mais cela ne leur est d’aucune
utilité. Je suis ici aujourd’hui pour appeler I’attention du comité
sur cette question, pour autant que ¢a en vaille la peine.

Le président : Cela termine-t-il votre déclaration préliminaire?
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Mr. Hatnay: Yes.
The Chair: Excellent, sir; they were clear.

Senator Harb: The witnesses who appeared before the
committee earlier also raised the issue of RRSPs but they talked
about the consumer end of the equation. I am glad you raised it
from the company point of view.

In your view, something in the regulations or legislation
should be strong enough to deter an employer from doing
anything with that sum of money that, in essence, belongs to the
workers. You suggest that we should include something in
black and white to say that existing companies contributing
to an employee pension plan, for example, must make those
contributions part of the termination package for the employee.
It must be clear that the contributions do not belong to the
employer. That situation applies to RPPs and RRSPs alike, as
part of the employee’s contract. Therefore, contributions must be
set aside somehow, whether in a trust fund administered by a
board or some other mechanism, to protect them. You say that
the current legislation is insufficient. Is that your view?

Mr. Hatnay: You suggest something even better than
I suggested. The suggestion that a employer put aside monies
that it owes to its employees for contributions to a group RRSP,
RPP, health and welfare funds, wages and other amounts is an
excellent solution.

The Chair: However, in practice, is that not what happens,
given the directors’ personal liability for these amounts? My
personal and vicarious experience has been that boards see
these situations evolving and, in anticipation, they create what
Senator Harb suggests. They put together the appropriate
amount of money, given the terms of personal liability. Is that
your experience?

Mr. Hatnay: That situation is rare, in my experience.
Occasionally, companies take that action. You are talking
about a prudent company that wants to do the right thing
for its employees. I do not suggest that other companies are
evil but, when a company is rumbling toward insolvency and is in
crisis, management does not necessarily focus on employees’
termination severance benefits. They might act in an unethical
fashion as a result of the distraction. In my experience, putting
monies aside for employee severance does not happen often.

The Chair: Senator Harb, I am sorry for the interruption.
Public companies listed on the stock exchanges have independent
directors who focus on personal or potential personal liability, as
do other private companies with management. Do you refer more
to the non-public companies?

Mr. Hatnay: No, I refer to the full range of companies.
They cross the whole spectrum.

M. Hatnay : Oui.
Le président : Excellent, monsieur, vous étiez tout a fait clair.

Le sénateur Harb : Les témoins que nous avons déja entendus
ont également parlé du probléeme des REER, mais ’ont évoqué du
point de vue du consommateur et je suis heureux que vous en
parliez vous du point de vue de la compagnie.

A votre avis, il faut que la réglementation ou la loi soit
suffisamment rigoureuse pour dissuader I'employeur de faire quoi
que ce soit avec cet argent qui, en somme, revient aux salariés.
Vous nous dites que nous devrions mettre quelque chose noir sur
blanc comme quoi les compagnies en activité qui cotisent a un
régime de pensions pour leurs employés, par exemple, doivent
inclure ces cotisations dans les sommes a payer au salari¢ a
son départ. Il faut préciser clairement que ces cotisations
n’appartiennent pas a I'employeur. C’est le genre de chose qui
vaut pour les RPE et les REER, puisque cela fait partie du contrat
de travail du salarié. Par conséquent, il faut d’une fagon ou d’une
autre que ces cotisations soient mises en réserve, par exemple dans
un fonds administré en fiducie par un conseil d’administration ou
dans tout autre vecteur, afin de les protéger. Vous me dites que la
loi actuelle est insuffisante a cet égard, n’est-ce pas?

M. Hatnay : Vous venez de dire quelque chose beaucoup
mieux que moi. Dire que I'’employeur doit mettre en réserve
largent qu’il doit a ses salariés au titre des cotisations a un
REER collectif, a un RPE, d’un régime de santé et de bien-étre,
des salaires ou autres, c’est une excellente solution.

Le président : Toutefois, en réalité n’est-ce pas déja ce qui se
passe étant donné que les administrateurs sont personnellement
responsables de cet argent? Mon expérience personnelle, toute
indirecte soit-elle, me dit que les conseils d’administration suivent
I’évolution de la situation et, a titre préventif, font précisément ce
que suggere le sénateur Harb. Ils mettent en réserve les sommes
nécessaires étant donné leur responsabilité personnelle. Est-ce
bien cela que vous avez pu constater?

M. Hatnay : D’aprés ce que j’ai pu voir moi-méme, c’est
exceptionnel. Il arrive effectivement que des entreprises procédent
de cette fagon. On parlerait ici d’'une compagnie prudente et qui a
les intéréts de ses salariés a ceeur. Je ne veux pas dire pour autant
que les autres soient malfaisantes, mais lorsqu’une compagnie est
aux portes de I'insolvabilité, lorsqu’elle est en crise, sa direction a
probablement des préoccupations plus pressantes que les
indemnités de cessation d’emploi des salariés. Peut-étre, étant
donné qu’elle est ainsi distraite, agira-t-elle contrairement a
I’éthique. Mais d’aprés ce que j’ai pu constater moi-méme, il est
rare qu'une compagnie mette de I’argent en réserve pour payer les
indemnités de départ des employés.

Le président : Sénateur Harb, vous me pardonnerez pour
cette interruption, mais les compagnies cotées en Bourse ont
des administrateurs qui sont parfaitement conscients de leur
responsabilité individuelle, comme d’ailleurs c’est le cas dans
d’autres compagnies privées dirigées par des cadres. Vouliez-vous
davantage parler de ces derniéres?

M. Hatnay : Non, je parle de toutes les catégories de
compagnies, d’un bout a I'autre du spectre.
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Senator Harb: Therefore, you are thinking the following:
To be fair, if workers must fulfill their obligations and contracts
by working and doing what is demanded of them, an employer
starting now should have a clear rule that the employer must
fulfill a commitment that will include contribution to the pension,
to the RRSP, et cetera. However, once that contribution is
made, it should be completely out of the employer’s hands.
It should be illegal for the employer to touch that money.

Mr. Hatnay: That solution would be an excellent one.
Senator Harb: It makes perfect sense.

Mr. Hatnay: You are talking about putting money into trust.
In the provincial pension benefits acts of every province in
Canada, the provinces put in place a protection for employees
for unpaid pension contributions. They call this protection the
deemed trust.

It operates in the following way: The province says any amount
that an employer is required to pay into a pension plan but does
not pay is subject to a deemed trust. That is your concept exactly,
and I think it is a good one.

The purpose behind that protection is due to the provinces
trying to separate out this money — even if it is not physically
separated by the company but only notionally separated. The
deemed trust does not apply in a bankruptcy, according to the
Supreme Court of Canada. They said the provinces cannot
legislate to alter the priorities in the federal BIA. Therefore, that
ruling kicks this concept over to the federal Parliament and the
senators to deal with.

In the case of Ivaco, the Quebec steel company, the deemed
trust was rejected by the bankruptcy judge at first instance. The
case went to the Court of Appeal, and the Court of Appeal again
rejected the deemed trust. It was about to go to the Supreme
Court of Canada but then the case settled. That issue would have
been subject to litigation.

The deemed trust, in that case, was advanced within the
CCAA. It was not a bankruptcy. However, the law as it stands
now stipulates that all provincial deemed trusts have zero effect
on bankruptcy.

Your concept is excellent but it requires an amendment by the
federal Parliament.

Senator Harb: Hopefully we will take some notes at some point
and reflect on that possibility.

My final point is the case where somebody has been with
a company for 10 years and is entitled to one month for every
year to a maximum of a number of years. One would say it is
important for that kind of money also to be set aside as part
of that trust so one does not find oneself in a situation such
as the one you mentioned where the company shut its doors,
went home and everyone else was left holding the bag.

Le sénateur Harb : Vous pensez par conséquent de la facon
suivante : en toute justice, si le salarié doit s’acquitter de ses
obligations et honorer son contrat en travaillant et en faisant ce
qu’on exige de lui, ’employeur, a partir de maintenant, devrait
avoir pour regle claire qu’il doit lui aussi honorer un engagement,
un engagement qui comprend sa quote-part au régime de
pensions, au REER et ainsi de suite. Toutefois, une fois qu’il a
payé sa part, il faut que cet argent échappe totalement a son
contrdle. La loi devrait lui interdire de toucher a cet argent.

M. Hatnay : Cette solution me semble excellente.
Le sénateur Harb : Tout a fait logique.

M. Hatnay : Vous évoquez la possibilité de verser de ’argent
dans une fiducie. La loi sur les pensions de chaque province du
Canada prévoit une protection a l'intention des employés dans le
cas de cotisations non versées au titre des pensions de retraite.
Cette protection s’appelle une fiducie réputée.

Ca se passe comme suit : la province stipule que tout montant
que doit verser un employeur dans un fonds de pension mais qui
n’a pas été payé est réputé avoir été versé dans une fiducie. C’est
exactement ce que vous dites, et je crois que I'idée est bonne.

Les provinces accordent cette protection pour séparer les
fonds, méme si la société en question n’a pas créé de fonds
distincts, les fonds sont réputés étre distincts. La Cour supréme du
Canada a statué qu’'une fiducie réputée ne s’applique pas aux cas
de faillite. La décision de la cour indique que les provinces
ne peuvent modifier les priorités contenues dans la Loi sur la
faillite et I'insolvabilité fédérale au moyen d’une loi provinciale.
I incombe donc au Parlement, y compris les sénateurs, de se
pencher sur la question.

Dans le cas d’Ivaco, la société sidérurgique québécoise, le
concept d’une fiducie réputée a été rejeté par le juge siégeant en
faillite de la cour de premiere instance. Les plaignants ont interjeté
appel, et la Cour d’appel a encore une fois rejeté le concept de la
fiducie réputée. La Cour supréme devait entendre I’affaire, mais
les parties ont conclu un réglement. La question aurait fait I’objet
d’un litige.

La fiducie réputée en cause avait été proposée en vertu de la
LACC. Il ne s’agissait pas d’une faillite. Toutefois, la loi actuelle

stipule que les fiducies réputées constituées en vertu d’une loi
provinciale n’ont aucune incidence en cas de faillite.

Votre idée est excellente mais elle exige une modification de la
loi fédérale.

Le sénateur Harb : Nous en prenons note et nous allons y
réfléchir.

Jaimerais maintenant vous parler d’un cas, il s’agit de
quelqu’un qui a travaillé pour une entreprise pendant 10 ans
et qui a droit a un mois de rémunération pour chaque année de
service, jusqu’a concurrence d'un certain nombre d’années. Je
crois qu’il est important que ce montant aussi soit mis en réserve
dans le cadre de la fiducie, afin que ’employé ne se retrouve pas
dans une situation comme celle que vous avez décrite, c’est-a-dire
qu’une entreprise ferme ses portes et laisse pour compte tous ses
employés.
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That is also your view: That amount should also be part
of it.

In essence, termination pay is part of the contract. If it is part
of the contract, the company fulfills it but not at the end when it
does not have money. It fulfills the contract as it goes along
because, if workers fulfill their part of the contract, employers are
responsible for fulfilling their part.

Mr. Hatnay: 1 agree with you. That position would be an
excellent one, as well. It would be highly beneficial to employees if
a company set aside money to cover termination and separation
pay.

Senator Harb: That requirement eliminates the possibility of
somebody foreseeing this situation and putting everyone on
contract to avoid the problem.

Mr. Hatnay: It is always subject to manipulation, of course.

Senator Massicotte: Any time one improves somebody’s
creditor status, one obviously affects somebody else’s. We are
talking about a constant pull of money, and there is shortage.

In two of your recommendations, you propose improving the
status of either severance or special payments under a pension
plan, and you suggest they should rank higher.

Do we have any numbers? What ranks higher than those
payments? Do we have general numbers saying X percentage is
for creditors, Y goes to unsecured creditors and Z to preferred
creditors?

Mr. Hatnay: I do not have firm numbers but generally the
system, as it stands works the following way. Section 136 of
the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act sets out the scheme of
distribution. It starts with subject of the claims of secured
creditors. Then it goes to a preferred, unsecured claim to
employees up to $2,000 for wages. The rest goes to unsecured
creditors.

Senator Massicotte: Do you have numbers such as: In typical
cases, 90 per cent goes to secured creditors, et cetera?

Mr. Hatnay: I am not aware of those statistics. All I can tell
you from personal experience is that, as soon as a company
becomes bankrupt, the first question asked is, “Who is the
secured creditor? How much are they owed and how much are
the assets in the company?” The trustee or receiver will quickly
come to that conclusion and they will be quick to say,
“Unsecureds get nothing.”

Senator Massicotte: Secured creditors are predominantly
banks or institutions with permanent financing of some sort?

Mr. Hatnay: Exactly: they are banks, lenders, et cetera.

Senator Massicotte: They are knowledgeable financial
institutions with special arrangements.

Vous étes du méme avis que moi : ces montants devraient en
faire partie.

Au fond, les indemnités de départ sont prévues dans le contrat.
L’employeur respecte les clauses du contrat sauf quand il n’en a
pas les moyens. L’employeur respecte normalement les termes du
contrat car si les employés s’acquittent de leurs responsabilités,
I’employeur doit le faire également.

M. Hatnay : Je suis d’accord. Votre position est également
excellente. Cela aiderait beaucoup les employés si une société
mettait de 'argent de c6té pour pouvoir payer les indemnités de
départ.

Le sénateur Harb : Une telle exigence éliminerait la possibilité
qu'un employeur n’embauche que des contractuels afin d’éviter ce
genre de probléme.

M. Hatnay : Il y a toujours le risque de manipulation.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Chaque fois que ’on tente d’améliorer
le statut de quelqu’un, on nuit forcément a un autre. Il s’agit d'un
tiraillement constant pour s’approprier sa part de ressources
insuffisantes.

Dans deux de vos recommandations, vous proposez d’accorder
davantage d’importance soit aux indemnités de départ ou a des
paiements spéciaux qui seraient prélevés sur un fonds de pension.

Avons-nous des chiffres? Quels sont les paiements qui sont
encore plus prioritaires? Avons-nous des chiffres généraux qui
nous indiquent que tel pourcentage est destiné aux créanciers, tel
autre aux créanciers ordinaires, et un autre encore aux créanciers
privilégiés.

M. Hatnay : Je n’ai pas de chiffres a vous fournir mais, en régle
générale, le systéme fonctionne comme suit : I’article 136 de la
Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité prévoit un ordre de priorité.
Tout d’abord, il y a les réclamations des créanciers garantis.
Ensuite, réclamations préférentiels et ordinaires des employés,
jusqu’a concurrence de 2 000 $ de salaire. Le reste de ’argent va
aux créanciers ordinaires.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Pouvez-vous nous fournir des chiffres
pour attester, par exemple, que dans les cas typiques, 90 p. 100 de
I’argent est versé aux créanciers garantis, et ainsi de suite?

M. Hatnay : Je ne peux vous fournir de telles statistiques. Fort
de mon expérience, je peux vous affirmer que dés qu’une société
fait faillite, on pose tout d’abord ces deux questions : Qui est le
créancier garanti? Quels sont les montants qui lui sont dus et
quel est I’actif de la société? Le syndic ou le séquestre trouveront
rapidement les réponses et seront prompts a dire: « Les
créanciers ordinaires n’ont droit a rien. »

Le sénateur Massicotte : Dans la majorité des cas, les créanciers
garantis sont des banques ou des institutions bénéficiant d’un
genre de financement permanent?

M. Hatnay : C’est ¢a, ce sont des banques, des préteurs, ainsi
de suite.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Ce sont des institutions financiéres
bien renseignées bénéficiant de dispositions spéciales.
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A witness last week had experience with international
bankruptcy law and, while he did not have a model, he said
that the principal interest of most bankruptcy laws is to
ensure that the secured lenders are enticed to help and lend.
Economic growth depends heavily on lending. One priority
is to ensure the secured lenders are protected to entice them to
lend money.

Would that affect the position of secured lenders?

Mr. Hatnay: If a secured lender was sitting next to me,
I am sure the lender would say, “Do not do this because we
will have to charge higher interest or may not lend in certain
cases.” There is always that spectre of a lender complaining
against giving a priority to employees because they say it will
affect the business.

By general observation, I would say this: The lenders to a
company are not restricted to banks. There are a whole range
of distressed lenders or sophisticated lenders who are all
sophisticated financial entities. They can always find a way to
generate a profit in most cases.

It is a bit of a red herring to say, “If you give priority
to employees for termination or severance, or if you give
them more of a secured claim, it will cause us not to lend to a
company.”

Personally, I have difficulty with that argument.

Senator Massicotte: Have you made a lot of bank loan
applications or negotiated loans?

Mr. Hatnay: Personally? No, I have only made personal
financing loans and things like that.

Here is an analogy for you: In insolvency, you may be
familiar with a debtor in possession, DIP, lender. A DIP lender
is one who comes forward to say, “Even though this company
is insolvent, I will lend money. However, I want top priority and
I will charge high interest.”

The Ontario courts — and this situation has developed across
Canada — have given these DIP lenders priority status
essentially. They have come up with a solution to protect the
DIP lender. That protection will also be reflected in the proposed
legislation.

The example is one of an innovation, and the courts
responding to assist these loans to be made that exist in
practice. Companies and lenders continue to exist, even in
insolvency, and lenders will be out there. It will not be a case
where they will not lend and they will forego profit.

There is always the perception-is-reality concern. If enough
people say that it will not work, people start to think it will not
work. I have trouble accepting that argument. If the financials of

Un témoin qui a comparu la semaine derniére avait une
certaine expérience du droit international de la faillite, et bien
qu’il ne nous ait pas fourni de modéle, il a dit que la plupart des
lois en matiére de faillite visaient principalement a s’assurer
que les préteurs garantis sont encouragés a aider et a préter de
largent. La croissance économique dépend largement des préts.
Une des priorités consiste donc a s’assurer que les préteurs
garantis sont protégés afin de les encourager a préter de I’argent.

Y aurait-il des répercussions sur la position des préteurs
garantis?

M. Hatnay : Si un préteur garanti était ici aujourd’hui, je suis
sir qu’il dirait qu’il ne faudrait pas le faire, parce qu’il serait
obligé d’imposer des taux d’intérét plus élevés ou encore de
refuser d’accorder un prét dans certains cas. Il y a toujours ce
spectre d’un préteur qui se plaint de devoir accorder la priorité
aux employés parce que cela aura une incidence sur son chiffre
d’affaires.

J’aimerais également vous faire part d’une observation
générale, soit que les sociétés n’empruntent pas seulement de
l’argent aux banques. Il existe toute une gamme de préteurs
spécialisés dans le domaine des préts en difficulté ainsi que
d’autres préteurs qui sont tous des entités financiéres trés
sophistiquées. Dans la plupart des cas, ces entités sont en
mesure de générer des profits.

C’est une erreur de dire que si vous accordez la priorité aux
employés a qui I'on doit des indemnités de départ, ou si vos leur
garantissez leurs créances, on ne prétera pas d’argent a une
entreprise.

Je ne souscris pas a cet argument.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Avez-vous déja présenté des demandes
de préts bancaires ou négocié des préts?

M. Hatnay : Moi? Non, je n’ai contracté que des préts
personnels.

Voici une analogie. Vous savez peut-&tre qu’il existe des
préteurs qui prétent de l'argent aux débiteurs en possession de
leurs biens. Ce genre de préteur est prét a accorder des crédits
méme si I’entreprise est insolvable, toutefois, le préteur veut avoir
la priorité sur tous les autres créanciers et imposera des taux
d’intérét élevés.

Les tribunaux de I’Ontario, et c’est le cas maintenant dans tout
le pays, accordent la priorité a ces préteurs. Ces tribunaux ont
trouvé une solution permettant de protéger le préteur qui accorde
des crédits aux débiteurs en possession de leurs biens. Cette
protection sera prévue dans le projet de loi.

Il s’agit d’une approche novatrice, en ce sens que les tribunaux
facilitent ce genre de préts qui existent dans la pratique. Les
entreprises et les préteurs continueront d’exister, méme dans des
cas d’insolvabilité, et les préteurs poursuivront leurs activités. Ces
préteurs ne refuseront pas d’accorder des crédits et ne renonceront
pas a des profits.

On se préoccupe toujours de la perception. Si les attitudes sont
suffisamment négatives, les gens seront convaincus que ¢a ne
marchera pas. Je trouve cet argument difficile a accepter. Si une
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a company work, and a sophisticated lender is at the table and
can figure out how to make the company work, they will make it
work to make money for themselves. It will not be necessarily at
the expense of employees. I think measures can be put in place to
assist employees that will not deter lending.

Senator Massicotte: This comment may be a personal one, but
we are all subject to all kinds of information.

I appreciate your confidence that lending will not be affected,
but in the last six months, nearly every central bank in the world,
including our own, has issued statements that they are extremely
worried about what is happening and that there will be a
significant contraction of credit. We are talking about hundreds
of billions of dollars.

Our own banks, and those in the United States and England,
have tried to increase liquidity. If you look at how lending has
occurred in our country with all this vertical product, lending is
now going back to the old way. The concern is that our country
could suffer immensely from this lack of liquidity.

I appreciate that you are not concerned with the secured
creditors’ position, but many sophisticated people are worried
about the reverse, whereby there will not be enough loans. I heard
in a presentation yesterday that $100 billion is missing in our
country.

If you had more information — not anecdotal but specific
information — about who wins and who loses, that information
would help us, because we are balancing who will receive the
money.

Mr. Hatnay: If it would be of assistance, I could research that
for you and submit separate documentation. Those studies have
been done. They are sophisticated economic studies. I have read
them. I am not prepared to discuss them in this session, but I am
happy to follow up.

The Chair: We would be pleased if you would send that
information to the clerk. That would help us.

Senator Eyton: Following along the same line as Senator
Massicotte, the question is whether credit is available, and the
cost of the credit that may be available. Either factor might
discourage investment and jobs, et cetera, so that is a concern.

You have three precise suggestions. Can you estimate for
me — or inform the committee later, perhaps in writing — how
much you take off the table with all these provisions, in an
ordinary way? There is a certain quantum to a company’s assets
or to a bankrupt estate. Given these provisions, what is the effect?
Do they take away 10 per cent, 15 per cent or 20 per cent of
available security?

It seems to me that we must make that kind of analysis before
we can judge whether we can afford to enact all these measures,
taking proper consideration of lenders generally. I do not think
the difference is significant between banks and other lenders.

entreprise a une base financiére adéquate, et si un préteur
compétent est présent et peut trouver une solution pour
rentabiliser I'entreprise, ensemble ils trouveront le moyen de
réaliser des bénéfices. Ce ne sera pas forcément aux dépends des
employés. Je crois que ’on peut mettre en place des mesures qui
aideront les employés sans décourager les préts.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Mon observation est peut-étre d’ordre
personnel, soit.

Je respecte votre avis quant a I'absence de répercussions sur les
préts, mais au cours des six derniers mois, pratiquement chaque
banque centrale du monde, dont la nétre, a fait des déclarations
faisant état de leur grande préoccupation quant a la situation
actuelle et qu’il en résultera une contraction considérable du
crédit. Il s’agit de centaines de milliards de dollars.

Nos banques canadiennes, ainsi que les banques américaines et
anglaises, ont tenté d’accroitre les liquidités. Actuellement, les
préts ont une structure verticale au Canada, mais on observe
maintenant un renversement de la vapeur. Beaucoup s’inquiétent
que notre pays ne souffre énormément du manque de liquidités.

Vous ne vous souciez pas de la position des créanciers garantis,
mais bon nombre de personnes compétentes craignent qu’il n’y ait
pas suffisamment de préts. Dans un exposé hier, on nous a dit que
le Canada est a court de 100 milliards de dollars.

Si vous pouviez nous fournir des renseignements — pas de
oui-dire mais des renseignements bien précis — sur les gagnants et
les perdants, cela nous serait d’une grande utilité, car nous tentons
de répartir I’argent.

M. Hatnay : Si vous voulez bien, je peux faire des recherches et
vous fournir ces renseignements dans un document séparé. De
telles études existent. Il s’agit d’études économiques complexes. Je
les ai lues. Je ne me sens pas en mesure d’en discuter maintenant,
mais je serai heureux de faire un suivi.

Le président : Nous vous saurons gré de bien vouloir envoyer
ces renseignements au greffier. Cela nous sera trés utile.

Le sénateur Eyton : Je vais poursuivre dans la méme veine que
le sénateur Massicotte et vous demander si le crédit est disponible,
et quel en est le cott. Chacun de ces facteurs peut décourager les
investissements et les emplois, ainsi de suite, c’est donc une
préoccupation.

Vous nous avez fait trois suggestions précises. Pouvez-vous
m’indiquer maintenant, ou alors faire suivre la réponse au comité
plus tard, quel montant est déduit en vertu de ces dispositions de
fagon générale? L’actif d’une société ou une succession vaut tant.
Compte tenu des dispositions, quelle en serait I'incidence? Est-ce
quon enléve 10 p. 100, 15 p. 100 et encore 20 p. 100 de la
caution disponible?

Il me semble que nous devons faire ce genre d’analyse avant de
pouvoir décider si nous pouvons nous permettre d’adopter toutes
ces mesures, eu ayant égard aux préteurs en général. Je ne crois
pas qu’il y ait une différence significative entre les banques
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They all generally take the same approach; that is, they want some
kind of a return, and where risk is high, they will charge more, or
perhaps refuse the loan.

Mr. Hatnay: That information sounds similar to what Senator
Massicotte requested. I am happy to address that question in a
supplementary submission. I do not have a number. I will
research it. I appreciate that the legislation is a balancing act. You
must keep the economy going and maintain a positive lending
environment.

I am here to tell you the other side of the equation; not to
forget the employees. I understand your conundrum, and I can
make further submissions if that would be helpful.

The Chair: Thank you. That is kind of you, sir. It would
help us.

Senator Goldstein: Mr. Hatnay, thank you for an enlightening
and balanced presentation. We all appreciate it and are grateful
for it.

I wanted to address a number of issues, but I will address
only one, and that is the super-priority that you suggest, or
inclusion in the WEPP that you suggest, of termination and
severance pay.

You recall that the concept of director’s liability is limited
to wages or salaries for services rendered, depending on the
wording of various provincial statutes. In Schwartz v. Scott
and Barrette v. Crabtree, the Supreme Court determined that
termination pay was not for services rendered but for services
not rendered.

If the WEPP were amended to expand its availability to
termination pay and to various other pieces that are not for
services rendered, the subrogation rights of the government
against directors would be limited because the provincial statutes
that impose liabilities on directors do not have that expanded
definition.

Do you therefore agree that if we were to consider including
termination pay — and we may well consider it appropriate to
include termination pay — that every provincial statute would
need to be amended to ensure that the federal government —
meaning you and me, as taxpayers — would not find itself with
monstrous liabilities to pay, with no recourse to anybody?

Mr. Hatnay: With regard to your first comment, I have
been involved in a few cases that deal with director’s liability.
The case law is voluminous. There is case law to support that
directors can be liable for termination and severance pay.

This is not the forum for legal debate and exchange of
cases, but essentially where that comes from are Supreme Court
of Canada decisions, in particular, from Mr. Justice Iacobucci,
where he characterized what is termination and severance pay.
It is simply pay in lieu of notice. What is notice? The employee
is terminated after a month, but if the employer does not want
the employee on the premises for a month, the employee is
paid in lieu of notice.

et les autres préteurs. Ils ont normalement la méme approche,
c’est-a-dire qu’ils souhaitent retirer des bénéfices, et si le risque est
¢élevé, les intéréts le seront également, ou encore le prét sera refusé.

M. Hatnay : Votre demande est semblable a celle du sénateur
Massicotte. Je serais heureux de vous fournir la réponse dans un
document supplémentaire. Je ne peux vous fournir de chiffres,
mais j’effectuerai les recherches nécessaires. Je comprends que
le législateur doit parvenir a un équilibre. Vous devez alimenter
I’économie et entretenir un milieu propice au crédit.

Je suis ici pour vous rappeler qu’il ne faut pas oublier le
pendant de la question, c’est-a-dire les employés. Je comprends
votre dilemme, et je suis prét a vous présenter d’autres mémoires
si cela vous sera utile.

Le président : Merci, c’est trés gentil. Cela nous sera trés utile.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Monsieur Hatnay, nous vous
remercions tous de votre exposé équilibré et fort intéressant.
Merci.

Je voulais aborder de nombreuses questions, mais je me
contenterai d’une, c’est-a-dire la super priorité que vous proposez,
soit I'inclusion des indemnités de départ et de cessation d’emploi
dans le programme de protection des salariés.

Vous vous souvenez que la responsabilité du directeur se limite
aux salaires ou aux traitements offerts pour services rendus,
selon le libellé des lois provinciales. Dans Schwartz ¢. Scott et
Barrette c. Crabtree, la Cour supréme a stipulé que les indemnités
de départ ne correspondaient pas aux services rendus mais bien
aux services non rendus.

Si le programme de protection des salariés était modifié de
fagon a inclure les indemnités de départ ainsi que divers autres
paiements qui ne correspondent pas aux services rendus, les droits
de subrogation du gouvernement contre les administrateurs
seraient limités parce que les lois provinciales prévoyant leurs
responsabilités ne tiennent pas compte de cette définition élargie.

Etes-vous d’accord pour dire que si nous devions inclure les
indemnités de départ, et il se peut que nous prenions une telle
décision, il faudrait alors modifier chaque loi provinciale afin de
s’assurer que le gouvernement fédéral, et 1a il s’agit de moi, de
vous, soit les contribuables, ne se trouve pas accablé de dettes
énormes sans aucun recours?

M. Hatnay : En ce qui concerne votre premiére observation,
j’ai travaillé sur quelques causes touchant a la responsabilité des
administrateurs. La jurisprudence est bien fournie. Elle indique
que les administrateurs peuvent étre tenus de payer les indemnités
de départ et de cessation d’emploi.

Nous ne sommes pas ici pour nous lancer dans un débat
juridique ni faire état de diverses causes, mais je vous parle de
décisions rendues par la Cour supréme du Canada, notamment
celle du juge lacobucci, qui a défini les indemnités de départ et de
cessation d’emploi. C’est simplement une indemnité de préavis.
C’est quoi un préavis? Si ’employé est congédié aprés un mois,
mais ’'employeur ne veut pas voir I’'employé sur les lieux de travail
pendant un mois, 'employé regoit une indemnité de préavis.
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Justice Tacobucci said this pay is wages; that is all it is. The
employer can choose to have the employee work out the month,
doing the job and providing services, or the employer can ask the
employee to leave immediately, and many employers choose the
second concept.

With respect, I do not necessarily agree that director’s liability
excludes termination and severance pay at this point. That is my
first observation.

In terms of expanding WEPP to cover termination and
severance pay, I do not necessarily share your concern about
the problem. The definition of wages can be expanded to catch
termination and severance pay. It would mean that the WEPP
would pay out more money, which of course would be federal
money, but the provision could be crafted in such a way as not to
overburden the Canadian taxpayer; perhaps 50 per cent of
termination and severance pay, 30 per cent or something.
Something is better than what it is now, for sure.

Senator Goldstein: You do not see a constitutional issue in that
approach?

Mr. Hatnay: No, I do not.

Senator Goldstein: You have suggested, correctly, that there
is a gap in our system because corporations that do not go
bankrupt and are not in receivership nevertheless find themselves
having dismissed employees, directly or indirectly, and these
employees have no recourse to the WEPP, which was your initial
submission.

Do you agree that this issue is a constitutional one as well?
The WEPP is created as a function of federal jurisdiction to
deal with insolvency, and if we are not dealing with insolvency,
then the federal government, with respect, has no great business
venturing into salary guarantees, where is there no bankruptcy or
receivership.

Where do you attach the jurisdiction of the federal government
in an area that is otherwise clearly of provincial jurisdiction?

I agree there is a gap and we should try to do something
about it. The question is where? More important, should
the Government of Canada or the provincial governments
do something in those circumstances?

Mr. Hatnay: Since the WEPP is put forward as a federal
position, it should be the federal government.

Senator Goldstein: But it is tied to bankruptcy.

Mr. Hatnay: Your point is a good one. However, I spin it
around to look at the problem.

Selon le juge Iacobucci cette indemnité correspond a un salaire,
ni plus ni moins. L’employeur peut choisir de faire travailler
I’employé pendant tout le mois, afin que celui-ci fasse son travail
et fournisse des services, ou bien I'employeur peut demander a
I’employé de quitter les lieux immédiatement, et bon nombre
d’employeurs choisissent cette deuxiéme solution.

Sauf tout le respect que je vous dois, je ne suis pas forcément
d’accord pour dire que la responsabilité de ’administrateur ne
comprend pas les indemnités de départ et de cessation d’emploi.
C’était ma premiére observation.

Je ne pense pas comme vous qu’il y aurait nécessairement un
probléme si nous modifiions le programme de protection des
salariés afin d’inclure les indemnités de départ et de cessation
d’emploi. La définition d’un salaire peut étre modifiée de facon a
inclure ces indemnités. Cela voudrait dire que le programme de
protection des salariés débourserait davantage d’argent, bien sir
il s’agirait de ressources fédérales, mais on pourrait rédiger la
disposition de maniére a ce qu’elle ne soit pas trop onéreuse pour
le contribuable canadien. On pourrait envisager, par exemple, que
le programme assurerait 50 p. 100 des indemnités de départ et de
cessation d’emploi, ou encore 30 p. 100 ou une autre formule. Ce
serait assurément mieux que ce que recoivent les employés
actuellement, c’est-a-dire rien.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Vous n’y voyez pas un probléme
constitutionnel?

M. Hatnay : Non.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Vous avez fait valoir, avec raison
d’ailleurs que le systéme est lacunaire parce que les sociétés qui ne
font pas faillite et ne sont pas mises sous séquestre se trouvent
néanmoins a devoir congédier des employés, que ce soit
directement ou indirectement, et que ces employés ne sont pas
admissibles au programme de protection des salariés, ce qui était
votre argument initial.

Ne convenez-vous pas qu’il s’agit également d’une question
constitutionnelle? Le programme de protection des salariés est
un programme fédéral portant sur 'insolvabilité, et si nous ne
traitons pas I'insolvabilité, alors le gouvernement fédéral n’a pas
d’affaire a s’aventurer dans le domaine des garanties de salaire, en
I’absence de faillite ou de mise sous séquestre.

Ou voyez-vous la compétence du gouvernement fédéral dans
un domaine qui par ailleurs reléve clairement des provinces?

Je conviens qu’il y a une lacune et que nous devrions
tenter de la combler. Mais comment? Ce qui est plus
important a déterminer encore, dans les circonstances, est-ce le
gouvernement du Canada ou les gouvernements provinciaux
qui devraient intervenir?

M. Hatnay : Puisque le Programme de protection des salariés a
été proposé par le gouvernement fédéral, ce devrait étre le
gouvernement fédéral.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Mais il s’agit du domaine de la faillite.

M. Hatnay : C’est vrai ce que vous dites. Toutefois, je retourne
la question pour considérer le probléme.
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The problem is, a company shuts down and terminates all the
employees. They say, “We are not bankrupt or in receivership.
We are closing the door.” In the example I gave you, the parent
company is bankrupt in the United States. The company has
offices all over the place and it shuts down the Toronto office.

In that example, the law could be amended that if a company
closes down and its affiliate or governing mind is bankrupt, then
the WEPP should apply.

I think the federal government has the power to institute some
type of program to apply to these situations.

I do not see a constitutional problem only because the
government is operating under the rubric of bankruptcy and
insolvency.

Senator Goldstein: Could you solve the problem by having the
employees petition the company into bankruptcy?

Mr. Hatnay: That would make the company a bankrupt, and
then the WEPP would apply right away.

Senator Goldstein: So it is not a problem.

Mr. Hatnay: To the contrary: It is a huge practical problem.
That issue was discussed in that case. You must remember:
Employees who are terminated are thinking about their rent
or mortgage. They are not thinking about hiring a lawyer to
petition a company into bankruptcy, to attach the bankruptcy
label to recover a few thousands dollars from the WEPP.
Practically, that solution will not work.

I urge you to think of solutions that respond to the
practicalities of the situation. I am happy to assist in any way
I can. However, I do not think a receivership petition would
work.

The Chair: Mr. Hatnay, first, [ want to thank you on behalf of
the entire committee for not only your clear presentation but
your helpful and cooperative attitude. We look forward to
receiving these other items. I gather you stand available if we
have any questions when we prepare our report.

I welcome our new witnesses. I wish you both a happy
Valentine’s Day. Thank you for the Valentine you sent to us via
The Globe and Mail this morning. It enabled us to have our
breakfast with hearts and flowers from the University of Toronto.
We have with us Jacob S. Ziegel, Professor Emeritus, University
of Toronto; and your colleague, Anthony Duggan, Professor,
University of Toronto.

You are not strangers to this committee. You have spoken
with us in the public domain on December 18 and again on
January 4.

Le probléme, c’est qu’une société ferme ses portes et congédie
tous ses employés. La société dit qu’elle ne fait pas faillite et n’a
pas été mise sous séquestre, elle ferme tout simplement ses portes.
Dans I’exemple que je vous ai donné, la société-mére a fait faillite
aux Etats-Unis. La société a des bureaux partout au monde et elle
ferme son bureau de Toronto.

Dans ce cas, on pourrait modifier la loi de facon a ce que, si
une société ferme ses portes et une de ses filiales ou sa
maison-mére fait faillite, le Programme de protection des
salariés s’appliquerait.

Je crois que le gouvernement fédéral a les pouvoirs nécessaires
pour prévoir un programme qui s’appliquerait en pareils cas.

Je n’y vois pas de probléme constitutionnel pour seul motif que
le gouvernement agit dans le domaine de la faillite et de
I'insolvabilité.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Pourrait-on résoudre le probléme en

demandant aux employés de déposer une requéte de mise en
faillite?

M. Hatnay : La compagnie tomberait alors en faillite,
et le Programme de protection des salariés s’appliquerait
immédiatement.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Donc, ce n’est pas un probléme.

M. Hatnay : Au contraire, il s’agit d’un probléme pratique
énorme. La question a été soulevée en 1’occurrence. Vous en
souvenez-vous : les employés qui sont congédiés songent avant
tout a payer leur loyer ou leur hypothéque et ne pensent pas a
retenir les services d'un avocat qui déposera une requéte de mise
en faillite. Ces employés ne songent pas a mettre leur employeur
en faillite pour recouvrer quelques milliers de dollars aux termes
du Programme de protection des salariés. Cette solution ne
fonctionnera pas sur le plan pratique.

Je vous encourage a penser a des solutions qui correspondent a
I’aspect pratique de la situation. Je me ferais un plaisir de vous
aider. Toutefois, je ne crois pas qu'une requéte de mise en faillite
donnerait des résultats.

Le président : Monsieur Hatnay, j’aimerais tout d’abord vous
remercier au nom de tout le comité de votre exposé clair ainsi que
de votre aide et de votre coopération. Nous attendons les
renseignements que vous nous avez promis. Si j’ai bien compris,
vous serez prét a répondre a nos questions lorsque nous
rédigerons notre rapport.

Je souhaite la bienvenue a nos nouveaux témoins. Je vous
souhaite une joyeuse Saint-Valentin. J’aimerais vous remercier du
beau valentin que vous nous avez envoyé par le biais du Globe
and Mail de ce matin. Nous avons bien pensé a 1'Université de
Toronto ce matin lorsque nous déjeunions. Nous accueillons
M. Jacob S. Ziegel, professeur émérite de I’'Université de Toronto
ainsi que son collégue, M. Anthony Duggan, également
professeur a I’Université de Toronto.

Vous connaissez déja notre comité. Vous étes déja venu
comparaitre le 18 décembre et encore le 4 janvier.
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I hope that in the fullness of time and in the intervening period,
you will have come to see that you wrote your first article,
perhaps without reading the observations that were made on our
report with respect to Bill C-12, which addressed your own
concerns. We took some umbrage to the public criticisms when
you were not, perhaps, “dealing with a full deck.”

We take our work seriously. We are trying to undertake a full
and complete study of the merits and demerits of this legislation.
Additionally, we are trying to help the government in a complex
area where they are trying to combine social affairs legislation
with things such as the WEPP, bankruptcy and insolvency
legislation. The public policy makers have their reasons for doing
things and the reasons go back several years, as you know.

As far as this committee of this particular Parliament is
concerned, we deal with the legislation as it comes to us, and we
deal with it seriously. We are not avoiding any obligations of
oversight or review.

I know that deep down in your heart, Professor Ziegel, you
know that well, as do you, Professor Duggan.

Having said that, we are delighted you are here and we are
delighted you are following the evolution of this legislation. We
are pleased that you share with us a desire to get it right.

Jacob S. Ziegel, Professor Emeritus, University of Toronto, as
an individual: Professor Duggan and I are pleased to appear
before the committee today to present our considered views on
the Statutes of Canada, chapter 47 and chapter 12, and the views
of seven other legal academics from five of Canada’s law schools.

All but one of us have taught or are teaching Canadian
insolvency law at various levels to Canadian undergraduate and
post-graduate law students and practitioners. All but one of us are
actively involved in research and writing the insolvency law in the
area; and many of us have done so for many years.

Last year, Associate Professor Stephanie Ben-Ishai of Osgoode
Hall Law School, who is also a member of our group of
submitters, and Professor Duggan published with Nexus an
edited collection of 15 analytical papers on many aspects of
chapter 47, to which many members of our group contributed,
and which address, in most cases and in greater detail, the
concerns expressed in our written submission to this committee.

I also stress the following points: It is misleading to refer to
chapter 47 and chapter 12, and the legislation they amend, as
framework legislation. That term has been used in this committee
and elsewhere. For the most part, the amendments to the
parent acts and the Wage Earner Protection Program contain
detailed and highly technical provisions coupled with the
directives, bankruptcy rules and prescribed forms issued under
the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. Canada’s bankruptcy
legislation is rapidly approaching the United States Bankruptcy
Code in complexity and detail. This is another reason that we

Jespére qu’avec le temps, vous comprendrez que vous
avez écrit votre premier article sans consulter les observations
contenues dans notre rapport portant sur le projet de loi C-12, qui
répondaient a vos préoccupations. Nous nous sommes offusqués
de certaines critiques publiques nous accusant de ne pas étre en
possession de tous nos moyens.

Nous prenons notre travail au sérieux. Nous tentons
d’effectuer une étude exhaustive des mérites ainsi que des
inconvénients de cette mesure. De plus, nous tentons d’aider le
gouvernement dans un domaine complexe alors qu’il tente de
grouper des mesures touchant au domaine social et des éléments
tels que le Programme de protection des salariés et la Loi sur la
faillite et I'insolvabilité. Les décideurs politiques ont leurs motifs
et ces motifs remontent a plusieurs années déja, comme vous le
savez.

En ce qui concerne notre comité, de la législature en cours,
nous examinons les mesures qui nous sont soumises et nous le
faisons avec sérieux. Nous ne nous soustrayons absolument pas a
nos devoirs de surveillance ou d’examen.

Monsieur Ziegel, je sais que dans votre for intérieur vous le
savez trés bien, tout comme vous, monsieur Duggan.

Cela étant dit, nous sommes ravis de votre présence et nous
sommes également ravis que vous suiviez 1’évolution de cette
mesure législative. Nous sommes heureux que vous partagiez avec
le souhait de le faire comme il se doit.

Jacob S. Ziegel, professeur émérite, Université de Toronto, a
titre personnel : M. Duggan et moi-méme sommes heureux de
comparaitre devant le comité aujourd’hui pour présenter nos avis
sur les chapitres 47 et 12 des Lois du Canada, ainsi que les avis de
sept autres professeurs de droit de cinq écoles de droit du Canada.

Exception faite de I'un d’entre nous, nous enseignons, ou avons
déja enseigné, le droit canadien de la faillite aux étudiants de
premier cycle et de deuxiéme et troisiéme cycles ainsi qu’aux
avocats. Tous sauf un participent activement a la recherche et a la
rédaction d’articles sur le droit de I'insolvabilité, et bon nombre
d’entre nous le font depuis des années.

L’année derniere, la professeure agrégée Stephanie Ben-Ishai,
de la Osgoode Hall Law School, qui fait partie de notre groupe,
et M. Duggan ont publié chez Nexus un recueil révisé
de 15 documents d’analyse portant sur divers aspects du
chapitre 47, avec la participation de bon nombre de membres
de notre groupe. Ces articles expriment en plus amples détails
les préoccupations dont nous faisons part dans le mémoire
présenté au comité.

J’aimerais souligner I'importance des affirmations suivantes :
il serait erroné de décrire le chapitre 47 et le chapitre 12, ainsi
que les lois modifiées, comme étant des lois cadres. Ce terme
a été utilisé par votre comité entre autres. Pour la plupart, les
modifications aux lois existantes et au programme de protection
des salariés renferment des dispositions détaillées et extrémement
techniques conjuguées aux directives, régles régissant la faillite et
formules prescrites de la Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité. La
législation sur la faillite du Canada sera bientdt aussi complexe et
détaillée que le Code de la faillite des Etats-Unis. C’est 'une des
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recommend, in our brief, that the time is right for a complete
revision of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. The act has not
been revised since 1949. The job is necessary to make the act more
coherent and easier to understand, to delete obsolete provisions
and to eliminate many duplicate provisions within the BIA, and
between the BIA and the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act.

Contrary to the impression left by one of the senators, our
submissions do not aim for perfection. In fact, as we make clear in
pages 6 and 7 of our written submissions, we support the principle
objectives of the legislation. When we differ in our submissions on
particular amendments, it is because we believe they are based on
false assumptions, adopt the wrong solutions or because, in our
view, they suffer from important ambiguities or other drafting
deficiencies.

As summary of our disagreements with the provisions in
chapter 47 and chapter 12 in our recommendations for changes
appear on pages 7 and 11 of our written submission. Our
collective views have been a matter of record since we submitted
them in an earlier form to the Industry Committee of the House
of Commons in October 2005. Our submissions cover all the key
features of the amendments to the CCAA and those on the
commercial and consumer sides of the BIA. We also raise an
important issue that has attracted surprisingly little attention
concerning the appropriateness of using the Consolidated
Revenue Fund to fund the new Wage Earner Protection
Program.

Our key concerns are lack of transparency in the drafting of the
bills that constitute chapter 47 and chapter 12; no consultative
document was published seeking public comments on the draft
bills before they were finalized; and no documents were published
after the bills were introduced in Parliament to explain the
purposes and reasons for the changes. We believe that Canada
has much to learn in this area of the law from the best British
legislative practices.

A related concern is that at least one of the changes in
chapter 47 adopted in chapter 12 was inspired by political and
economic pressures brought to bear behind the scenes. These
changes involved changes to section 67 of the BIA concerning the
bankruptcy treatments of RRSPs and RRIFs. The original
proposals in chapter 47 were adopted after much discussion in
the Personal Insolvency Task Force, of which I was a member,
and themselves represented a compromise among different
viewpoints. That compromise was reflected in chapter 47. We
believe it is deplorable that the federal government yielded to
the outside pressures. The changes were not debated in the House
of Commons, were not considered by any House of Commons
committees and were adopted without giving interested parties
an opportunity to make submissions for the retention of the
chapter 47 provisions.

raisons pour lesquelles nous recommandons une refonte compléte
de la Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité. La loi n’a pas été révisée
depuis 1949. Cette révision s’impose pour que la loi soit plus
cohérente et facile a comprendre, pour permettre la suppression
de dispositions désuétes et on pourra également éliminer les
nombreux dédoublements dans la loi et entre la Loi sur la faillite
et I'insolvabilité et la Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers
des compagnies.

Contrairement a ce que pense 'un des sénateurs, nous ne
visons pas la perfection dans nos mémoires. En fait, nous
indiquons clairement aux pages 6 et 7 que nous appuyons les
principes de la loi. La ou nous ne sommes pas d’accord sur
certaines modifications, c’est parce que nous estimons qu’elles
s’appuient sur des suppositions erronées, proposent les mauvaises
solutions ou encore comportent des ambiguités importantes ou
d’autres lacunes liées a la rédaction.

Vous trouverez un sommaire de nos avis a 1’égard des
dispositions du chapitre 47 et du chapitre 12 dans nos
recommandations a la page 7 et a la page 11 du mémoire. Nos
avis ont été rendus publics lorsque nous avons présenté un
mémoire au comité de I'industrie de la Chambre des communes en
octobre 2005. Nos mémoires portent sur tous les éléments clés des
modifications a la Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des
compagnies ainsi que sur les aspects liés au commerce et aux
consommateurs de la Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité. Nous
soulevons également une question importante qui a suscité trés
peu d’intérét, soit la pertinence de financer le nouveau programme
de protection des salariés a partir du Trésor.

Nos principales préoccupations sont les suivantes : le manque
de transparence dans les projets de loi qui constituent les
chapitres 47 et 12; l'absence de documents consultatifs pour
obtenir I’avis du public sur les avant-projets de loi; ’absence de
documents apres le dépot des projets de loi au Parlement pour
expliquer les raisons des modifications. Nous sommes d’avis que
le Canada aurait intérét a s’inspirer des pratiques législatives
exemplaires de la Grande-Bretagne.

Nous nous inquiétons également du fait qu’au moins une
des modifications apportées au chapitre 47 et adoptées dans
le projet de loi C-12 découle des pressions économiques et
politiques exercées en coulisse. Ces modifications représentent
des changements apportés a I’article 67 de la LFI en ce qui a trait
au traitement des REER et FERR dans les cas de faillite. Les
propositions originales du C-47 ont été adoptées aprés de longues
discussions par le Groupe de travail sur 'insolvabilité personnelle
dont je faisais partie, et ces propositions représentaient une
solution de compromis. Ces solutions étaient reflétées dans
le projet de loi C-47. A notre avis, il est regrettable que le
gouvernement fédéral ait cédé devant les pressions exercées par
certaines parties. Les modifications proposées n’ont pas fait
I’objet de discussions a la Chambre des communes, n’ont pas été
étudiées par un comité de la Chambre des communes, et ont
été adoptées sans que les parties intéressées aient I’occasion
d’intervenir pour proposer que les dispositions du projet de
loi C-47 soient maintenues.
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My colleague, Professor Duggan, will now address you about
our concerns involving the duplication of many provisions in
the BIA and the CCAA, inconsistencies in the treatment of the
same issues in different parts of the BIA and conceptual and
functional difficulties about the treatment of voidable transfers
and undervalued transactions in the BIA amendments.

After he has spoken, with the committee’s indulgence, 1 will
speak for a further few minutes about what I believe to be the
unfairness and ill-considered nature of important amendments to
the consumer insolvency provisions of the BIA and the failure of
the amendments to address altogether a key aspect of the high
incidence of consumer insolvencies in Canada.

The Chair: Thank you, Professor Ziegel. That presentation was
delivered with your usual clarity, conciseness and interest.

I know you will understand where I am coming from with
my following comment: The role of this committee when we
oversee and review legislation is not to engage in a dialogue
with the government about the rectitude, or otherwise, of their
public policies on which they base the legislation but, rather,
to determine whether the law, as drafted, gives effect to their
policies, with which we, or the witnesses, may not necessarily
agree. We take your point on the Wage Earner Protection
Program. It came right out of left field but there it was. The
program was a decision of a succession of governments, to get rid
of any partisan input. The original Bill C-55 contained the
provisions for the program and there was a hurry to pass it during
the Liberal administration, and it was carried on by the current
government. That is the government policy, whether they
consulted the public or not. I suppose that is where you have
the right forum in your comment in the national media. The
committee’s job is to ensure that they at least get it right in terms
of how the policy is put down in black and white.

Anthony Duggan, Professor, University of Toronto, as an
individual: I begin with a point of clarification in your opening
remarks. For the record, authorship of The Globe and Mail
piece was Professor Ziegel’s alone. This piece was not a joint
enterprise. I did not know about the articles until after
publication — probably after you found out about them. I read
today’s article on the plane on the way to Ottawa. I do not
necessarily disagree with what he says but if I had not said
anything, it would have been on the record by implication,
at any rate, that I was the co-author. I do not want to take either
the credit or the blame.

The Chair: The first two articles were in the National Post, on
December 18 and January 4, and another in The Globe and Mail
today.

Mon collégue, M. Duggan, vous parlera maintenant de
nos préoccupations quant au dédoublement de nombreuses
dispositions de la LFI et de la LACC, de l'incompatibilité
quant au traitement des questions particuliéres dans les
dispositions de la LFI, et des problémes associés au concept et
au fonctionnement du traitement des opérations annulables
et des transactions sous-évaluées tels que proposés dans les
amendements a la LFI.

Puis, si le comité me le permet, j’aimerais prendre quelques
minutes pour vous parler de ce qui est & mon avis I'iniquité et le
caractére peu judicieux d’importantes modifications proposées
aux dispositions sur l'insolvabilité des consommateurs dans la
LFI, et du fait que les amendements proposés ne visent
aucunement a réduire le nombre élevé de cas d’insolvabilité de
consommateurs au Canada.

Le président : Merci, monsieur Ziegel. Votre exposé a été
présenté, comme d’habitude, avec beaucoup de clarté, de
concision et il était fort intéressant.

Je sais que vous comprendrez pourquoi je fais le commentaire
suivant. Le role de notre comité, lorsque nous passons en revue
des mesures législatives, n’est pas d’entamer un dialogue avec le
gouvernement quant au caractére judicieux, s’il en est, de ses
politiques publiques dont il s’inspire pour adopter ces mesures
législatives, mais plutot de déterminer si la loi, telle que libellée,
permet de concrétiser ses politiques, des politiques avec lesquelles
nous, les sénateurs, ou les témoins, ne sommes pas nécessairement
d’accord. Cependant, nous avons pris note de vos commentaires
sur le programme de protection des salariés. Ces propositions
étaient tout a fait inattendues. Ce programme a été appuyé par
plusieurs gouvernements successifs, car il visait a faire disparaitre
toute possibilité de partisannerie. Le projet de loi original,
le C-55, prévoyait des dispositions pour la création de ce
programme et on ’on a adopté a la hate lorsque le Parti libéral
était au pouvoir; ces dispositions avaient été maintenues par les
gouvernements successifs jusqu’au gouvernement actuel. C’est la
politique du gouvernement, que ce dernier ait consulté le public
ou non. Je suppose que vous avez trouvé votre forum dans les
médias nationaux. La tache du comité est de s’assurer que tout au
moins la politique est concrétisée clairement dans les mesures
législatives.

M. Anthony Duggan, professeur, Université de Toronto, a titre
personnel : J’aimerais apporter une petite précision si vous me le
permettez. J’aimerais signaler que ’article publi¢ dans le Globe
Mail a été rédigé exclusivement par M. Ziegel. Il ne s’agissait pas
du résultat d’une collaboration entre M. Ziegel et moi-méme. En
fait je n’ai été au courant de ces articles qu’apres leur publication
— probablement aprés que vous n’ayez appris leur existence. J’ai
eu larticle publié aujourd’hui dans l’avion qui m’amenait a
Ottawa. Je ne suis pas nécessairement en désaccord avec ce que dit
M. Ziegel, mais si je n’avais rien dit, on aurait conclu que jen
étais le co-auteur. Je ne veux en prendre ni le crédit ni le blame.

Le président : Les deux premiers articles ont été publiés dans le
National Post, les 18 décembre et 4 janvier, et un autre a été publié
aujourd’hui dans le Globe and Mail.
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Mr. Duggan: 1 do not even know the details.

Our submission covers a great deal of ground and many
details. Obviously, there is no possibility of touching on
everything in it. With the committee’s indulgence, I will pick
out a few key points. I want to say a bit about the gifts, transfers
and preferences provisions; perhaps a bit about the executory
contracts provisions; and finish up with a word about the
drafting.

On the gifts, transfers and preferences, this committee, in its
2003 report, recommended a single set of provisions to apply
nationwide for preferences, gifts and transfers at undervalue. In
other words, the BIA preferences, gifts and transfers provisions
should apply in bankruptcy to the exclusion of provincial laws.

One of our concerns is that the reforms have not adopted this
recommendation. We are aware that the Uniform Law
Conference of Canada is currently looking at the provincial
laws and, with luck, at the end of their deliberations they will
come to the same conclusion that this committee reached
in 2003.

With respect, I agree with this committee’s recommendation.
We think it should be implemented. There is an incidental point,
though. If that were to happen at some point down the track, a
new provision would be required in the BIA for cases where the
debtor makes a gift or transfer at undervalue and there is actual
fraud on the debtor’s part.

In principle, if there is actual fraud, the trustees should be
able to challenge the transaction, no matter how long before
the bankruptcy happened. As the law presently stands, the
trustee can challenge the transaction by suing under the
provincial laws. However, if the provincial laws stop applying
in bankruptcy, as we recommend, a provision must be included
in the BIA itself to cover the case.

We make a number of points about this set of provisions, but
most of the others are more technical. That point is the main one
we want to emphasize.

I will turn now quickly to the executory contracts provisions.
This point is a bit technical, but if you will indulge me on
the technicalities, I want to draw from them a point about the
drafting.

The starting point is to say that the present law is piecemeal,
and the new provisions are a distinct improvement. While
they are a step in the right direction, there are still gaps,
inconsistencies and drafting problems. Here are some of our
concerns.

M. Duggan : Je n’en connais méme pas les détails.

Notre mémoire porte sur diverses questions et présente nombre
de détails. Clairement, il nous est impossible de vous parler de
tout ce que vous pouvez y trouver. Si le comité me le permet, je
vais simplement lui mentionner quelques points saillants.
Jaimerais dire quelques mots sur les dispositions portant sur les
dons, les opérations et les traitements préférentiels; puis quelques
mots sur les dispositions touchant les contrats exécutoires et enfin
Jaimerais vous parler de la rédaction.

Dans son rapport de 2003, votre comité avait recommandé
de créer un systéme uniforme dans 1’ensemble du Canada
concernant les traitements préférentiels, les dons et les opérations
sous-évaluées. En d’autres termes, les dispositions de la LFI
touchant les traitements préférentiels, les dons et les opérations
devraient s’appliquer aux cas de faillite, et avoir préséance sur les
lois provinciales.

Cependant, les nouvelles réformes ne tiennent pas compte de
cette recommandation. Nous savons que la Conférence pour
I’harmonisation des lois au Canada se penche actuellement sur les
lois provinciales et, si tout va bien, en viendra, a la fin de son
étude, a la méme conclusion que le comité en 2003.

Je suis d’ailleurs d’accord avec la recommandation formulée
par le comité. Je crois qu’il faudrait mettre en ceuvre ce cadre
national. Cependant, il serait bon de rappeler que si le Canada
décidait de mettre sur pied un systéme uniforme, il faudrait
prévoir dans la LFI une nouvelle disposition pour les cas ou le
débiteur offre un don ou fait une opération sous-évaluée, et ou il y
a en fait activité frauduleuse de la part du débiteur.

En principe, s’il y a en fait fraude, les syndics devraient étre
en mesure de contester cette opération, peu importe si elle a été
faite longtemps avant la déclaration de faillite. Dans son libellé
actuel, la loi précise que le syndic peut contester 'opération en
intentant des poursuites conformément aux lois provinciales.
Cependant, si les lois provinciales ne s’appliquent plus aux
faillites, ce que nous recommandons, il faudra prévoir des
dispositions en ce sens dans la LFI.

Dans notre mémoire, nous apportons quelques précisions
quant a ces dispositions, mais il s’agit de précisions plutdt
techniques. Nous voulions simplement vous signaler I'importance
d’ajouter cette disposition a la loi.

Jaimerais passer briévement aux dispositions sur les contrats
exécutoires. Il s’agit d’une intervention légerement technique, je
vous saurais gré d’étre patients, parce que cela m’ameénera a la
rédaction de la loi.

Jaimerais tout d’abord signaler que la loi actuelle a été
constituée au coup par coup, et que les nouvelles dispositions
proposées représentent une nette amélioration. Méme s’il s’agit
d’un pas dans la bonne direction, il demeure des lacunes, un
certain manque de cohérence et des problémes au niveau de la
rédaction. Permettez-moi de vous donner quelques exemples.
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First, there is no provision for disclaimer of contracts in
straight bankruptcy proceedings. That means that for landlord
and tenant agreements, the provincial laws will continue to
apply as they do at the moment, while for other contracts, the
common-law rules will apply. We do not understand that
omission.

Second, the rules for disclaimer of commercial tenancy
agreements in BIA proposal proceedings — section 65.2, a
current provision — are different from the rules of disclaimer
of other contracts, which are contained in the new BIA,
section 65.11. There is one set of rules in BIA proposal
proceedings for landlord and tenant agreements, and another
set of rules in BIA proposal proceedings for other kinds of
contracts. We do not see why these contracts should be treated
differently.

Third, new BIA section 84.2 deals with ipso facto clauses in
straight bankruptcy proceedings, but the provision applies only if
the debtor is an individual. We do not understand that. As far as
we can see, the provision should apply also if the debtor is a
company. That may have been an oversight or deliberate; we have
no way of knowing.

Fourth, in the new Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act,
section 11.4, special rules for critical supplies, there is no
corresponding provision for BIA proposals; we do not see
why. If there is a need for a new provision for critical supplies
in the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act proceedings,
surely, the need is the same in BIA commercial proposal
proceedings.

That leads me to my more general point about the drafting,
which is that we think the drafting is less than ideal. For
instance, the executory contracts provisions should all be together
in the same part of the statute because they are conceptually
linked. As it stands, the disclaimer provisions are in one part;
the ipso facto provisions are in another part; and at least in
the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, the assignment
provisions are in another part again.

That split in the provisions obscures the conceptual links
between them. It can lead to misunderstandings on the reader’s
part. It may also lead to mistakes on the drafter’s part, because if
they miss the conceptual links, maybe they are not performing the
job as coherently as they should.

Perhaps a more important point is the duplication that the
current drafting involves. We will have three separate sets of
provisions — one for straight Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
bankruptcies, one for BIA proposals and a third for Companies’
Creditors Arrangement Act proceedings. It would be much
better if we could have a common set of provisions for all three

Tout d’abord, il n’existe aucune disposition portant sur les
clauses de non-responsabilité, ou les résiliations, dans les
procédures de faillite. Ainsi, les lois provinciales continueront
de s’appliquer, comme c’est le cas actuellement, pour les ententes
entre propriétaires et locataires, alors que pour les autres types de
contrats, ce sont les régles du droit commun qui s’appliqueront.
Nous ne comprenons pas pourquoi on fait cette distinction.

De plus, les régles régissant la résiliation de baux commerciaux
proposées dans les modifications apportées a la LFI — I’actuel
article 65.2 — ne sont pas identiques aux dispositions de
résiliation pour les autres types de contrats, qui figurent a
l’article 65.11 de la nouvelle version proposée de la LFI. Il y a
donc une série de réglements pour les ententes entre propriétaires
et locataires aux termes de la LFI, et une autre série de régles pour
les autres types de contrats. Nous ne voyons pas pourquoi traiter
les contrats de fagon différente.

Troisiémement, le nouvel article 84.2 de la LFI porte
exclusivement sur les procédures de faillite ordinaires, mais ces
dispositions ne s’appliquent que dans les cas ou le failli est une
personne physique. Nous ne comprenons pas pourquoi. A notre
avis, cette disposition devrait également s’appliquer si le failli est
une entreprise. Il s’agit peut-étre d’un oubli, ou cette distinction
peut étre délibérée; nous ne le savons vraiment pas.

Quatriemement, dans la nouvelle version de la Loi sur
les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies, a
larticle 11.4, on prévoit des regles particuliéres pour les
fournisseurs essentiels, alors qu’aucune disposition équivalente
n’est pas prévue dans la LFI; nous ne comprenons pas pourquoi.
S’il faut prévoir une nouvelle disposition pour les fournisseurs
essentiels dans les procédures découlant de la Loi sur les
arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies, il faut
certainement prévoir le méme genre de dispositions dans les
procédures visant les contrats commerciaux dans la LFI.

Tout cela m’ameéne a faire un commentaire un peu plus général
sur la rédaction; en effet, nous sommes d’avis que la rédaction
pourrait étre améliorée. Par exemple, les dispositions sur les
contrats exécutoires devraient étre regroupées dans la méme
partie de la loi parce qu’elles sont fondées sur le méme concept.
Cependant, les dispositions sur la résiliation sont dans une partie;
les dispositions ipso facto dans une autre; et enfin, les dispositions
de la loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies
sur les cessions figurent dans une autre partie.

Le simple fait que ces dispositions soient éparpillées dans la loi
masque le lien conceptuel qui existe entre elles. Il se pourrait donc
que le lecteur interpréte mal ces dispositions. Il se peut également
que les rédacteurs se trompent, parce que le lien conceptuel entre
ces dispositions leur échappera; ainsi, ils ne font peut-étre pas leur
travail de fagon aussi cohérente qu’ils le devraient.

De plus, et c’est peut-étre encore plus important, il existe
des dédoublements dans ces textes. Il y aura trois séries de
dispositions distinctes — une qui s’applique aux cas de faillite
simple auxquels s’applique la Loi sur la faillite et I'insolvabilité,
les propositions touchant la LFI et enfin les procédures découlant
de la Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies.
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cases. As things stand — and I have heard a lot of people make
this complaint — the reader must parse three separate sets of
provisions to say whether or not they are the same.

A related point is that three separate sets of provisions puts
pressure on the drafter to ensure that they correspond and that
no accidental discrepancies exist between them. As it happens,
there are several discrepancies in the current draft that refer
back to the points I made a moment ago.

This is not only a question of tidiness; it goes to a key point
of bankruptcy policy. An applicant’s choice between different
insolvency regimes when they are deciding whether to go
bankrupt — whether to use the Companies’ Creditors
Arrangement Act or to start BIA proposal proceedings —
should be made by reference to what is best for creditors at
large. It should not depend on whether the rules governing
executory contracts or the like are more favourable to the
applicant in one regime than they are in the other. In other
words, discrepancies between laws that apply in different
regimes encourage parties to use the laws strategically, and not
necessarily in the best interest of the creditors at large.

This duplication concern is not limited to the executory
contracts provisions. It applies to several other aspects of the
amended legislation as well — for example, the wage earner
priority provisions, the pension contribution priority provisions,
the subordination of equity claims provisions and the Crown
claims provisions.

Let me finish with this observation: Having a common set of
provisions for executory contracts, priorities and the like would
mean integrating the BIA and the Companies’ Creditors
Arrangement Act. This point brings us back to the old
chestnut. To mix metaphors, let me flog a dead horse once again.

I know that there is opposition to this suggestion, but I worry
that the argument might be carried on at cross purposes. What
I am talking about at the moment is integrating the two statutes,
not eliminating the choice that the CCAA offers.

It would be perfectly possible to incorporate the substance
of the CCAA as it presently stands into the BIA — for example,
as a new Part III A or whatever number you want to pick. On
that basis, parties would have the same choice of regimes as
they do now, and the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act
proceedings would look the same as they do now.

On the other hand, it would not be necessary anymore to say
the same thing three times over for each regime. The common
features, conflicts and differences of the three regimes would
be clear at a glance. I will now turn the presentation over to
Professor Ziegel.

Il vaudrait mieux que 1’on retrouve une seule série de propositions
pour ces trois possibilités. Compte tenu du libellé actuel des
propositions — et nombre de personnes s’en sont plaints — le
lecteur doit retrouver trois séries distinctes de dispositions et les
comparer pour savoir si elles prévoient les mémes choses.

De plus, trois séries distinctes de dispositions forcent le
rédacteur a vérifier sans cesse qu’elles correspondent bien et
qu’il n’y a pas d’écarts non voulus entre ces dispositions. Le fait
est qu’il existe actuellement plusieurs écarts que nous avons
recensés dans le libellé actuel de ces propositions, ce qui prouve
bien la validité et le bien-fondé de mon intervention.

Il ne s’agit pas simplement de mettre de l'ordre; il s’agit
simplement de clarifier un point essentiel de la politique sur
les faillites. Le choix du demandeur entre divers régimes
d’insolvabilité lorsqu’il doit se demander s’il doit déclarer
faillite, s’il doit avoir recours a la Loi sur les arrangements avec
les créanciers des compagnies ou la LFI — tout cela doit étre
fondé sur ce qui sera a l’avantage de tous les créanciers. La
décision ne devrait pas étre fondée sur le fait que les reégles
régissant les contrats exécutoires ou d’autres opérations sont a
l’avantage du demandeur dans un régime plutot que dans l'autre.
En d’autres termes, les écarts entre les lois qui s’appliquent a
divers régimes encouragent les intervenants a utiliser les lois de
fagon stratégique, et pas nécessairement dans le meilleur intérét
des créanciers.

Le probléme au niveau des dédoublements ne se limite pas aux
dispositions sur les contrats exécutoires. En fait, ce probléme
existe dans plusieurs autres dispositions du projet de loi — par
exemple, les dispositions touchant la priorité accordée aux
salariés, les dispositions touchant la priorité accordée aux
cotisations aux régimes de pensions, les dispositions touchant la
subordination des réclamations relatives aux capitaux propres et
les dispositions sur les dettes envers la Couronne.

Jaimerais terminer en signalant qu’un régime uniforme de
dispositions touchant les contrats exécutoires, les priorités et les
choses du genre ménerait a I'intégration de la LFI et de la Loi sur
les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies. Tout cela
nous rameéne a la méme vieille histoire; je dois encore une fois
revenir a la charge.

Je sais que certains s’opposent a cette suggestion, mais je crains
que tout le monde ne parle pas tout a fait de la méme chose.
Personnellement, je propose d’intégrer deux lois, et non pas
d’¢liminer le choix qu’offre la LACC.

Il serait parfaitement possible d’intégrer I’essentiel de la LACC,
dans sa forme actuelle, a la LFI — par exemple, en faisant une
nouvelle Partie III A ou peu importe. Ainsi, tout le monde aurait
le méme choix de régimes qu’actuellement et les procédures
découlant de la Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des
compagnies ne changeraient pas vraiment de forme.

Cependant, il ne serait plus nécessaire de répéter la méme
chose trois fois pour chaque régime. Les points communs, les
conflits et les différences entre les trois régimes seront évidents.
Je céde a nouveau la parole a M. Ziegel.
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The Chair: Thank you for your learned and thoughtful
observations. I know that we, along with the government and
the drafting people, are fortunate to have people like you with so
much knowledge and experience giving this kind of input. It
sounds to me like your points all make good sense.

Mr. Ziegel: Let me begin by reassuring the senators that what
appeared in The Globe and Mail this morning was exclusively my
authorship. I do not know how the impression could have gotten
abroad that it purported to reflect my colleague’s views. They are
two different enterprises and I assume complete responsibility for
what appeared in The Globe and Mail, for better or for worse.

I am obviously anxious to hear the questions that I hope the
senators will ask us. However, I want to spend a few moments on
consumer issues for important reasons.

Two key issues have surfaced in Canadian bankruptcy law over
the last 25 years. One involves how we restructure insolvent
companies to try to rehabilitate them to save jobs. The other,
at least equally important, is the problem of consumer
insolvencies.

Those problems have exploded over the last 25 years. As we
note in our submissions, and I state again in The Globe
and Mail this morning, we have gone from a low figure in the
early 1970s of about 3,000, to around 100,000 a year now.
We are among the highest rate of insolvencies in the western
hemisphere; we are higher than the United States. That ought to
give us keen concern.

That problem is not generated by the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Act, but it is a problem that the act must address
and cope with. The point I tried to make in the article in
The Globe and Mail and in our submissions is that we continue
to entertain what I think is the false impression that problems
are exclusively in the sphere of the consumer. Therefore, the
focus has always been, what do we do with the consumer?
How can we improve the education and conduct of the consumer?
How do we wring out surplus income from the consumer and
what conditions do we impose on the discharge from bankruptcy?
We do not say these questions are wrong, but they are too
single minded. There must be an equation. It takes two to tango.
The other important party to consumer insolvencies are the
creditors. They extend vast amounts of credit and make it too
easy for consumers to amass huge debts with which they then
cannot cope.

We urge the committee, in its deliberations, to be highly
sensitive to the responsibilities of creditors to act more
responsibly. We have not attempted to spell out in our
submissions how creditors could be made to behave more

Le président : Je tiens a vous remercier de vos commentaires
savants et réfléchis. Je sais que nous, comme le gouvernement et
les responsables de la rédaction, sommes heureux de pouvoir
entendre des gens comme vous qui connaissent si bien le domaine.
Il me semble que tous vos commentaires étaient fort logiques.

M. Ziegel : J’aimerais d’abord rassurer les sénateurs et leur
dire que ce qui a été publié dans le Globe and Mail ce matin était
un document dont je suis le seul auteur. Je ne sais pas pourquoi
on aurait pensé que cet article reflétait les opinions de mon
collégue. Je tiens simplement & vous confirmer que j’assume toute
responsabilité de ce qui a été publié dans le Globe and Mail.

Je suis clairement impatient d’entendre les questions que les
sénateurs voudront bien nous poser. Cependant, j’aimerais
m’attarder pour des raisons trés importantes aux questions qui
touchent les consommateurs.

Deux questions trés importantes ont fait surface au cours des
25 derniéres années dans les lois régissant les faillites au Canada.
La premiére porte sur la restructuration des compagnies
insolvables pour les aider a assainir leur gestion financiére et a
sauver des emplois. L’autre question, qui était aussi importante,
est le probleme de I'insolvabilité des consommateurs.

Ces problémes n’ont cessé de prendre de I’ampleur
ces 25 derniéres années. Comme nous l’avons noté dans nos
mémoires, et comme je ’ai répété dans mon article publi¢ dans
le Globe and Mail ce matin, nous sommes passés a un faible
nombre dans les années 70 d’environ 3 000 cas d’insolvabilité des
consommateurs a environ 100 000 cas par année de nos jours.
Le Canada est un des pays occidentaux qui enregistre le plus
important nombre de cas d’insolvabilité, nous en avons encore
plus qu'aux Etats-Unis. Il y a certainement lieu de s’inquiéter de
la situation.

Le probleme n’est pas attribuable a la Loi sur la faillite et
I'insolvabilité, mais c’est quand méme un probléme sur lequel la
loi doit se pencher. Ce que j'ai essayé d’indiquer dans
larticle publié dans le Globe and Mail et dans nos mémoires et
que nous continuons a avoir I'impression fausse que les problémes
relévent exclusivement du consommateur. Ainsi, on s’est toujours
demandé que faire du consommateur? Comment améliorer
I’éducation et le comportement du consommateur? Comment
obtenir un revenu excédentaire du consommateur et quelles
conditions doit-on imposer avant d’accorder une libération du
failli? Nous ne disons pas que ces questions ne sont pas fondées,
mais elles sont trop limitées. Il doit quand méme y avoir une
certaine équation. Le tango se danse a deux. L’autre partie
importante quand on parle de I'insolvabilité des consommateurs,
ce sont les créanciers. Ils offrent des crédits importants et
créent des situations dans lesquelles il est trés facile pour les
consommateurs d’accumuler des dettes trés importantes dont ils
ne peuvent se sortir.

Nous exhortons le comité, dans ses délibérations, a tenir
compte des responsabilités des créanciers qui doivent agir de
facon beaucoup plus responsable. Nous n’avons pas essayé de
présenter des propositions quant a la fagon de procéder pour faire
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responsibly. I have suggestions of my own, and if time permits,
I would be only too happy to provide them to the committee.

Let me focus on specific issues addressed in our submissions.
In regard to the extension of the automatic discharge from a
nine-month to a twelve-month period, this issue is not a technical
one, senators. I regard it as an important policy issue with
practical implications.

Current statistics show that at least five per cent of consumers
who are subject to surplus income payments are not able to meet
their prescribed payments within the nine-month period. As a
result, they are obliged to continue making payments beyond the
nine-month period, sometimes for a substantially longer period.
Therefore, they do not receive the benefit of the nine-month
discharge that the act was intended to provide them.

Our submission suggests that by extending the automatic
discharge period from nine months to twenty-one months, you
will complicate the problems immensely. In the case of consumer
proposals, we know there is already a high delinquency rate
of 35 per cent or more. I think it is safe to predict that by
extending the period of automatic discharge from nine months to
twenty-one months, this problem will grow proportionately.

I think the government made a serious mistake in going
along with this change. It was not thought through. It did
not emerge from the government itself, a social body or an
independent study. It came from trustees who were worried
about being ambushed by consumer bankruptcies. Their
intentions may have been honourable. However, knowing as
many trustees as I do, it is my strong belief that they did not
think through the implications of making this basic change
to the automatic discharge period.

I know this committee has heard various witnesses talk
about the student loan problems. I will not retrace with you
what will be familiar grounds. However, I make two points.

In our submission, we suggested that instead of having
registrars and courts wrestling with the difficult problems about
what to do with delinquent student loans, the government should
establish an independent debt relief committee or commission.
It would be made up of people who are knowledgeable about
the economics and the problems of student loans, and students
would have the options of making their applications to the
committee for early debt relief.

The other point, which is perhaps more of a personal
observation than a representative one, is that statistics show
that a high percentage of the delinquent loans are related not
to regular university studies but to students studying at

en sorte que les créanciers agissent de facon plus responsable. J’ai
des suggestions personnelles, et si le temps le permet, je serai trés
heureux de vous en faire part.

Jaimerais m’attarder maintenant a quelques problémes
particuliers que nous avons mentionnés dans nos mémoires.
Pour ce qui est de la prolongation de la libération automatique
qui passerait d’une période de neuf mois a douze mois, il ne s’agit
pas 1a, sénateurs, d’une question technique. A mon avis, il s’agit
d’une question politique importante qui a des répercussions
pratiques.

Les statistiques démontrent actuellement qu’au moins
5p. 100 des consommateurs qui doivent verser des revenus
excédentaires ne sont pas en mesure d’effectuer les paiements
prévus dans la période initiale de neuf mois. Ainsi, ils sont tenus
de faire des paiements plus longtemps, parfois pendant beaucoup
plus longtemps. Ils n’ont donc pas acces a cette libération aprés
neuf mois que la loi avait prévue pour eux.

Nous indiquons dans notre mémoire qu’en prolongeant
la période de libération automatique, en la faisant passer
de 9 a 21 mois, vous allez compliquer les problémes
énormément. Pour ce qui est des propositions touchant les
consommateurs, nous savons qu’il existe déja un taux élevé de
délinquance, soit 35 p. 100 ou plus. Je crois qu’il est juste de
dire qu’en faisant passer la période de libération automatique
de 9 a 21 mois, le probléme ne fera qu'empirer de fagon
proportionnelle.

Je crois que le gouvernement a eu tort d’accepter cette
modification. Les auteurs de la proposition n’avaient pas
bien réfléchi a la question. En fait cette proposition ne vient
pas du gouvernement, d’'un organisme social ou d’une étude
indépendante. Elle a été formulée par les syndics qui craignaient
d’étre écrasés par le nombre de faillites des consommateurs. Ils
avaient peut-étre de trés bonnes intentions. Cependant, puisque je
connais un trés grand nombre de syndics, je suis convaincu qu’ils
n’avaient pas bien pensé a I'impact possible de cette modification
a la période de libération automatique.

Je sais que votre comité a entendu divers témoins qui ont parlé
des problémes associés aux préts aux étudiants. Je ne passerai pas
en revue avec vous toutes les choses que vous avez déja entendues.
Cependant, j’aimerais faire deux commentaires.

Dans notre mémoire nous avons proposé¢ qu’au lieu de laisser
les registraires et les tribunaux essayer de composer avec les
probléemes épineux de ce qu’on devrait faire des préts aux
étudiants en retard, le gouvernement devrait mettre sur pied un
comité ou une commission indépendant d’allégement de la dette.
Ce comité serait composé d’intervenants qui connaissent bien les
facteurs économiques et les problémes associés aux préts aux
étudiants, et les étudiants pourraient présenter une demande
directement au comité afin d’obtenir un allégement de leurs
dettes.

Mon autre commentaire, qui est en fait un peu plus de
nature personnelle, est que les statistiques démontrent qu’un
pourcentage important des préts en retard n’est pas lié aux études
universitaires ordinaires mais plutot aux étudiants qui fréquentent
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private vocational colleges. Neither the federal nor provincial
governments have focused nearly enough attention on the kind of
guidance the students should receive before they seek these
federally supported loans.

It seems to be inefficient to complain subsequently that
the studies completed by the student in effect had no economic
benefit. The student was unable to find a job and, therefore,
obviously, is unable to repay the loan that was extended to that
student. It is my belief that much more emphasis should be
put on the initial phase of the transaction rather than after
the trouble has emerged.

Finally, let me talk about the need for a new approach to
consumer insolvencies. First, we emphasize the need for more
empirical studies. The Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy
has done a great deal of work in this area, and those of us who
work in this area are much obliged. However, their resources are
limited. We need considerably greater resources.

We still lack basic statistics in the area. We have remarkably
little information about credit card operations, for example, other
than knowing how many people have credit cards and how much
money is outstanding. Our knowledge about how credit cards
operate, delinquency rates, et cetera, is much less than in the
United States. We believe that the need for empirical studies is
greater than we have at the moment.

I noticed with interest the other day that the Competition
Bureau has a budget of $47 million. I think it is safe to say that
the budget of the Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy does
not come anywhere close to that amount. If your committee could
use its good offices to ensure that the Office of the Superintendent
of Bankruptcy has more money available for empirical studies,
and for commissioning further research studies, I think it would
benefit all of Canadian society.

We also have an observation on terminology that gives us
concern. We still stigmatize people who have to go bankrupt.
We characterize them as “bankrupts.” In the Victorian age,
there was no worse stigma than to call someone a bankrupt.
I believe it still has a stigma, at least verbally, even if it may not
have a stigma substantively.

I think it is time to change our terminology. We do not
characterize a person who makes a consumer proposal as a
bankrupt; we say the person is a debtor. We call that person an
insolvent person. We see no justification to distinguish between
the two groups of persons. The only essential difference between
them is in their capacity to repay. It adds insult to injury to say to
low income consumers that because they are not in a position to

des colleéges de formation professionnelle privés. Le gouvernement
fédéral et les gouvernements provinciaux n’ont pas accordé
suffisamment d’attention aux conseils que les étudiants
devraient recevoir avant de demander ces préts appuyés par le
gouvernement fédéral.

Il n’est pas tres efficace de se plaindre par la suite que les études
de I’étudiant ne représentaient aucun avantage économique.
L’¢étudiant n’était pas en mesure de trouver un emploi et donc
n’est pas en mesure non plus de rembourser le prét qu’on lui a
offert. Je suis convaincu qu’il faudrait accorder beaucoup plus
d’attention au premier volet de 'opération plutot qu’attendre que
les problémes ne fassent surface.

Enfin, j’aimerais dire quelques mots sur le besoin d’adopter
une nouvelle approche en ce qui a trait a l'insolvabilité des
consommateurs. Tout d’abord, il faut rappeler qu’il faut
absolument un plus grand nombre d’études empiriques. Le
Bureau du surintendant des faillites a beaucoup accompli a cet
égard, et ceux d’entre nous qui ceuvrent dans le secteur lui en
sont reconnaissants. Cependant, les ressources du Bureau du
surintendant sont limitées. Il nous faudrait des ressources
beaucoup plus importantes.

Nous n’avons toujours pas de statistiques de base a cet égard.
Nous disposons de trés peu de renseignements sur les cartes de
crédit sauf que nous savons combien de gens ont des cartes de
crédit et combien d’argent n’est pas payé sur les cartes de crédit.
Nous en savons beaucoup moins sur la fagon dont fonctionnent
les cartes de crédit, les taux de délinquance et les choses du genre
que les Etats-Unis. Nous sommes convaincus qu’il nous faut avoir
beaucoup plus d’études empiriques que nous n’en avons
actuellement.

Jai noté avec intérét lautre jour que le Bureau de la
concurrence dispose d’un budget de 47 millions de dollars. Je
suis convaincu que le Bureau du surintendant des faillites dispose
d’un montant beaucoup moins important. Peut-étre votre comité
pourrait-il prendre les mesures pour que le Bureau du
surintendant des faillites dispose d’un peu plus d’argent, ce qui
permettrait de procéder a des études empiriques, et demander que
d’autres travaux de recherche soient effectués. Je crois que cela
serait a 'avantage de I’ensemble de la société canadienne.

Nous avons également une remarque sur un terme qui est
utilisé et que nous trouvons préoccupant. Nous continuons a
stigmatiser ceux qui font faillite. Nous les qualifions de « faillis ».
A DIépoque victorienne, il n’y avait pas pire insulte que de dire
de quelqu’un que c’était un failli. C’est un terme qui, a mon sens,
est toujours utilisé de fagon péjorative, méme s’il n’a pas
nécessairement une valeur dépréciative en soi.

J’estime que le moment est venu de modifier la terminologie.
Ceux qui présentent une proposition de consommateur ne sont
pas qualifiés de faillis, mais bien de débiteurs, ou de personnes
insolvables. Nous estimons qu’il n’y a aucune raison d’établir une
distinction entre les deux groupes de personnes. La seule
différence essentielle entre les deux tient a leur capacité de
rembourser. On ne fait que retourner le fer dans la plaie quand on
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make a consumer proposal, we will stigmatize them as a consumer
bankrupt. We think that is wrong and we think that the
terminology itself should be changed.

Senator Massicotte: 1 read your brief. You talked about
student loans. Tell me about the deficit in the pension fund.
Where is it headed, given what has been approved? Should there
be priority for the shortfall in any pension plan?

Mr. Ziegel: We do not address the issue in our submissions.

That question is a difficult one. I am not sure that the
bankruptcy law is the ideal place in which to address the issue.
I think it should be addressed well before the employer reaches
that stage. If we have adequate supervision of pension funds,
then the alarms should go off long before the company or the
employer becomes bankrupt.

Obviously, I see the rationale for giving the deficits and the
pension fund high priority in the distribution of available assets
but, as economists have often pointed out, there is a trade-off.
If any creditor’s claim has priority in a bankruptcy, it means that
the lenders will make less credit available, and that situation
may have negative consequences.

We are looking for a solution to ensure that employers
maintain their pension contributions and, at the same time, we
also want to ensure that employers have adequate access to credit
funds. If you are asking me how I would bring this about, I am
not an expert on pension funds.

Senator Massicotte: How should we treat collective
agreements? An amendment limits the right of the judge to
open up a collective agreement or to disband it. Hopefully, there
is enough motivation in the structure that the representative
union and the employer find a solution. Is the structure enough
to cause those people to come to a deal? It seems to say right
now that no matter what happens, collective agreements must
be respected. Is it in Canada’s interests to leave the provision
as it is?

Mr. Duggan: There needs to be some sort of end game at the
final point where the court can intervene if negotiations break
down. I am prepared to accept that in 90 per cent of cases or
whatever, the parties can negotiate a solution, but I think we need
some sort of capacity for intervention for the 10 percent of cases
where parties cannot negotiate a solution, and that capacity is
important from an upfront point of view. For people who are
contemplating lending in the first place, it is important to give
them comfort at the point where they are making the decision to
lend that if things go horribly wrong and there is an issue over a
collective agreement, if worst comes to worst, there is a safety net
where judge can come in and say, “This is what must happen.”

qualifie les consommateurs a faible revenu de faillis tout
simplement parce qu’ils ne sont pas en mesure de présenter une
proposition de consommateurs. Il ne devrait pas en étre ainsi a
notre avis, et le terme devrait étre changé.

Le sénateur Massicotte : J’ai lu votre mémoire. Vous avez parlé
de préts étudiants. Parlez-moi du déficit du régime de pensions. A
quoi faut-il s’attendre, étant donné ce qui a été approuvé? Est-ce
au régime de pensions qu’il faudrait accorder la priorité lorsqu’il y
a un manque a gagner?

M. Ziegel : Nous n’abordons pas cette question dans notre
mémoire.

Il s’agit d’une question difficile. Je ne suis pas sir que le droit
de la faillite soit I'instrument idéal pour la régler. A mon avis, des
mesures devraient étre prises bien avant que ’employeur arrive a
ce stade. Si les régimes de pensions étaient bien surveillés, on
devrait pouvoir tirer la sonnette d’alarme bien avant que
I’entreprise ou I'employeur ne fasse faillite.

Je comprends, bien siir, le raisonnement de ceux qui voudraient
que les déficits et les fonds de pensions soient prioritaires dans la
répartition des éléments d’actif disponibles, mais comme le font
souvent remarquer les économistes, il y a un prix a payer pour
cela. Lorsqu’un créancier en particulier a la priorité en cas de
faillite, les préteurs resserrent le crédit disponible, ce qui pourrait
avoir des conséquences néfastes.

Nous sommes a la recherche d’une solution qui obligerait les
employeurs a tenir a jour leurs cotisations au régime de pensions
et qui feraient également en sorte qu’ils aient un accés convenable
au crédit dont ils ont besoin. Si vous me demandez de vous dire
comment cela pourrait se faire, je ne suis pas un spécialiste des
fonds de pensions.

Le sénateur Massicotte : Comment devrions-nous traiter les
conventions collectives? Il y a un amendement qui limiterait le
droit d’un juge de rouvrir une convention collective ou de la
démanteler. Il est a espérer que la structure soit ainsi faite qu’elle
motive suffisamment le syndicat et 'employeur a trouver une
solution. La structure est-elle suffisante pour amener les deux
parties a s’entendre? La structure actuelle semble dicter que, quoi
qu’il arrive, les conventions collectives doivent étre respectées.
Est-il dans I'intérét du Canada de conserver cette disposition telle
quelle?

M. Duggan : Il faudrait prévoir une solution de dernier recours
qui permettrait aux tribunaux d’intervenir en cas de rupture des
négociations. Je suis prét a reconnaitre que dans 90 p. 100 des cas
ou je ne sais trop, les parties peuvent négocier une solution, mais
jestime qu’il faut prévoir la possibilité d’intervention dans les
autres cas ou les parties n’arrivent pas a négocier une solution; et
il est important que cette possibilité soit prévue deés le départ.
Il est important que les préteurs éventuels aient une certaine
assurance lorsqu’ils consentent un prét que, si, dans le pire des
scénarios, on n’arrivait pas a s’entendre sur le respect de la
convention collective, un juge pourrait intervenir et dire : « Voici
ce qui doit se produire ».
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Senator Massicotte: I notice in your report that you do not
recommend the model law in relation to cross-border transaction.
You will be pleased with the fact that it was not carried forward.
Why are you against the model law?

Mr. Ziegel: You misunderstand our position. We strongly
support the model law. We do not support the changes made
in the Canadian version of the UNCITRAL model law.
No justification was given. Some amendments were made
in Bill C-12, and that is good and we support those
amendments, but there are still deviations from the model law
for which no explanation was given. This position goes back to
our initial complaint that there was not sufficient transparency
in the drafting of Bill C-55 and Bill C-12. If the drafters said,
“These are our reasons,” we might have been able to respond
to the reasons, whether we agreed or disagreed, but we do not
know the reasons.

Senator Massicotte: It has not been carried forward. Is that a
major, serious error?

Mr. Ziegel: Insofar as it interferes with uniformity. The
purpose of the model law is to ensure maximum uniformity
among the subscribing countries. They are creating bad
precedents for each country: If Canada can make changes, so
can the United States, the U.K. and all the EU countries. They
then end up not with a model law but with checkerboard
legislative provisions, and they may not be much better off than
before the model law.

Senator Massicotte: Do you recommend that we come back
with the model law?

Mr. Ziegel: Basically, or at least, I want to know the reasons
that persuaded the drafters to make changes. I am not aware of
what the reasons were.

Senator Harb: I hope you do not take it personally, but
looking at certain aspects of the brief as well as your article
today, at best, I think of some Stalinist approach, and at worst
a Marxist-Leninist approach in the way you deal with the
whole notion of creditors and investors. From both the article
and the submission, you seem to zero in on the fact that, to a
large extent, we should put a bigger part of the blame on the
creditors, and a lesser part of the blame on those who use
the benefit that the creditors offer. If there is a big candy bar
somewhere, and a bunch of kids walk in and over-indulge on the
candy bar, the idea is that I should go after the grocery store
owner who sells the candy bar rather than focusing on the fact
that candy might be bad for them.

My question is with respect to page 27 and 28 of your brief.
Here again, in certain circumstances, you seem to want to put the
investor and creditor on some sort of almost unequal footing

Le sénateur Massicotte : Je vois que, dans votre rapport,
vous ne recommandez pas I’application de la loi type aux
opérations internationales. Vous serez heureux d’apprendre que
la proposition en ce sens n’a pas été retenue. Pourquoi étes-vous
contre la loi type?

M. Ziegel : Vous avez mal compris notre position. Nous
appuyons fermement la loi type. Nous n’appuyons pas les
modifications qu’apporte la version canadienne de la loi type
de la CNUDCI. Ces modifications ont été adoptées sans
justification. Certains amendements ont été apportés au projet
de loi C-12, et nous pensons que c’est 1a une bonne chose, mais il
reste des écarts par rapport a la loi type pour lesquels aucune
raison n’est donnée. Notre position sur le sujet remonte a notre
plainte initiale quant au manque de transparence dans la
rédaction du projet de loi C-55 et du projet de loi C-12. Si les
rédacteurs avaient dit « voici nos raisons », nous aurions
peut-étre pu a ce moment-la répondre a leurs arguments, pour
dire si nous étions d’accord ou pas, mais nous ne connaissons
pas les raisons.

Le sénateur Massicotte : La proposition n’a pas été retenue.
Est-ce la une erreur vraiment grave?

M. Ziegel : Dans la mesure ou l'uniformité se trouve
compromise. L’idée de la loi type est d’assurer 1'uniformité
autant que possible entre les pays qui y souscrivent. On se trouve
ainsi a créer un mauvais précédent, puisque chacun pourra y aller
de ses modifications, que ce soit les Etats-Unis, le Royaume-Uni
ou les différents pays de I’Union européenne. Nous nous
retrouverions alors, non pas avec une loi type, mais bien avec
un amalgame de dispositions législatives disparates, si bien que la
situation pourrait n’étre guére mieux qu’avant ’adoption de la loi
type.

Le sénateur Massicotte :
revenir a la loi type?

Nous conseilleriez-vous alors de

M. Ziegel : Oui, essentiellement, ou, a tout le moins, j’aimerais
connaitre les raisons qui ont amené les rédacteurs a apporter des
modifications a la loi type. Je ne connais pas leurs raisons.

Le sénateur Harb : J’espére que vous n’allez pas considérer mes
remarques comme une attaque personnelle, mais certains éléments
de votre mémoire de méme que votre article d’aujourd’hui, au
mieux, je qualifierais votre approche de staliniste et, au pire, je la
qualifierais de marxiste-léniniste a cause de la fagon dont vous
abordez toute la question des créanciers et des investisseurs.
Dr’aprés votre article et votre mémoire, vous semblez vous
concentrer sur le fait que, dans une large mesure, nous devrions
rejeter une plus grande partie du blame sur les créanciers, si bien
que la responsabilité de ceux qui profitent de ce que les créanciers
ont a offrir serait moindre. Alors, d’aprés vous, si un groupe de
jeunes entrent dans un magasin et achétent une énorme tablette de
chocolat dont ils s’empressent de se gaver, c’est au propriétaire de
I’épicerie qui leur a vendu la tablette de chocolat qu’il faudrait
s’en prendre au lieu de se dire que ce n’est peut-étre pas bon pour
eux de manger tout ce chocolat.

Ma question concerne quelque chose que vous dites aux
pages 27 et 28 de votre mémoire. La encore, vous semblez vouloir,
dans certaines circonstances, que l'investisseur et le créancier ne
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whenever there are bankruptcy questions. You talk about the fact
that the investor also takes a risk. You forget one important
element, which is that in today’s world, an investor can take a risk
when the company does well, but also can take risk and do well
when the company fares badly. I bring to your attention the
whole notion of a derivative investment.

I want you to understand how complex this matter is, if it were
to go your way. We will have a Pandora’s box that we will never
get out of. In essence, when a creditor advances money to a
company, the creditor cannot support the company any more
under any circumstances. If the creditor is the one who put in the
money first, that is what will come first.

With what the committee has done with the protections for
workers and employees and so on, that is legitimate, in a sense,
but to go further — what you suggest to bring the investor on an
equal footing — would be farfetched, because it is more
complicated than dealing with workers or creditors. Investors
sometimes can make money on the way up or the way down, but
creditors, in essence, are protected. They will not benefit if the
company does well because they are lending the money.

I submit to you that while I respect your view, I totally disagree
with it, and I would like to hear your rebuttal.

Mr. Duggan: Can I say something about that issue? This is
the subordination of equity claims issue. I mentioned that
you may have heard, or will hear from a colleague, more detail
about this.

The point we are making is not necessarily that investors
should be treated like ordinary creditors. We are not saying that.
All we are saying is that the issue is complicated and it merits
further consideration. It merits further consideration because we
have provincial securities laws that have put in place measures for
the protection of investors against being defrauded by false
statements, prospectuses and so on. They are given a right of
action for damages or rescission in cases where they have been
defrauded. On the one hand, the provinces offer this protection
under the securities regulations rubric, and on the other hand, the
bankruptcy laws effectively withdraw that protection in the
situation where it is needed most. The provinces give to investors
this right of action for damages. The bankruptcy laws say, if the
debtor ends up bankrupt, your claim will be deferred. It seems to
me there is a clash of policies there. What needs to be sorted out is
which policy takes precedence. We are not saying that investors
should receive this protection and be treated like ordinary
creditors. We are saying the two conflicting policies need to be
addressed head-on and reconciled. There probably needs to be
some input from the securities law experts on this issue, because in
the end, it boils down to whether it is more important to

se retrouvent pas sur un pied d’égalité dans les cas de faillites.
Vous parlez du fait que I'investisseur prend, lui aussi un risque.
Vous oubliez un élément important, a savoir que dans notre
monde actuel, Iinvestisseur peut prendre un risque quand
Ientreprise se porte bien, mais qu’il peut aussi prendre un
risque et bien se tirer d’affaires quand les choses vont moins bien
pour I'entreprise. Jattire votre attention sur toute la notion des
investissements dérivés.

Je veux que vous sachiez & quel point la situation serait
complexe si nous suivions vos recommandations. Nous ouvririons
une boite de Pandore dont nous ne pourrions plus jamais nous
sortir. Essentiellement, quand un créancier préte de I’argent a une
entreprise, il ne peut plus continuer a soutenir ’entreprise dans
certaines circonstances. Si le créancier est le premier a investir de
son argent, il sera le premier a le récupérer.

Ce qu’a accompli le comité pour ce qui est de la protection des
travailleurs et des employés, par exemple, est légitime, si I’on veut,
mais aller plus loin — avec ce que vous proposez en vue de faire
en sorte que l'investisseur soit sur un pied d’égalité — serait
irréaliste, parce que c’est plus compliqué que de traiter avec des
travailleurs ou des créanciers. Les investisseurs peuvent faire ou
perdre des profits, mais les créanciers sont, essentiellement,
protégés. Ils ne profitent pas de la réussite de I’entreprise parce
qu’ils prétent I’argent.

Je dois vous dire que je comprends votre point de vue, mais que
je ne suis pas du tout du méme avis; j’aimerais savoir ce que vous
avez a dire a ce sujet.

M. Duggan : Me permettez-vous de dire quelque chose a ce
sujet? 11 s’agit de la question de la subordination des réclamations
relatives a des capitaux propres. J’ai mentionné que vous avez
peut-étre déja obtenu des détails supplémentaires a ce sujet, ou
que vous en obtiendrez de la part d’un de mes collégues.

Selon nous, les investisseurs ne doivent pas nécessairement étre
traités comme des créanciers ordinaires. Ce n’est pas ce que nous
disons. Nous disons plutot que cette question est complexe et doit
étre examinée de fagon plus approfondie. Il faut continuer de se
pencher sur cette question parce que des lois provinciales sur les
valeurs mobilieres prévoient des mesures de protection pour les
investisseurs, afin qu’ils ne fassent pas I’objet de fraude au moyen
de fausses déclarations, de prospectus et ainsi de suite. Ils ont le
droit de prendre des mesures pour obtenir des dommages-intéréts
ou une résiliation s’ils ont fait ’'objet d’une fraude. D’un c6té, les
provinces offrent cette protection en vertu des réglements sur les
valeurs mobiliéres. En revanche, les lois sur la faillite abolissent
cette protection dans la situation ou elle est le plus nécessaire. Les
provinces donnent aux investisseurs ce droit d’action en vue
d’obtenir des dommages-intéréts. Selon les lois sur les faillites, si
le débiteur est en faillite, la demande est reportée. Il semble qu’il y
ait contradiction de ces politiques. Il faut déterminer quelle
politique a priorité. Nous ne disons pas que les investisseurs
doivent profiter de cette protection et étre traités comme des
créanciers ordinaires. Nous disons plutét que les deux politiques
contradictoires doivent faire ’objet de mesures immédiates et étre
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encourage confidence amongst investors or more important to
encourage confidence amongst creditors, and that decision is a
stark policy choice.

Mr. Ziegel: 1 entirely agree with my colleague.

The Chair: The colleague you mentioned will come here on
February 27 and deal with some of those matters.

Mr. Ziegel: If I can follow up on what Mr. Duggan said on this
issue, first, there is no question of subordinating the claims of
investors, or putting them on the same basis as wage-earner
claims. The claims are in a different position. An investor’s claim
will be that of an ordinary creditor. Wage-earner claims have
preferential status under the BIA. They had it before the
current amendments and they will continue to have it; in fact,
wage-earner claims will have an even higher priority. It is
misleading, with respect, to suggest that anything in our brief
suggests homogenizing the claims of investors with those of wage
earners. The two categories are different.

Also, senator, with respect, you overlook the fact that under
the law, prior to Bill C-55, investors were treated as ordinary
creditors if they could prove that they were induced to invest on
the basis of fraudulent misrepresentations. So Bill C-55 is the one
that has changed the prior situation. It is not we who are trying to
change the law. There is a basic difference.

I am surprised that you suggested that anything in our
submissions or anything that I have said has Marxist-Leninist
origins. It is the first time I have ever remotely heard this
suggestion. I find it totally unacceptable, with respect. You used
the analogy of a candy bar to suggest a consumer who may be
inveigled by advertising. We are all surrounded on a daily basis
by advertising to buy this or that and to go here or there. To
suggest that these consumers somehow are being greedy and
irresponsible, whereas the advertisers and creditors emerge
spotless seems to be, with all respect, a complete distortion of
the current marketplace. Speaking for myself, and I think for my
colleagues, we feel absolutely no need to apologize for persuading
the committee to strike a better balance between the positions
of creditors and the debtors than currently appears in our
legislation.

Senator Harb: Nowhere did I say the word “greedy.” You are
the one who said it. Reading your article leads to the conclusion
that, in essence, those who provide the credit are the ones who are
greedy. Living in a capitalist society, it is buyer beware. It is the
responsibility of the person who provides the credit to set the
terms of the credit, but in the end, the choice is the consumer’s.
Cars are built for speeds of up to 220 kilometres per hour, but
that does not mean buyers of those cars are allowed to jump in

conciliées. Il faudra probablement entendre ce qu’ont a dire les
spécialistes en droit des valeurs mobiliéres a ce sujet, parce qu'au
bout du compte, il faudra déterminer s’il est plus important
d’inciter la confiance chez les investisseurs ou chez les créanciers;
il s’agira d’une décision difficile.

M. Ziegel : Je suis tout a fait d’accord avec mon collégue.

Le président : Le collégue dont vous avez parlé sera ici
le 27 février pour parler de certaines de ces questions.

M. Ziegel : Si vous me le permettez, je ferai suite a ce que
M. Duggan a dit a ce sujet. Premiérement, il n’est pas question de
subordonner les réclamations des investisseurs ou de les faire
équivaloir aux réclamations des salariés. Ces revendications sont
différentes. La revendication d’un investisseur sera celle d’un
créancier ordinaire. En vertu de la LSI, les revendications des
salariés ont un statut préférentiel. C’était le cas avant les
amendements actuels et ce sera toujours le cas par la suite; en
fait, les revendications des salariés deviendront encore plus
prioritaires. Avec tout le respect que je vous dois, il est
trompeur de dire que notre mémoire indique qu’il faut
harmoniser les revendications des investisseurs avec celles des
salariés. Ce sont deux catégories différentes.

Par ailleurs, monsieur le sénateur, vous ne tenez pas compte
du fait qu’en vertu de la loi, avant le projet de loi C-55, les
investisseurs étaient traités comme des créanciers ordinaires
s’ils pouvaient prouver qu'on les avait persuadés d’investir au
moyen d’assertions inexactes frauduleuses. Ainsi, c’est le projet
de loi C-55 qui a changé la situation précédente. Ce n’est pas
nous qui tentons de changer la loi. Il existe une différence
fondamentale.

Je suis étonné de vous entendre dire que nos mémoires ou ce
que jai dit avaient des origines marxistes-léninistes. C’est la
premiére fois que j'entends méme cette affirmation. Avec tout le
respect que je vous dois, je crois que c’est totalement inacceptable.
Vous avez utilisé I’'analogie d’une friandise pour illustrer I'exemple
d’un consommateur qui peut étre attiré par une publicité. Nous
sommes tous quotidiennement entourés de publicité visant a nous
faire acheter ceci, cela, ou a aller ici ou la. Selon moi, laisser
entendre que ces consommateurs sont rapaces et irresponsables,
alors que les annonceurs et les créanciers n’ont rien a se reprocher
constitue, avec tout le respect que je vous dois, une distorsion
absolue du marché actuel. Je pense parler au nom de mes
collégues en disant que nous ne voyons absolument pas l'utilité de
nous excuser auprés des membres du comité pour avoir tenter de
les persuader d’établir un meilleur équilibre entre les positions des
créanciers et des débiteurs, par rapport a ce que nous trouvons
actuellement dans la loi.

Le sénateur Harb : Je n’ai jamais utilisé I’expression
« rapaces ». C’est vous qui I'avez utilisée. Aprés avoir lu votre
article, on en conclut qu’essentiellement, ce sont les créanciers qui
rapaces. Nous vivons dans une société capitaliste et il faut que
I’acheteur soit averti. Il incombe a la personne qui consent un
prét d’établir les modalités de ce crédit, mais en bout de ligne, le
consommateur exerce son choix. Les voitures sont fabriquées de
telle sorte qu’elles peuvent atteindre des vitesses de 220 kilomeétres
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and drive at those speeds. They look at the rules of the game and
they play accordingly. Dr. Ziegel, you know that. You have been
in the business for a long time.

For us now to turn around and say that, as a committee of the
Senate, we must start dictating to creditors what to offer and what
not to offer is totally unfair.

Mr. Ziegel: First, you have painted far too broad strokes as to
what we have in mind. I said that we have not attempted in our
brief to spell out what we would regard as responsible lending
practices.

Let me remind you that this issue of responsible lender conduct
has aroused great concern in the European Union. In fact, the
statement issued by the EU on credit policies has embraced the
concept of responsible lending, as has the British government in
its most recent consumer credit legislation. The Belgium law has
specific provisions dealing with delinquencies.

This topic is a big one. I wish we had time to go into it further.
I would love to debate it with you, because I could not be
further removed from your concept of the so-called unrestrained
market. If you were correct, then we would not even have
misleading advertising legislation. The market would be a
free-for-all. I would have thought that we have gone way
beyond the concept of an untrammelled, unrestricted market.
As 1 say, this topic is one for lively debate and I would welcome
the opportunity to debate the whole issue with you.

The Chair: I thank you both, Senator Harb and Professor
Ziegel.

[Translation]

The die is cast, everything is clear and the debate begins.

[English)

My job as chair is to take from your wise input that there
is a need to strike a balance in all these matters. In terms
of the balance between differing social philosophies and the
organization of our society in 2008, another forum might be the
best place.

I am loath to terminate without Senator Goldstein having a
full word. We may invite you back, gentlemen. You do a great
service. It is refreshing to have the candour and the frankness. The
policy-makers must decide, and that is what makes the party
system work.

Senator Goldstein: Thank you both, Professor Ziegel and
Professor Duggan. It encourages me to know that our continued
confidence in you is fully justified. We are grateful to both of
you, and to others who intervene in this process, for giving us
guidance, help and the benefit of your approaches. We do not
always necessarily adopt your approaches, because many of these

a I’heure, mais cela ne signifie pas que les acheteurs de ces voitures
peuvent rouler a de telles vitesses. Ils prennent connaissance des
régles a observer et ils s’y tiennent. Monsieur Ziegel, vous le savez.
Il y a longtemps que vous connaissez le domaine.

Il est totalement injuste de s’attendre a ce que nous, le comité
sénatorial, dictions aux créanciers ce qu’ils doivent offrir et ce
qu’ils doivent refuser.

M. Ziegel : Tout d’abord, vous avez trop extrapolé les notions
auxquelles nous songeons. J’ai dit que nous n’avions pas essayé
d’exposer dans notre mémoire ce que nous estimons étre des
pratiques responsables de préts.

Permettez-moi de vous rappeler que dans I’Union européenne,
cette question de comportement responsable du créancier a
suscité de graves inquiétudes. En fait, I’énoncé de 1’Union
européenne quant aux politiques en matiére de crédit a retenu
la notion de responsabilité en matiére de préts, et le gouvernement
de Grande-Bretagne en a fait autant dans la Loi sur le crédit a la
consommation qu’il a adoptée tout récemment. La loi belge a des
dispositions précises concernant les délinquances.

Le sujet est vaste. Je souhaiterais que nous disposions de plus
de temps pour I'approfondir. J’aimerais bien en débattre avec
vous car, tout a fait contrairement a vous, je n’adhére pas a la
notion d’un prétendu marché débridé. Si vous aviez raison, nous
n’aurions pas de loi sur la publicité trompeuse. Le marché n’aurait
aucune restriction. J’ose espérer que nous avons dépassé la notion
d’un marché sans borne, sans restriction. Comme je 'ai dit, ce
sujet pourrait nourrir un débat animé et j’aimerais bien avoir
I’occasion d’y participer avec vous.

Le président : Je vous remercie tous deux, sénateur Harb et
monsieur Ziegel.

[Frangais]

Les jeux sont faits, tout est clair et net, et le débat commence.

[Traduction]

En tant que président, je conclus de vos remarques judicieuses
qu’il faut trouver un juste milieu dans tout cela. Quant a une
discussion sur I’équilibre entre diverses théories sociales et
I'organisation de notre société en 2008, il vaudrait peut-étre
mieux trouver une autre tribune pour la mener.

Je m’en voudrais beaucoup si je ne laissais pas au sénateur
Goldstein la parole avant de lever la séance. Messieurs, il se peut
que nous vous demandions de revenir. Votre participation est trés
utile. Il est rassérénant de constater tant de franchise. Les
décideurs doivent faire leur travail et c’est ce qui fait que notre
systéme de partis fonctionne.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Merci a vous deux, messieurs Ziegel et
Duggan. Je me réjouis de constater que la confiance que nous
continuons de vous porter est tout a fait justifié¢e. Nous vous
remercions tous deux ainsi que les autres qui interviennent dans ce
processus car vous aidez et guidez notre réflexion et vous nous
faites profiter de vos lumiéres. Cela ne signifie pas nécessairement
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issues are value judgments. As we saw a few minutes ago, there
are different approaches with respect to those judgments, of equal
interest and perhaps even of equal validity.

I would have liked to have dealt with many issues that
Professor Ziegel raised, predominantly, but we do not have time
for that.

I want to adjust one impression that may have been left.
I am concerned that, after hearing you, our listeners may think
that Canadian insolvency legislation, insofar as it relates to
personal bankruptcies, is retrograde and not as consumer friendly
as one would hope.

I think you will both agree with me — but especially, Professor
Ziegel, I know will agree with me — that in comparison to other
systems like, specifically, the United States, which is consumer
hostile in its bankruptcy legislation, we stand out as a fair,
reasonable and balanced consumer bankruptcy and insolvency
system. You would not disagree with that, would you? You want
to make the system fairer, from your perspective, but you would
not disagree that, objectively speaking, the system is fair and
balanced?

Mr. Ziegel: As I indicated, extending the discharge period
from nine to twenty-one months, in my view, will be a retrograde
step.

Senator Goldstein: I do not want to debate it with you. You
know the reason, because when you sat on the committee that
I chaired, we spent seven hours dealing with precisely that issue,
and only that issue, and you are aware that there are two sides to
that argument. However, I will not go into it now.

The Chair: Notwithstanding that the Winding-Up and
Restructuring Act, which deals with the insolvencies of certain
financial institutions, and which is an old, archaic and, I submit,
outdated piece of legislation, somehow was left out of this
bankruptcy framework legislation reform, do you think it would
be constructive if we were to hear some evidence about that act?
We have had some approaches informally in the last 24 hours,
and I wonder what you think.

Mr. Ziegel: While the act theoretically can be used by many
types of Canadian companies, in practice it is used by few
companies other than those that are obliged to make use of
the Winding-Up and Restructuring Act. I have not studied the
act in detail for a considerable time, though I certainly am
familiar with it.

If the evidence shows that it causes significant problems —
and I do not think it does — then of course we should update
it. However, I am not aware of problems. I suspect that
Senator Goldstein is more knowledgeable about these things
than I am, but I am sure that the companies that either interact
or might be required to interact with the Winding-up and
Restructuring Act would not be slow to press for reforms and
updating, if they felt there was a need.

que nous adhérions a vos fagons de voir car dans bien des cas, les
enjeux se prétent a des jugements de valeur. Nous I’avons constaté
il y a un instant, ces jugements, tous également intéressants, voire
également valides, reposent sur diverses approches.

Jaurais voulu aborder bien des questions soulevées par
M. Ziegel, surtout, mais nous n’en n’avons pas le temps.

Je voudrais apporter un complément d’information pour
dissiper un malentendu possible. Je crains qu’aprés vous avoir
entendus, notre auditoire en conclue que la législation canadienne
sur 'insolvabilité, en matiére de faillite personnelle notamment,
est rétrograde et ne protége pas le consommateur comme on le
souhaiterait.

Je crois que vous serez tous les deux d’accord avec moi —
surtout le professeur Ziegel — que comparé a d’autres régimes,
notamment celui des Etats-Unis, ou les lois relatives a la faillite et
I'insolvabilité sont hostiles aux consommateurs, nous avons un
régime relatif aux faillites et I'insolvabilité des consommateurs qui
est juste, raisonnable et équilibré. Vous serez d’accord avec cela,
n’est-ce pas? De votre point de vue, il faut rendre le systéme plus
juste mais, d’un point de vue objectif, vous seriez d’accord pour
dire que le systéme est juste et équilibré, n’est-ce pas?

M. Ziegel : Comme je I'ai dit, de mon point de vue, si la
période de libération du failli passe de neuf a 21 mois, ce sera un
pas en arriére.

Le sénateur Goldstein : Je ne veux pas en débattre avec vous.
Vous savez pourquoi, car lorsque vous avez siégé au comité que
j’ai présidé, nous avons passé sept heures a examiner cette
question précise, et seulement cette question, et vous étes donc
conscient qu’il y a deux points de vue. Je ne commencerai pas a en
parler maintenant.

Le président : Méme si la Loi sur les liquidations et
restructurations, qui porte sur l’insolvabilité de certaines
institutions financiéres, et qui est une vieille loi archaique et, je
crois, désuéte, n’a pas été incluse dans cette réforme des lois
relatives a la faillite et I'insolvabilité, croyez-vous que ce serait
utile d’entendre des témoignages par rapport a cette loi?
On a communiqué avec nous de fagon informelle dans les
derniéres 24 heures et je me demandais ce que vous en pensiez.

M. Ziegel : En théorie, cette loi peut étre utilisée par plusieurs
sortes de compagnies canadiennes, mais en réalité elle est utilisée
par peu d’entreprises a part celles qui sont obligées de se servir de
la Loi sur les liquidations et restructurations. Je n’ai pas étudié la
loi en profondeur depuis assez longtemps, mais je la connais
certainement.

S’il y a des preuves selon lesquelles elle est a la source de
problémes importants — et je ne crois as que ce soit le cas —,
alors bien str on devrait la mettre a jour. Cependant, je ne suis
pas au courant si ces problémes existent ou non. J’ai 'impression
que le sénateur Goldstein connait ces choses mieux que moi, et je
suis sir que les entreprises qui se servent ou qui auraient a se
servir de la Loi sur les liquidations et restructurations ne
tarderaient pas a exiger des réformes et une mise a jour si elles
croyaient que c¢’était nécessaire.
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Mr. Duggan: Yes, it should be brought into the fold. At
the moment, it is the poor sister. There should not be arbitrary
differences between the rules that apply in competing regimes.
If we leave the Winding-up and Restructuring Act out — that
is, if it is not part of this review — how will we be sure that,
as we move forward on the other fronts, we do not leave the
Winding-up and Restructuring Act way behind?

The committee adjourned.

M. Duggan : Oui, on devrait I'inclure. En ce moment, c’est le
parent pauvre. Il ne devrait pas y avoir de différence arbitraire
entre les régles qui s’appliquent dans des régimes concurrents.
Si nous laissons la Loi sur les liquidations et restructurations
de coté — c’est-a-dire, si elle ne fait pas partie de cet examen —
comment pourrons-nous Nous assurer qu’a mesure que nous
avangons sur d’autres fronts, nous ne laissons pas la Loi sur les
liquidations et restructurations loin en arriére?

La séance a été levée.
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